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Deutsche Telekom at a glance

billions of €
Change
compared to
prior year
% 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Revenue and earnings
Net revenue 77 108.8 101.0 80.5 757 749 731 69.2 62.7
Of which: domestic % 23.0 24.5 30.5 32.2 32.8 33.7 36.2 399
Of which: international % 770 75.5 69.5 67.8 67.2 66.3 63.8 601
Service revenue?® 6.6 841 789 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.
EBITDA 49 40.5 38.6 271 21.8 24,0 22.5 18.4 17.8
EBITDA (adjusted for special factors) 69 43.2 40.4 28.7 23.3 22.2 214 199 17.6
EBITDA ALP 22 339 33.2 231 21.6 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.
EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors)? 6.6 37.3 35.0 24.7 231 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.
EBITDA AL margin (adjusted for special factors)? % 34.3 34.7 30.7 30.5 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) 2.0 131 12.8 9.5 8.0 9.4 9.2 7.0 7.2
Net profit (loss) 0.4 4.2 4.2 39 2.2 3.5 27 3.3 29
Net profit (loss) (adjusted for special factors) 2.6 59 5.7 49 4.5 6.0 41 41 2.4
Profitability
ROCE % 41 4.6 51 4.7 5.8 5.7 4.8 5.5
Statement of financial position
Total assets 6.3 281.6 2649 170.7 145.4 141.3 148.5 143.9 129.4
Shareholders’ equity 12.3 81.5 72.6 46.2 43.4 42.5 38.8 38.2 341
Equity ratio % 289 27.4 271 299 30.0 26.2 26.5 26.3
Net debt 99 1321 120.2 76.0 55.4 50.8 50.0 47.6 42.5
Relative debt
(Net debt/EBITDA (adjusted for special factors)) 3.06 2.78 2.65 2.4 2.3 2.3 2.4 2.4
Cash flows
Net cash from operating activities 35.5 32.2 23.7 231 179 17.2 15.5 15.0 13.4
Cash capex 41.0 (26.4) (18.7) (14.4) (12.5) (19.5) (13.6) (14.6) (1.8)
Cash capex (before spectrum investment) 59 (18.0) (17.0) (13.) (12.2) (122 (11.0) (10.8) 9.5)
Free cash flow (before dividend payments
and spectrum investment)® 33.2 14.3 10.8 101 6.2 5.5 49 4.5 41
Free cash flow AL (before dividend payments
and spectrum investment)b' ¢ 401 8.8 6.3 7.0 61 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.
Net cash (used in) from investing activities 21.0 (27.4) (22.6) (14.2) (14.3) (16.8) (13.6) (15.0) (10.8)
Net cash (used in) from financing activities n.a. (10.8) 7.6 71 3.3) (4.6) (1.3) 09 (3.4
Employees
Average number of employees
(full-time equivalents, without trainees) thousands (&%) 217 224 213 216 216 221 226 228
T-Share - key figures
Earnings per share € ()] 0.87 0.88 0.82 0.46 0.74 0.58 0.71 0.65
Adjusted earnings per share € 1.7 1.22 1.20 1.04 0.96 1.28 0.89 0.90 0.54
Dividend per share? € 6.7 0.64 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.65 0.60 0.55 0.50
Dividend payout® billions of € 12.4 3.2 2.8 2.8 3.3 31 2.8 2.5 2.3
Adjusted weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding millions 1.5 4,813 4,743 4,743 4,742 4,703 4,625 4,553 4,476
ESG KPIs
Energy consumptionf GWh 3.7 13,323 12,843 9,324 9,224 8,943 8,531 8,845 9,092
COz emissions (Scope 1and 2)¢ kt CO2e (90.2) 247 2,512 1,797 2,354 2,896 4,169 4,364 n.a.

2 The definition of “service revenue” was not applied consistently Group-wide for the years prior to 2020.

b Comparatives for 2018 were calculated on a pro forma basis for the key performance indicators redefined as of January 1, 2019 following the introduction of the IFRS 16 accounting
standard.

¢ And before interest payments for zero-coupon bonds and before termination of forward-payer swaps at T-Mobile US (both in 2020).

d Subject to approval by the relevant bodies and the fulfillment of other legal requirements.

€ Subject to approval by the 2022 shareholders’ meeting concerning the dividend payments for the 2021 financial year. For further information, please refer to Note 34 “Dividend per share” in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

f Energy consumption, mainly: electricity, fuel, other fossil fuels, district heating for buildings.
9 Calculated according to the market-based method of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol since 2015.

millions
Change
compared
to prior year
% 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Fixed-network and mobile customers
Mobile customers? 2.8 248.2 241.5 184.0 168.4 165.0 156.4 150.5 142.5
Fixed-network lines 4.7 261 274 27.5 279 28.5 29.0 29.8 30.8
Broadband customers® 0.7) 21.6 217 21.0 18.9 18.4 17.8 17.4 171

2 Including T-Mobile US wholesale customers.

b Excluding wholesale.

The figures shown in this report were rounded in accordance with standard business rounding principles. As a result, the total indicated may not be equal to the precise sum of the individual
figures. Changes were calculated on the basis of millions for greater precision.

Sprint has been included in Deutsche Telekom’s consolidated financial statements as a fully consolidated subsidiary since April 1, 2020, which means comparability with prior-year figures is
partially limited.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2021 financial year.



To our shareholders

To our shareholders

Letter from the Chairman of the Board of Management

Dear shareholders,

Dear friends of the Company,

2021 was no easy year for Deutsche Telekom and its employees. The coronavirus has an impact on every part of our daily lives.
Our social lives are still overwhelmingly dominated by the pandemic. Our opportunities for social interaction remain limited.
The handling of the pandemic has been, and continues to be, full of ups and downs. In summer, we were all glad to be able
to return to the office. But as we approached the year-end, we faced the sobering news of a renewed government order on
working from home due to rising case numbers.

After so many months of restrictions, it is truly difficult, but we must continue to protect ourselves and the people around us
from infection and severe illness by keeping social contact to a minimum and ensuring we are vaccinated.

We were all shaken in 2021 by the catastrophic flooding across parts of North Rhine-Westphalia and Rhineland-Palatinate in
mid-July. More than 130 people lost their lives to the severe storms. We offer our deepest condolences to their families and
loved ones. Countless more people were hit hard by the events. Houses and entire streets were washed away overnight by the
flood waters and debris, wiping out the livelihood of thousands in a matter of minutes.

The sheer scale of the destruction is still visible today. The people affected are facing a clean-up operation of unprecedented
dimensions. | saw first-hand the devastation wrought by nature on the affected regions and the extent of the damage caused
to private property and to infrastructure. Those images have stayed with me.

It makes me truly proud to see what employees of Deutsche Telekom have achieved under these circumstances. We were on the
ground the night of July 15, helping people in the flooded regions. With dedication, compassion, and unbureaucratic support.
In the initial wake of the disaster, we donned backpacks and walked the Ahr valley on foot, handing out spare batteries and cell
phones. We are still there today, helping where we can. Showing once again that Deutsche Telekom is especially strong in crisis
situations. That people can count on us. My thanks go to all colleagues who contributed for their incredible support.

Deutsche Telekom will continue to support people with their rebuilding efforts in the disaster-struck regions. By doing what we
do best: Building networks. Restoring infrastructure. Connecting the unconnected. Connecting people. We will stay on site for
as long as it takes. We won’t stop until everyone is (re-)connected and can #takepart again.

Dear shareholders,
Let’s now take a look at the current situation at our Company. First and foremost: We continue our growth course. 2021 was
another record year for Deutsche Telekom!

We hit a further milestone in terms of net revenue: After passing the 100-billion-euro mark in the prior year, we gained
considerable momentum again in 2021. Our net revenue increased by 7.7 % to EUR 108.8 billion. We also grew organically, i.e.,
assuming constant exchange rates and a comparable composition of the Group, with a revenue increase of 4.5 %. We thus
exceeded our targets and ended the year with a clear message. You could also say we gained ourselves a permanent spot in the
Champions League of global telecommunications providers.

In the United States, in our European subsidiaries, and in the German domestic market, we further increased our revenues and
posted higher earnings. Adjusted EBITDA AL was up 6.6 %. Free cash flow AL increased by 401 % and was thus well into the
double-digit growth range. The reasons for these encouraging trends are many and varied.

In the United States, we are making huge strides with realizing the synergies from the merger with Sprint. Today, the employees
of two former rival companies work shoulder to shoulder to become the number1 on the most important mobile
communications market worldwide. That is a huge motivation. In 2021, the new T-Mobile US reached a landmark on its journey
to the top by taking over the #2 spot in the United States to position itself between the incumbents Verizon and AT&T. The
decisive factor in this: More and more people are choosing a contract with T-Mobile US — 5.5 million in the reporting year. That’s
anew record.

One reason customers choose T-Mobile US is its SG network, the best in the country. More than 210 million people can use
incredibly fast Ultra Capacity SG in the 2.5 GHz band. Including the lower band frequencies, T-Mobile US’ 5SG network reaches
94 % of the population in the United States. This by far largest network is also the best basis for continuing to write our success
story.
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Our plan is to achieve the majority shareholding in T-Mobile US, which will secure us long-term control over the company. The
purchase of 45 million T-Mobile US shares from SoftBank was a first step in this direction, and brought us closer to our target
stake of over 50 %. It also made SoftBank a major shareholder of Deutsche Telekom AG which is testament to the confidence
the world’s biggest tech investor has in us. SoftBank sees the vast potential of our share, which is why it has approved the
takeover of 225 million shares valued at EUR 20 per share. Going forward, both companies are also set to further intensify their
collaboration with a strategic partnership.

For a long time, our ambition was to become the leading European telco. We achieved this goal, reigning uncontested for
several years. Today, our stock market value is almost as high as that of Vodafone, Telefénica, and Orange combined. But
our industry is changing at a rapid pace. New competitors, like satellite provider Starlink or cloud-based telecommunications
provider Rakuten, are challenging our established business model. In parallel, the Silicon Valley internet giants are bringing
connectivity solutions to market that work independently of our networks. On top of this, we face growing competition in terms
of infrastructure from independent cell tower operators and alternative fiber-optic providers.

Our response to these changes is to set ourselves a new strategic goal: Deutsche Telekom wants to become the world’s leading
digital telco. We offer our customers tailored products that they can easily put into operation and configure intuitively. And we
enable seamless connectivity. Whether customers are mobile consumers, businesses, or Netflix viewers — everyone will receive
the best offerings customized to their individual needs.

But there is also far more to being the leading digital telco: For instance, it is about developing software solutions that enhance
the flexibility of our products and make them faster to deploy. It is about recognizing and leveraging growth opportunities
beyond our core business. It is about migrating information and network technology to the cloud for greater efficiency of
operation. It is about better utilizing economies of scale. It is about integrating data analytics and artificial intelligence even
deeper to benefit our customers. It is about optimizing our portfolio through targeted acquisitions and disposals to raise
our value. And it is about living up to our responsibility to combat climate change by exploiting the potential of the digital
transformation. In short: There is much to do if we are to become the world’s leading digital telco.

The foundation for this profound change is already in place: Worldwide, almost 300 million people place their trust in
Deutsche Telekom. We have just under 250 million mobile customers, plus over 26 million fixed-network lines and 21 million
broadband lines.

How do we attract so many people to our products and services? By offering them the best networks. With the highest
connection quality accompanied by outstanding service. To this end, our capital expenditure was again at record level in 2021:
we poured some EUR 18.0 billion largely into our global infrastructure, EUR 5.5 billion of this in Germany alone. We consider the
build-out of our networks to be an integral part of our responsibility to society. Our investments play a vital role in the successful
digital transformation. But investments also need to pay off for the companies making them.

Against this backdrop, | take a positive view of the signals sent by policymakers in late 2021 in connection with the network
build-out. For one, the idea of moving away from spectrum auctions towards the distribution of frequencies. For another, the
proposal to forgo the ex ante regulation of prices for fiber-optic lines on competitor infrastructure and instead to leave them to
the free market. Both steps will free up billions in investment leeway for the entire industry. Both steps send the right signals
for more digital participation in Germany.

In 2021, our technicians and engineers did a fantastic job of bringing us closer to this goal. We once again doubled the
number of FTTH lines (Fiber To The Home) rolled out compared to the prior year, from around 600,000 lines in 2020 to around
1.2 million households passed by our fiber-optic network in 2021. For 2022, we are set to roll out 2 million new FTTH lines,
climbing to 2.5 million a year on average in the years to follow. The decisive levers in this regard are our Fiber Factory, a separate
entity with over 13,000 colleagues focusing exclusively on the fiber-optic build-out, our T-Cars with their state-of-the-art digital
land surveying software, and our smart GGS building and planning tool.

We have forged numerous partnerships for the digitalization of Germany. But we are also willing to strike out in new directions.
That is why we are establishing the joint venture GlasfaserPlus together with Australian investor IFM. With GlasfaserPlus, we
plan to connect 4 million households Germany-wide to our fiber-optic network by 2028. And to be clear: these 4 million lines
are on top of Deutsche Telekom’s own build-out schedule. In total, we want to make 12 million FTTH lines available outside of
metropolitan areas.
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GlasfaserPlus will build these lines primarily in rural areas. More specifically, in towns and municipalities with fewer than
20,000 inhabitants. The company intends to enable over 100,000 fiber-optic lines in the current year. Given the high financial
burden involved, we are convinced that choosing a number of different options to realize the fiber-optic build-out is the right
way forward.

We stand by our stated target in terms of nationwide fiber-optic coverage for Germany: By 2030, all households and businesses
in Germany are to have an FTTH line. GlasfaserPlus will make an important contribution to reaching this goal. But building a
nationwide FTTH network is a mammoth task, and one we cannot achieve singlehandedly even with the support of our joint
venture. Our competitors must also do their bit.

Our colleagues from other parts of our Company also set new records in 2021. Take our brand value, for example: Today,
our magenta “T” is more valuable than ever before. According to market research institute Brand Finance, it is worth
USD $1.1 billion. This moves us into 17th place on the global ranking, up from 23rd in 2020. We are one of Germany’s two most
valuable brands, second only to Mercedes, and more valuable than international giants such as Disney and AT&T. It makes us
extremely proud to be a central fixture of the big league.

This is also reflected in our appeal to global tech pioneers as a cooperation partner. Google’s parent company Alphabet
has entered into a long-term partnership with us on a new B2B messaging service, new functions for our premium product
MagentaTV One, and more besides. Such a partnership of equals would not have been possible just a few years ago.

Dear shareholders,

The bottom line is this: Our results are outstanding, 2021 was yet another record year for our Company. We delivered. We
have laid the important strategic groundwork for our ongoing development. We are financially stronger than at any time in our
history. That is all thanks to the over 200,000 Deutsche Telekom employees worldwide.

Our outlook for the coming years remains optimistic. As we announced at last year’s Capital Markets Day, we want to increase
revenue in the years 2021 through 2024 by 1to 2 % on average. Adjusted EBITDA AL is expected to grow on average by 3to 5 %
ayear in the same period, and free cash flow on average by around 10 % a year to over EUR 18 billion in 2024. Adjusted earnings
per share is to increase to more than EUR 1.75, from EUR 1.22 in 2021.

We also want you to benefit from the success of the financial year just ended. That’s why we are proposing a dividend of
EUR 0.64 per dividend-bearing share for 2021 — subject, as always, to approval by the relevant bodies and the fulfillment of
other legal requirements.

On a personal note, | would like to finish by saying how delighted | am to have the Supervisory Board’s trust: they have extended
my contract ahead of schedule by a further five years. What motivates me above all else is the feedback that reached me from
within the Company in this context. Together with our employees | will continue to strive daily to ensure that Deutsche Telekom
reaches its goals. And that we transform ourselves into the world’s Leading Digital Telco.

Best regards,

Tim Héttges
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Supervisory Board’s report to the 2022 shareholders’ meeting

The 2021 financial year was characterized by the systematic implementation and further development of the Group strategy
and the Group’s ongoing transformation in an age of digitalization and technological change. With its updated strategy to
transform Deutsche Telekom into the leading digital telco (Leading Digital Telco — Vision 2030), the Company is well-positioned
to leverage future opportunities and face challenges head on. In the financial year just ended, the Board of Management
closed numerous transactions serving to further optimize and protect the Company’s investment portfolio. In the 2021 financial
year, business developed well overall. Deutsche Telekom continued to manage the coronavirus pandemic with the requisite
discipline. The network build-out was ramped up further and the Company again underscored its ability to perform at the top
level throughout the pandemic with special offerings for customers and its strong commitment to service. The Group held
its own in the challenging environment despite the rising intensity of competition. Strong results brought the 2021 financial
year to a successful close. The Group continues on its course for growth while maintaining its industry-leading position. This
financial year, Deutsche Telekom continued to live up to its responsibility to society with wide-ranging action: for instance, its
clear stance against online hate speech, its contribution to the digital transformation in the education sector, and its support
for flood victims in Germany. The Supervisory Board exercised its functions as an advisory and supervisory body and gave the
Board of Management its full support.

Supervisory Board activities in the 2021 financial year

We continually monitored the Board of Management’s activities in managing the business and the Group as a whole.
Specifically, this supervisory role consisted of ensuring that these activities were lawful, compliant, appropriate, strategically
relevant, sustainable, and efficient.

The primary prerequisites for fulfilling this role were the Board of Management’s written and oral reports. The Board of
Management kept us regularly informed in good time on corporate strategy, planning, business development of the Group and
its different segments, the risk situation, risk management, compliance, innovation focuses, and any deviations in the business
development from original plans, as well as significant business transactions involving the Company and its major subsidiaries
and associates.

The Board of Management fulfilled its duties to inform quickly and in full. The Board of Management’s reports met all statutory
requirements, the standards of good corporate governance, and the criteriaimposed on them by us with regard to both content
and scope. In addition to the reports, we requested and received supplementary information. We reviewed, critically analyzed,
and verified the plausibility of these reports and other information.

The Rules of Procedure of the Board of Management and Supervisory Board include a list of transactions and measures for
which the Board of Management has to obtain approval from the Supervisory Board. We met with the Board of Management to
discuss and thoroughly review the business transactions and measures presented to us in the 2021 financial year for approval
in line with this document. We approved the transactions and measures submitted for resolution.

The frequency of plenary and committee meetings means that we are in close contact with the Board of Management. The
Board of Management also reports on individual issues in writing or in discussions between the meetings. In addition, the
Chairman of the Supervisory Board is in contact with the Chairman of the Board of Management at regular appointments
at which current business transactions, strategy issues, planning, business development, regulation, the risk situation, risk
management, and compliance, as well as other significant events, are discussed.

In the 2021 financial year, eight Supervisory Board meetings, a one-day off-site conference, and 30 meetings of the Supervisory
Board committees took place. The overall attendance rate was around 95 %. Each of the Supervisory Board members attended
more than 75 % of the meetings of the Supervisory Board and the respective committees on which they sit. Given the
coronavirus-induced situation, most members participated virtually. Those members who were unable to attend meetings were
generally able to participate nonetheless by submitting their votes in writing or by way of prior briefings on resolutions for
decision.

Resolutions were also adopted by way of a written voting procedure.

In the meeting on January 25, 2021, we dealt with the draft proposal on the appointment of the external auditor in 2021 for
submission to the 2021 shareholders’ meeting. The Company had originally intended to effect a change of external auditor
in the 2021 financial year and, to this end, a selection process had been held in 2019 led by the Audit Committee. On the
basis of this process, the Audit Committee recommended Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft (EY) and
Deloitte GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft, indicating a substantiated preference for the former. Due to the unresolved
allegations concerning Wirecard raised against EY in the interim, the Audit Committee distanced itself from this
recommendation. In lieu of a decision, the Audit Committee recommended postponing the change of auditor until the 2022
financial year and retaining the services of the existing external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH
Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft (PwC), until such time as a new auditor could be appointed. The Supervisory Board followed
this recommendation in its suggestion for the selection of the external auditor for 2021 to the 2021 shareholders’ meeting.
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In the meeting on February 25,2021, in the presence of the external auditor, we primarily dealt with the Company’s 2020
annual financial statements and consolidated financial statements, the Group management report, which is combined with
the management report of Deutsche Telekom AG (combined management report), and the combined non-financial statement
contained in the combined management report as a separate section. Our approval of the 2020 annual financial statements
was based on the recommendation of the Audit Committee. The same applies to the review of the combined non-financial
statement. We agreed to the Board of Management’s proposal on the appropriation of net income and approved the agenda
for the 2021 shareholders’ meeting. Over and above this, we dealt with various remuneration-related matters and approved
plans to include ESG targets in the remuneration system. We approved the reappointment of Birgit Bohle as the Board of
Management member for Human Resources and Legal Affairs, and of Thorsten Langheim as the Board of Management member
for USA and Group Development. The Board of Management reported comprehensively on the current situation and the most
important financial and operational KPIs for the Company and its segments. We dealt with the target vision for the B2B business
and the topic of corporate responsibility, and approved a spin-off agreement for the Road Charging business area.

In the meeting on May 19, 2021, the Board of Management reported comprehensively on the current situation and the financial
and operational KPIs for the Company and its segments in the first quarter of 2021. We dealt once again with remuneration-
related matters, the Company’s portfolio strategy, the agenda for the Capital Markets Day 2021, the global semiconductor
shortage, and the IT Security Act (IT-Sicherheitsgesetz), and resolved on the hedging of the purchase price of T-Mobile US
shares. We were also given a brief rundown on developments in customer service in Germany.

In the meeting on September 1, 2021, the Board of Management reported on the current situation and the financial and
operational KPIs for the Company and its segments in the second quarter of 2021. We also resolved on an amendment
to the Board of Management’s schedule of responsibilities, consisting of the transfer of the Corporate Responsibility unit
from the Human Resources and Legal Affairs Board of Management department to the department of the Chairman of
the Board of Management. We also approved the sale of T-Mobile Netherlands and dealt with the transformation program
at Telekom IT. We approved the merger of Telekom Deutschland Multibrand GmbH into Telekom Deutschland GmbH, and
approved the appointment of a new member to the supervisory board of T-Systems International GmbH.

At the joint off-site conference with the Board of Management on the following day, we dealt mainly with Deutsche Telekom’s
strategy and the trends affecting its business. We discussed the further development of the strategy (Leading Digital Telco
- Vision 2030) and conferred on individual strategic focal topics. This entailed an in-depth look at the B2C business, the B2B
approach, and platform business models. Another central topic was the development of the Group’s portfolio.

In our meeting on September 6, 2021, we approved an agreement with SoftBank which increased Deutsche Telekom’s stake in
T-Mobile US and made SoftBank a new shareholder in Deutsche Telekom AG.

In our meeting on October 4, 2021, we approved the acquisition of spectrum in the United States.

In our meeting on November 2,2021, we approved the establishment of a joint venture (GlasfaserPlus GmbH) between
Telekom Deutschland GmbH and a financial investor for building out fiber-optic lines. We also engaged PwC to perform a
substantive audit of the 2021 remuneration report.

In our meeting on December 15,2021, we dealt with various matters pertaining to the Board of Management and the
Supervisory Board, including target achievement for the 2021 financial year and changes to the Supervisory Board’s
remuneration for proposal to the 2022 shareholders’ meeting. We resolved on a change to the Board of Management’s
remuneration system and its submission to the 2022 shareholders’ meeting for approval. Moreover, we canceled Timotheus
Hottges’ existing service contract effective the end of 2021 and approved a new service contract with effect from
January 1,2022. We resolved on several Supervisory Board nominations to be submitted to the 2022 shareholders’ meeting.
Furthermore, the Board of Management reported on the current situation and the financial and operational KPIs in the Company
and its segments in the third quarter of 2021. We also dealt with the topic of governance at T-Mobile US. A further focus of
the meeting was the resolution on the budget and on the annual financing plan for the 2022 financial year. In addition, we
acknowledged the medium-term planning for 2022 through 2025. We also discussed the outcome of the selection process for
the auditor of the 2022 annual financial statements and consolidated financial statements, including the review of the financial
statements for the second and third quarters of the 2022 financial year and the first quarter of 2023. Finally, we adopted
resolutions on the German Corporate Governance Code (Declaration of Conformity/independence of the Supervisory Board
members).

In our plenary meetings and in the Audit Committee in particular, we also regularly supervised the management of the
Company by the Board of Management. As part of this, we made sure that the Board of Management ensured compliance with
legal provisions and internal standards and policies supported by the Group-wide compliance organization. We also regularly
met with the Board of Management to discuss the Group-wide risk management system that it had introduced. Based on our
own reviews and on the audit reports submitted by the external auditor, we came to the conclusion that the internal compliance
system and the internal control and risk management system are effective.
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Outside of its meetings, the Supervisory Board attended information events to keep up to date on the latest topics and
developments.

Organization of the Supervisory Board’s activities

To increase the efficiency of our work, and in consideration of the specific requirements we have to fulfill, we have set up
the committees listed below, all of which have an equal number of shareholders’ and employees’ representatives, with the
exception of the Nomination Committee. In regard to committee membership, our aim is to achieve regular rotation among
the Supervisory Board members. Our objective is also to ensure that the chairperson roles on the committees are occupied by
different members. The committee chairpersons regularly reported to us at our plenary meetings on the content and results of
committee meetings.

Supervisory Board committees

Committee Supervisory Board member Committee Supervisory Board member
General Committee Nomination Committee
Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner (Chairman) Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner (Chairman)
Dr. Rolf Bdsinger Dr. Rolf Bésinger
Kerstin Marx Dagmar P. Kollmann

Frank Sauerland

Finance Committee Mediation Committee
Karl-Heinz Streibich (Chairman) Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner (Chairman)
Dr. Glinther Braunig Dr. Rolf Bésinger
Constantin Greve Kerstin Marx
Nicole Koch Frank Sauerland

Dagmar P. Kollmann

Karin Topel
Audit Committee Technology and Innovation
Committee
Dagmar P. Kollmann (Chairwoman) Lothar Schroder (Chairman)
Dr. Rolf Bosinger Odysseus D. Chatzidis
Prof. Dr. Michael Kaschke Lars Hinrichs
Petra Steffi Kreusel Nicole Seelemann-Wandtke
Kerstin Marx Karl-Heinz Streibich
Sibylle Spoo Margret Suckale

Staff Committee
Frank Sauerland (Chairman)
Odysseus D. Chatzidis
Harald Kriger
Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner
Kerstin Marx

Margret Suckale

The General Committee met ten times in 2021, one meeting of which was held jointly with the Finance Committee. The
committee focused mainly on preparing the recommendations for decision for the plenary meetings in regard to all of the
decisions on Board of Management and Supervisory Board matters. Board of Management remuneration matters and the
reappointment of members to the Board of Management were particular focal points of the committee’s activities. The
committee reviewed the appropriateness of the Board of Management remuneration as scheduled. Long-term succession
planning for the Board of Management was also discussed in the meeting. In this context, the committee considered internal
candidates, as well as any potential candidates from outside of the Company, with respect to their qualification profiles and
development needs going forward. In the joint meeting with the Finance Committee, the General Committee dealt in particular
with the 2022 budget and the medium-term planning for 2022 to 2025.

The Finance Committee met three times, of which one meeting was together with the General Committee. Investment
planning and focuses were the subject of the meetings. Other general topics included interest and foreign currency
management, pension obligations and capital investments, net debt and ratings, and a particular focus on budgeting and
medium-term planning at T-Mobile US and DTCP. In the joint meeting with the General Committee, the Finance Committee
discussed the 2022 annual financing plan in particular and made a recommendation for decision in this regard to the
Supervisory Board.
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The Audit Committee met seven times in 2021. The external auditor was present at five of the seven meetings. The Audit
Committee’s area of responsibility is defined by German and European legislation, the German Corporate Governance Code,
and its own Rules of Procedure. It includes, in particular, the review of accounting, the monitoring of the accounting process,
the effectiveness of the internal control system, risk management and the internal auditing systems, compliance, and data
privacy. The Audit Committee also handled matters relating to the audit of the Company’s financial statements, in particular
selecting and ensuring the independence of the external auditor, and of the additional services provided by the external
auditor, the commissioning of the external auditor, the stipulation of the main focuses of the audit, and the agreement on
fees. After thorough discussion, the Audit Committee issued a recommendation to the Supervisory Board on its suggestions
of the external auditor for the 2021 financial year and the first quarter of 2022 to be nominated by the 2021 shareholders’
meeting. The Company had originally intended to effect a change of external auditor in the 2021 financial year and, to
this end, a selection process had been held in 2019 led by the Audit Committee. On the basis of this process, the Audit
Committee recommended Ernst& Young GmbH  Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft (EY) and  Deloitte GmbH
Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft, indicating a substantiated preference for the former. Due to the unresolved allegations
concerning Wirecard raised against EY in the interim, the Audit Committee distanced itself from this recommendation. In lieu
of a decision, the Audit Committee recommended postponing the change of auditor until the 2022 financial year and retaining
the services of the existing external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft (PwC), until
such time as a new auditor could be appointed. In line with the Supervisory Board’s recommendation, the 2021 shareholders’
meeting appointed PwC as the external auditor for the 2021 financial year and the first quarter of 2022. In preparation for
a change of auditor in the 2022 financial year, in 2021 the Audit Committee resolved to open a new selection process, led
by the Audit Committee itself, to find an external auditor for the annual financial statements and consolidated financial
statements for the 2022 financial year, including the review of the financial statements for the second and third quarters of
the 2022 financial year and the first quarter of 2023. The Audit Committee guided this process and monitored it on a continual
basis. At the end of the tendering phase, the Audit Committee submitted a substantiated recommendation, comprising two
possible candidates and the Audit Committee’s preferred choice, to the Supervisory Board for a candidate to be nominated and
proposed to the 2022 shareholders’ meeting. Furthermore, the Audit Committee commissioned PwC with a limited assurance
engagement on the combined non-financial statement contained as a separate section in the combined management report.
In the 2021 financial year, the Audit Committee again held one extraordinary meeting on fundamental issues affecting the
Group. At this meeting, the committee dealt in particular with the effectiveness of the reporting system on the internal
control, risk management, and internal auditing systems, and on the compliance management system, including the ongoing
development of the reporting structure. In 2021, the discussions on risk management focused on the implementation of
new requirements ensuing from the updates to IDW audit standard 340. At the same meeting, the Audit Committee also
looked at the results of the migration of the Data Privacy, Legal Affairs, and Compliance units to Law & Integrity and the
introduction of an agile organizational structure in this unit under the Human Resources and Legal Affairs Board of Management
department, as well as the ongoing transformation program in the Audit unit. The Audit Committee discussed information
on new requirements and developments in German and EU law, and accounting standards. Moreover, the Audit Committee’s
work in the reporting year once again centered heavily on the integration of Sprint following the business combination with
T-Mobile US, as well as the latest developments in data privacy and data security. Beyond the scheduled meetings, the Audit
Committee members attended deep-dive workshops on the implementation of new requirements resulting from the updates
to IDW audit standard 340 for the risk management system, and extensively familiarized themselves with complex accounting
matters.

Dagmar P. Kollmann, Chairwoman of the Audit Committee, has expert knowledge of accounting and auditing, and is also
particularly knowledgeable and experienced in the application of accounting standards and internal control procedures.
Petra Steffi Kreusel, Member of the Audit Committee, also has considerable expertise in accounting and auditing. She is
independent from the Company, and is not a former member of the Board of Management of Deutsche Telekom AG. Like the
members of the full Supervisory Board, the members of the Audit Committee overall are very familiar with the sector in which
Deutsche Telekom AG is active.

The Staff Committee held four meetings in 2021 and mainly discussed matters relating to headcount planning and qualitative
and quantitative staff-requirements planning for the purpose of preparing Supervisory Board resolutions on the 2022 budget. In
addition, the committee dealt with topics such as the HR strategy, talent management, diversity, the findings of the employee
survey, New Work, and the development of salary structures. The committee obtained an overview of the HR organization, and
dealt with a variety of current topics, with a particular focus on the management of the coronavirus crisis.

The Nomination Committee met three times in 2021. It dealt in its meetings with succession planning for the Supervisory
Board, with a particular focus this year on the matter of a successor to the position of Supervisory Board Chair in 2022.

The Mediation Committee to be formed in accordance with § 27 (3) of the Codetermination Act did not meet in 2021.
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The Technology and Innovation Committee held three meetings in 2021 and dealt with a very broad range of topics from
a variety of areas. For example, the committee discussed trends and strategic approaches, supply chain management,
preparations for the 2021 Capital Markets Day, and performance indicators in the Technology and Innovation department.
The committee also dealt with the current trend radar. The committee supports and promotes innovation and technological
developments at infrastructure and product level; it supports the Board of Management with advice on how to tap new growth

areas.

Number of meetings attended by the individual members

Attendance rate

Supervisory Board member Meeting Attendance %
Prof. Dr. Lehner, Ulrich
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 9/9 100 %
General Committee 10/10 100 %
Audit Committee (guest) 17 100 %
Staff Committee 4/4 100 %
Nomination Committee 3/3 100 %
Total 27/27 100 %
Sauerland, Frank
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 8/9 89 %
General Committee 8/10 80 %
Staff Committee 4/4 100 %
Total 20/23 87 %
Dr. Bésinger, Rolf
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 7/9 78 %
General Committee 9/10 90 %
Audit Committee 6/7 86 %
Nomination Committee 3/3 100 %
Total 25/29 86 %
Dr. Bréaunig, Glinther
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 9/9 100 %
Finance Committee 3/3 100 %
Total 12/12 100 %
Chatzidis, Odysseus D.
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 9/9 100 %
Staff Committee 4/4 100 %
Technology and Innovation Committee 3/3 100 %
Total 16/16 100 %
Greve, Constantin
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 9/9 100 %
Finance Committee 3/3 100 %
Total 12/12 100 %
Hinrichs, Lars
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 9/9 100 %
Technology and Innovation Committee 3/3 100 %
Total 12/12 100 %
Dr. Jung, Helga
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 9/9 100 %
Total 9/9 100 %
Prof. Dr. Kaschke, Michael
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 7/9 78 %
Audit Committee 6/7 86%
Total 13/16 81%

Deutsche Telekom. The 2021 financial year.



To our shareholders 12

Attendance rate

Supervisory Board member Meeting Attendance %
Koch, Nicole
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 9/9 100 %
Finance Committee 3/3 100 %
Total 12/12 100 %
Kollmann, Dagmar P.
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 7/9 78 %
Audit Committee 717 100 %
Finance Committee 3/3 100 %
Nomination Committee 3/3 100 %
Total 20/22 91%
Kreusel, Petra Steffi
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 9/9 100 %
Audit Committee 717 100 %
Total 16/16 100 %
Kriiger, Harald
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 9/9 100 %
Staff Committee 4/4 100 %
Total 13/13 100 %
Marx, Kerstin
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 9/9 100 %
General Committee 10/10 100 %
Audit Committee 7/7 100 %
Staff Committee 4/4 100 %
Total 30/30 100 %
Schroéder, Lothar
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 9/9 100 %
Technology and Innovation Committee 3/3 100 %
Total 12/12 100 %
Seelemann-Wandtke, Nicole
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 9/9 100 %
Technology and Innovation Committee 2/3 67 %
Total 1/12 92%
Spoo, Sibylle
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 8/9 89%
Audit Committee 717 100 %
Total 15/16 94 %
Streibich, Karl-Heinz
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 8/9 89%
Finance Committee 3/3 100 %
Technology and Innovation Committee 2/3 67 %
Total 13/15 87 %
Suckale, Margret
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 9/9 100 %
Staff Committee 4/4 100 %
Technology and Innovation Committee 3/3 100 %
Total 16/16 100 %
Topel, Karin
Supervisory Board plenary meeting/off-site conference 9/9 100 %
Finance Committee 3/3 100 %
Total 12/12 100 %

Conflicts of interest on the Supervisory Board
Dr. Rolf Bosinger is a member of the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG and, at the same time, State Secretary at
the Federal Ministry for Housing, Urban Development and Building. Dr. Glinther Braunig is a member of the Supervisory Board
of Deutsche Telekom AG and, until October 31, 2021, was also CEO of the Executive Board at Kreditanstalt fiir Wiederaufbau
(KfW). We are aware that Deutsche Telekom AG is at times involved in legal disputes in which the Federal Republic of Germany
is the opposing party. There were no conflicts of interest requiring action with any of the aforementioned members of the
Supervisory Board. Should a conflict of interest arise, the Supervisory Board members will discuss how to proceed with the

Chairman of the Supervisory Board.
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Corporate governance

The Supervisory Board and Board of Management are aware that good corporate governance is an important foundation for
corporate success. The provisions of the German Corporate Governance Code are hence reflected in the Company’s statutes.
The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board last issued their Declaration of Conformity with the German Corporate
Governance Code on December 30, 2021.

This Declaration of Conformity can be found on the Deutsche Telekom AG website. It also provides access to the declarations of conformity from previous
years.

Apart from the exceptions disclosed therein, Deutsche Telekom complied, and continues to comply, with all recommendations
of the Code. For detailed information on corporate governance at Deutsche Telekom, please refer to the Corporate Governance
Statement.

| The Corporate Governance Statement can be found on the Deutsche Telekom AG website.

Training and development

The members of the Supervisory Board undertake the necessary training and development measures required for their tasks
on their own and are supported by Deutsche Telekom AG in doing so with a range of options including information events and
workshops — in 2021 with a special focus on the risk management system, complex accounting matters, and cybersecurity. The
Company offers new Supervisory Board members a customized program to introduce them to the industry and the situation of
the Company. Furthermore, an annual special meeting is held to inform the members of the Audit Committee about the latest
changes in the law, new accounting and auditing standards, and any changes in corporate governance issues. The members of
the Supervisory Board are also kept up to date about any new requirements for work on the Supervisory Board at the regular
Board and committee meetings.

Changes in the composition of the Board of Management

On February 25, 2021, the Supervisory Board resolved to reappoint Birgit Bohle as the Board of Management member for
Human Resources and Legal Affairs for the period from January 1, 2022 through December 31, 2026. Also on February 25, 2021,
the Supervisory Board resolved to reappoint Thorsten Langheim as the Board of Management member for USA and Group
Development for the period from January 1,2022 through December 31,2026. Furthermore, on December 15,2021, the
Supervisory Board resolved to cancel Timotheus Hottges’ appointment as Chairman of the Board of Management effective
December 31, 2021, and to reappoint Mr. Hottges as Chairman of the Board of Management for the period from January 1, 2022
through December 31, 2026.

Changes in the composition of the Supervisory Board

Shareholders’ representatives

At the shareholders’ meeting on April1, 2021, Dr. Helga Jung was elected for a further term of office as a member of the
Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG until the end of the 2025 shareholders’ meeting. The four-year term aligns with the
Supervisory Board’s proposal to the shareholders’ meeting to reduce the term of office for shareholders’ representatives from
five years to four years in future.

Employees’ representatives
There were no changes in respect of the employees’ representatives in the 2021 financial year.

Review of the annual and consolidated financial statements, the non-financial statement, and the 2021 remuneration report

The Board of Management submitted the annual financial statements, the consolidated financial statements, and the Group
management report, which is combined with the management report of Deutsche Telekom AG (combined management
report), together with its proposal for the appropriation of net income and the Corporate Governance Statement, to us in good
time. The combined management report also included a separate section containing the combined non-financial statement for
Deutsche Telekom AG and for the Group (combined non-financial statement) for the 2021 financial year.

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft, Frankfurt/Main (PwC), which was appointed as auditor of
the single-entity financial statements and auditor of the consolidated financial statements (external auditor) for the 2021
financial year by the shareholders’ meeting on the recommendation of the Audit Committee and proposed for appointment
by the entire Supervisory Board, audited the annual financial statements as of December 31, 2021, which were prepared by
the Board of Management in accordance with the provisions of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch — HGB),
and the combined management report, as well as the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2021, which were
prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to
§ 315e (1) HGB, and the combined management report, and issued an unqualified audit opinion for each document. Moreover,
PwC performed a limited assurance engagement on the combined non-financial statement for the 2021 financial year prepared
by the Board of Management in respect of the disclosures required by law and issued an unqualified opinion in accordance with
ISAE 3000.
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The external auditor also confirmed in writing to the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board together with the submission
of the audit reports on February 15, 2022 that there are no circumstances that may give rise to doubts about the external
auditor’s impartiality. In the Supervisory Board meeting on February 23,2022, the Audit Committee informed us about its
monitoring of the external auditor’s independence while taking account of the non-audit services provided, and of its
conclusion that the auditor continues to meet the independence requirements.

The external auditor submitted its reports on the nature and extent as well as the result of its audits (audit reports) to
us. The documentation on the aforementioned financial statements, the external auditor’s audit reports, and the Board of
Management’s proposal for the appropriation of net income were made available to the members of the Supervisory Board in
good time. The same applies to the combined non-financial statement and the Corporate Governance Statement.

We conducted our own in-depth review of the documents submitted by the Board of Management and the external auditor’s
audit reports. In preparation, the Audit Committee had conducted a thorough review of the aforementioned documents. The
annual financial statements, the consolidated financial statements, and the combined management report, as well as the
Board of Management’s proposal for the appropriation of net income, were explained in detail by the Board of Management
to the members of the Audit Committee at its meeting on February 22, 2022. The members of the Board of Management also
answered the committee members’ questions. Moreover, the external auditor also attended this meeting and reported on its
audit, in particular the key audit areas, defined in agreement with the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board, and the
main findings of its audit, and explained its audit report. The external auditor did not identify any material weaknesses in the
internal control system at Group level, in the risk management system, or in the accounting process. The members of the Audit
Committee acknowledged and critically reviewed the audit report and audit opinion, and discussed them, as well as the audit
itself, with the external auditor. The review included questions about the nature and extent of the audit and about the audit
findings. The Audit Committee satisfied itself that the audit and the audit reports were compliant. In particular, its members
had assured themselves that the audit reports and the audit conducted by the external auditor met the legal requirements.
The Audit Committee agrees with the external auditor that there were no material weaknesses, in particular with regard to
the accounting process, in the internal control or risk management systems at Group level. Furthermore, the Audit Committee
adopted the approach described above with respect to the audit report and audit opinion on the combined non-financial
statement and conducted a review of both. The Audit Committee recommended that we approve the results of the audit
conducted by the external auditor and, since it had no objections to the documents submitted by the Board of Management,
that we approve the annual financial statements and the consolidated financial statements; it also recommended that we not
raise any objections against the combined management report or the combined non-financial statement, and that we support
the Board of Management’s proposal for the appropriation of net income.

We performed the final review of the annual financial statements, the consolidated financial statements, and the combined
management report, as well as the Board of Management’s proposal for the appropriation of netincome, on February 23, 2022,
taking into account the report and recommendations of the Audit Committee and the external auditor’s audit reports. The
Board of Management attended this meeting, explained the documents they had submitted, and answered our questions.
The external auditor also attended this meeting and reported on its audit and the main findings of its audit, explained its
audit reports, and answered our questions, in particular relating to the nature and extent of the audit and the audit findings.
Based on this and the report presented by the Audit Committee, we were satisfied that the audit and the audit report were
compliant. Hence, we approved the findings of the audit by the external auditor. The same applies to the combined non-
financial statement contained in the combined management report.

Based on the final outcome of our review of the annual financial statements, the consolidated financial statements, the
combined management report, and the combined non-financial statement, as well as the Board of Management’s proposal for
the appropriation of net income, no objections need be raised. The same applies to the Corporate Governance Statement even
insofar as it has not been audited by the external auditor. We followed the Audit Committee’s recommendation and approved
the annual financial statements and the consolidated financial statements.

The approval of the Supervisory Board constitutes formal adoption of the annual financial statements.
The Supervisory Board’s assessment of the position of the Company and the Group is the same as that which the Board

of Management presented in its combined management report. It followed the Audit Committee’s recommendation and
approved these documents. The same applies to the combined non-financial statement.
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When dealing with the budget and medium-term planning on December 15,2021, we conducted an in-depth examination
of financial and investment plans, discussing in particular the development of earnings, free cash flow, the equity ratio, and
balance sheet ratios. The Board of Management’s proposal concerning the appropriation of net income was examined by the
Audit Committee on February 22, 2022, and by the Supervisory Board on February 23, 2022. The external auditor was present
at both meetings. We approved and supported the Board of Management’s proposal to pay out shareholder remuneration of
around EUR 3,182 million and to carry forward around EUR 2,705 million to unappropriated net income.

The remuneration report for the 2021 financial year was prepared by the Board of Management and Supervisory Board in
accordance with § 162 (1) sentence 1 of the Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz — AktG) and audited separately by the external
auditor. In addition to the formal statutory review of the existence of disclosures pursuant to § 162 (1) and (2) AktG, PwC was
commissioned by the Supervisory Board to conduct an assurance engagement on the remuneration report for the financial
year from January 1,2021 to December 31,2021, including related disclosures, to obtain reasonable assurance regarding
its compliance, in all material respects, with the provisions of § 162 AktG, for which PwC issued an unqualified opinion in
accordance with IDW audit standard 490.

We would like to thank the members of the Board of Management, all employees, and the works committees for their
commitment and dedication in the 2021 financial year.

Bonn, February 23,2022
The Supervisory Board

Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner
Chairman
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Members of the Board of Management of Deutsche Telekom AG in 2021

Timotheus Hottges
Chairman of the Board of Management since January 1, 2014

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:

= Mercedes-Benz Group AG, Stuttgart (formerly Daimler AG, Stuttgart) (since 7/2020)?
= Mercedes-Benz AG, Stuttgart (since 10/2021)

= FC Bayern Miinchen AG, Munich (2/2010 to 8/2021)

= Henkel AG & Co. KGaA, Diisseldorf (4/2016 to 9/2021)2

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:
m Telekom Deutschland GmbH, Bonn (4/2005 to 6/2021), Chairman of the Supervisory Board (7/2009 to 6/2021)
= T-Mobile US, Inc., Bellevue, United States, Chairman of the Board of Directors (since 4/2013)2

Adel Al-Saleh
Board member responsible for T-Systems since January 1, 2018

Member of comparable supervisory bodies of business enterprises in Germany or abroad:
m BT Group plc, London, United Kingdom, Member of the Board of Directors (since 5/2020)2

Birgit Bohle
Board member responsible for Human Resources and Legal Affairs, and Labor Director since January 1, 2020

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:
m Deutsche Telekom Services Europe SE, Bonn (since 10/2019)

= Telekom Deutschland GmbH, Bonn (since 1/2019)

= T-Systems International GmbH, Frankfurt/Main (since 6/2021)

Srini Gopalan
Board member responsible for Germany since November 1, 2020

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:
= Deutsche Telekom Service GmbH, Bonn, Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since 11/2020)
= Deutsche Telekom Technik GmbH, Bonn, Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since 11/2020)

Dr. Christian P. Illek
Board member responsible for Finance since January 1, 2019

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:

= Buyln SA/NV, Brussels, Belgium, Member of the Board of Directors (since 12/2018)

Deutsche Telekom Services Europe SE, Bonn (since 8/2019), Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since 11/2019)

Telekom Deutschland GmbH, Bonn (since 6/2021), Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since 6/2021)

T-Mobile US, Inc., Bellevue, United States, Member of the Board of Directors (since 1/2019)?

T-Systems International GmbH, Frankfurt/Main (5/2015 to 6/2021), Chairman of the Supervisory Board (11/2016 to 6/2021)

Thorsten Langheim
Board member responsible for USA and Group Development since January 1, 2019

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:
m FC Bayern Miinchen AG, Munich (since 9/2021)

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:
= Deutsche Telekom Capital Partners Management GmbH, Hamburg, Chairman of the Investment Committee (since 6/2015)
= T-Mobile US, Inc., Bellevue, United States, Member of the Board of Directors (since 6/2014)2

Dominique Leroy
Board member responsible for Europe since November 1, 2020

Member of comparable supervisory bodies of business enterprises in Germany or abroad:
= Koninklijke Ahold Delhaize N.V., Zaandam, Netherlands, Member of the Supervisory Board (4/2015 to 4/2021)?
= Compagnie de Saint-Gobain, Courbevoie, France, Member of the Board of Directors (since 11/2017)2

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:

= Hellenic Telecommunications Organization S.A. (OTE S.A.), Marousi, Athens, Greece (since 11/2020)?

= T-Mobile US, Inc., Bellevue, United States, Member of the Board of Directors (since 11/2020)2

= T-Mobile Polska S.A., Warsaw, Poland (since 11/2020), Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board (since 11/2020)

a Listed on the stock exchange

16

Deutsche Telekom. The 2021 financial year.



To our shareholders 17

Claudia Nemat
Board member responsible for Technology and Innovation since January 1, 2017

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:
= Airbus Defence and Space GmbH, Ottobrunn (since 5/2016)

Member of comparable supervisory bodies of business enterprises in Germany or abroad:
= Airbus Group SE, Leiden, Netherlands, Member of the Board of Directors (since 5/2016)?

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:

= Deutsche Telekom IT GmbH, Bonn, Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board (since 6/2017)

= Deutsche Telekom Security GmbH, Bonn (since 8/2020), Deputy Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board (since 9/2020)
m T-Systems International GmbH, Frankfurt/Main (since 4/2020), Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board (since 6/2021)

a Listed on the stock exchange
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Members of the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG in 2021

Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner

Member of the Supervisory Board since April 17,2008

Chairman of the Supervisory Board since April 25,2008

Member of the Shareholders’ Committee of Henkel AG & Co. KGaA, Disseldorf, until April 16, 2021

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:
= Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart (since 11/2007)2

Dr. Rolf Bosinger

Member of the Supervisory Board since June 1, 2018

State Secretary at the Federal Ministry for Housing, Urban Development and Building, Berlin
— No other seats —

Dr. Giinther Braunig
Member of the Supervisory Board since March 21,2018
CEO of the Executive Board of KfW, Frankfurt/Main, until October 31,2021

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:
= Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG, UnterschleiBheim (since 8/2009), Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since 8/2014)2
= Deutsche Post AG, Bonn (since 3/2018)?

Odysseus D. Chatzidis

Member of the Supervisory Board since January 3, 2018

Chairman of the European Works Council of Deutsche Telekom AG, Bonn
— No other seats —

Constantin Greve

Member of the Supervisory Board since November 20, 2018
Chairman of the Central Works Council of Deutsche Telekom AG, Bonn
— No other seats —

Lars Hinrichs
Member of the Supervisory Board since October 1, 2013
CEO of Cinco Capital GmbH, Hamburg

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:
= Xempus AG, Munich (formerly xbAV AG), Munich, Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since 1/2016)

Dr. Helga Jung
Member of the Supervisory Board since May 25, 2016
Former Member of the Board of Management of Allianz SE, Munich

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:

m Allianz Deutschland AG, Munich (since 3/2016)

= Allianz Global Corporate & Specialty SE, Munich, Deputy Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board (since 5/2013)
m Allianz Lebensversicherungs-AG, Stuttgart, Deputy Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board (since 4/2020)

= Allianz Versicherungs-AG, Munich (since 11/2019)

Prof. Dr. Michael Kaschke

Member of the Supervisory Board since April 22, 2015

Former CEO & President of Carl Zeiss AG, Oberkochen, and Chairman of the Supervisory Board of the Karlsruhe Institute of
Technology (KIT), Karlsruhe

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:

= Carl Zeiss Meditec AG, Jena, Chairman of the Supervisory Board (3/2010 to 5/2021)2

m Henkel AG & Co. KGaA, Diisseldorf (since 4/2008)2

= Ottobock SE & Co. KGaA, Duderstadt (since 6/2021), Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since 9/2021)
m Robert Bosch GmbH, Stuttgart (since 4/2016)

Member of supervisory boards in Germany required to be formed by law outside of business enterprises:
= Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT), Karlsruhe, corporation under public law (not a commercial enterprise within the
meaning of § 100 (2) sentence 1 no. 1 AktG), Chairman (since 12/2019)

a Listed on the stock exchange
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Nicole Koch
Member of the Supervisory Board since January 1, 2016
Chairwoman of the Works Council of Deutsche Telekom Privatkunden-Vertrieb GmbH, Bonn

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:
m Deutsche Telekom Privatkunden-Vertrieb GmbH, Bonn (since 6/2004)

Dagmar P. Kollmann

Member of the Supervisory Board since May 24, 2012

Entrepreneur, member of several supervisory boards and advisory boards as well as the Monopolies Commission
Former CEO of Morgan Stanley Bank, Frankfurt/Main

Former Member of the Board of Directors of Morgan Stanley Bank International Limited, London, United Kingdom

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:

= Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG, Frankfurt/Main, Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board (since 11/2021)

= Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG, Unterschleifheim, Deputy Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board (8/2009 to 10/2021)2
m KfW IPEX-Bank GmbH, Frankfurt/Main (5/2012 to 3/2021)

Member of comparable supervisory bodies of business enterprises in Germany or abroad:
= Coca Cola European Partners plc, London, United Kingdom (since 5/2019)2

= Paysafe Holdings UK Limited, London, United Kingdom (since 3/2021)2

= Unibail-Rodamco SE, Paris, France, Member of the Supervisory Board (since 5/2014)2

Petra Steffi Kreusel

Member of the Supervisory Board since January 1, 2013

Senior Vice President, Customer & Public Relations at Deutsche Telekom Business Solutions GmbH, Bonn

Group Officer for Digital Education and School at Deutsche Telekom AG, Bonn

Chairwoman of the Executive Staff Representation Committee of Deutsche Telekom Business Solutions GmbH, Bonn
Deputy Chairwoman of the Group Executive Staff Representation Committee of Deutsche Telekom AG, Bonn

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:
= Deutsche Telekom Business Solutions GmbH, Bonn (since 8/2020)

Harald Kriiger
Member of the Supervisory Board since May 17,2018
Former Chairman of the Board of Management of Bayerische Motoren Werke AG, Munich

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:
= Deutsche Lufthansa AG, Cologne (since 5/2020)2

Kerstin Marx
Member of the Supervisory Board since May 1, 2020
Chairwoman of the Group Works Council at Deutsche Telekom AG, Bonn

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:
= Deutsche Telekom Business Solutions GmbH, Bonn (since 8/2020)

Frank Sauerland

Member of the Supervisory Board since November 20, 2018

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board since March 27, 2020

Head of the Collective Bargaining Policy Committee, TC/IT National Committee at the ver.di National Executive Board, Berlin

Member of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures:
= Telekom Deutschland GmbH, Bonn (since 12/2016), Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since 1/2017)

Lothar Schroder
Member of the Supervisory Board since June 22, 2006
Trade Union Secretary, former member of the ver.di National Executive Board, Berlin

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:

= Vereinigte Postversicherung VVaG, Stuttgart (since 6/2008)
= VPV Holding AG, Stuttgart (since 6/2018)

= VPV Lebensversicherungs-AG, Stuttgart (since 10/2015)

a Listed on the stock exchange
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Nicole Seelemann-Wandtke

Member of the Supervisory Board since July 5, 2018

Deputy Chairwoman of the Works Council of the Consumers unit of Telekom Deutschland GmbH, Bonn
— No other seats —

Sibylle Spoo

Member of the Supervisory Board since May 4, 2010

Lawyer, Trade Union Secretary at the ver.di Federal Administration, Berlin, until December 31, 2021
— No other seats —

Karl-Heinz Streibich
Member of the Supervisory Board since October 1, 2013
President of acatech — Deutsche Akademie der Technikwissenschaften (National Academy of Science and Engineering), Berlin

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:

= Miinchener Riickversicherungs-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft in Miinchen, Munich (since 4/2019)?
m Siemens Healthineers AG, Erlangen (since 3/2018)2

m Software AG, Darmstadt, Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since 6/2020)?

Margret Suckale
Member of the Supervisory Board since September 28, 2017
Former Member of the Board of Executive Directors of BASF SE, Ludwigshafen

Seats on the supervisory boards of other companies:

= DWS Group GmbH & Co. KGaA, Frankfurt/Main (since 3/2018)2
= HeidelbergCement AG, Heidelberg (since 8/2017)?

= Infineon Technologies AG, Neubiberg (since 2/2020)?

Karin Topel

Member of the Supervisory Board since July 1, 2017

Chairwoman of the Works Council of Deutsche Telekom Technik GmbH, Bonn, Technical Branch Office Eastern District
— No other seats —

a Listed on the stock exchange
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The T-Share

2021 2020 2019
XETRA closing prices
Share price on the last trading day € 16.30 14.96 14.57
Year high € 18.92 16.63 16.25
Year low € 14.70 10.83 1410
Trading volume
German exchanges billions of shares 2.3 3.4 2.5
Market capitalization on the last trading day billions of € 81.3 71.2 69.4
Weighting of the T-Share in major stock indexes on the last trading day
DAX 40 % 4.0 4.5 4.5
Dow Jones EURO STOXX 50° % 17 19 1.8
T-Share - key figures
Earnings per share € 0.87 0.88 0.82
Dividend per share? € 0.64 0.60 0.60
Total number of ordinary shares at the reporting dateP millions 4,986 4,761 4,762

@ Subject to approval by the relevant bodies and the fulfillment of other legal requirements.
b Including treasury shares held by Deutsche Telekom AG.

Development of international indexes
After a restrained 2020, which was strongly impacted by the coronavirus pandemic, the stock markets proved rather strong in
2021, despite the ongoing pandemic situation.

The most important barometer of the German stock market, the DAX, rose by 15.8 % over the course of the trading year. The
Dow Jones even closed out the year up 27.7 % on a total return basis, i.e., including reinvested dividends.

The Dow Jones EURO STOXX 50° likewise ended 2021 on a high, up 23.3 %. Only the Japanese Nikkei performed rather weaker,
up by just 1.2 %.

T-Share performance
The European telecommunications sector also benefited from the general upturn: The industry’s barometer, the Dow Jones
STOXX® Europe 600 Telecommunications, had increased 15.5 % by the end of the year.

In this environment, the T-Share closed the year at EUR16.30, up by 9.0 %. The lowest price recorded during the year was
EUR 14.70 on January 29, 2021, while the highest price of EUR 18.92 was recorded on August 18, 2021.

On a total return basis — and thus comparable with the DAX — our share ended the year 2021 up 12.9 %.
Dividend

The Board of Management and Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG will propose to the shareholders’ meeting on
April 7, 2022 the distribution of a dividend of EUR 0.64 per dividend-bearing share.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2021 financial year.
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T-Share as compared to DAX, Dow Jones EURO STOXX 50¢, and Dow Jones STOXX® Europe 600 Telecommunications

January 1to December 31,2021 (based on total shareholder return?)
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T-Share as compared to other European telecommunications companies
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2 Total shareholder return measures the development in the value of a shareholding over a specific period. It takes into account dividends paid during the
investment period along with any changes in share price.

Shareholder structure

The Federal Republic’s shareholding, including that of Kreditanstalt fiir Wiederaufbau (KfW), decreased from 31.9 % to 30.4 %
in 2021. This slight decrease is due to the capital increase carried out through issuance of 225 million new shares in the third
quarter of 2021. Deutsche Telekom used the new shares to purchase 45.4 million shares in T-Mobile US from SoftBank. In return,
SoftBank became a shareholder in Deutsche Telekom AG with a stake of 4.5 %. The capital increase was also the main factor
behind the slight year-on-year reductions in the proportions of both institutional investors, to 47.7 %, and retail investors, to
17.4 %. As a result, the percentage of shares in free float stands at around 65 % of the share capital.

Shareholder structure Geographical distribution of free float
% (as of December 31,2021) % (as of December 31,2021)
4.5 3.9
SoftBank Other countries
13.8 9.9
Federal Republic - United Kingdom -
47.7 36.9
16.6 Institutional investors 24.0 Germany
Kfw Rest of Europe
17.4 25.3
Retail investors United States/Canada
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Highlights in the 2021 financial year

| For further information on these and other events, please refer to our media information.

Developments at senior management level

In its meeting on December 15, 2021, the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG resolved to propose Dr. Frank Appel, CEO
of Deutsche Post AG, as the new Chairman of the Supervisory Board. Dr. Appel will stand for election at the shareholders’
meeting of Deutsche Telekom AG on April 7, 2022 as Prof. Ulrich Lehner’s successor. For reasons of age, Prof. Lehner will not be
standing for a further term of office. Deutsche Telekom is also setting the course for continuity with regard to the position of
the Chairman of the Board of Management: Tim Hottges will stay on as CEO of Deutsche Telekom for a further five years.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

Business and other transactions

Fiber-optic build-out through joint venture with IFM. On November 5, 2021, Deutsche Telekom announced that IFM Global
Infrastructure Fund — advised by IFM Investors — will acquire a stake of 50 % in GlasfaserPlus GmbH, a fiber-optic build-
out entity. The agreed purchase price for the S0 % stake in our subsidiary amounts to EUR 0.9 billion, half of which is to be
settled upon conclusion of the transaction, and the remainder once progress has been made in the build-out. The newly
established joint venture is to build out an additional 4 million gigabit-capable FTTH lines in rural and development areas
between 2022 and 2028. This transaction underpins Deutsche Telekom’s aim of being the leading company for the fiber-optic
build-out in Germany. Following its approval by the European Commission on January 25, 2022, the transaction is expected to
be completed before the end of the first quarter of 2022.

Strategic measures to secure control of T-Mobile US in the long term. On September 6, 2021, Deutsche Telekom took strategic
action to increase its stake in T-Mobile US in a move that secures the existing control over the U.S. subsidiary and full
consolidation in the long term:

Under the deal signed between Deutsche Telekom and SoftBank on September 6, 2021, the objective of which is to increase
Deutsche Telekom’s stake in T-Mobile US, Deutsche Telekom acquired a total of around 45.4 million T-Mobile US shares from
SoftBank on September 28, 2021. SoftBank received in return 225 million new shares in Deutsche Telekom AG by way of a
capital increase against contribution in kind utilizing the 2017 Authorized Capital, excluding subscription rights for existing
shareholders, making it a shareholder in Deutsche Telekom AG with a stake of around 4.5 %. The transaction increases
Deutsche Telekom’s stake in T-Mobile US by 3.6 percentage points, bringing it to 46.8 %. Deutsche Telekom is also weighing
plans to further increase its stake in T-Mobile US by investing up to USD 2.4 billion (around EUR 2.1 billion) in the purchase
of additional shares through the exercise of further fixed-price and variable options. This investment is to be financed from
a portion of the net cash proceeds of around EUR 3.8 billion from the planned sale of T-Mobile Netherlands. On
September 6, 2021, Deutsche Telekom and Tele2 agreed to sell our subsidiary T-Mobile Netherlands to WP/
AP Telecom Holdings IV. The transaction is subject to approval by the authorities as well as other closing conditions. The
transaction is expected to be completed in the first quarter of 2022.

Deutsche Telekom expects its total stake in T-Mobile US to be around 48.4 % upon completion of these two transactions. The
exact percentage is based on the precise number of shares to be acquired, which in turn depends, in half, on the average
market price of T-Mobile US. Deutsche Telekom and SoftBank have also agreed a new strategic partnership that will position
Deutsche Telekom as a major European partner in the SoftBank ecosystem.

Acquisition of Shentel. On May 28,2021, a purchase agreement was signed between T-Mobile US and Shentel for the
acquisition of assets and liabilities directly associated with the wireless telecommunications operation of Shentel. The
transaction was consummated on July 1, 2021. The purchase price was USD 1.9 billion (EUR 1.6 billion).

Sale of Telekom Romania Communications. On November 6,2020, OTE concluded an agreement with Orange Romania
concerning the sale of its 54 % stake in Telekom Romania Communications, which operates the Romanian fixed-network
business, to Orange Romania. The transaction was approved by the authorities and then consummated on September 30, 2021.
The purchase price is EUR 296 million.

Combination of the cell tower business in the Netherlands and creation of an infrastructure fund. On January 21,2021,
Deutsche Telekom, Cellnex Telecom, and the newly established independently managed investment company Digital
Infrastructure Vehicle (DIV) signed an agreement to merge Deutsche Telekom’s and Cellnex’s respective Dutch subsidiaries
for mobile infrastructure. Following approval of the deal by the national competition authority, the Dutch cell tower company
T-Mobile Infra was sold to DIV effective June 1, 2021 and subsequently contributed into Cellnex Netherlands.
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Reassignments between the operating segments. Effective January 1, 2021, Deutsche Telekom reassigned the responsibility
for business and profit and loss for Deutsche Telekom loT GmbH from the Systems Solutions operating segment to the Germany
operating segment. Also effective January 1, 2021, Deutsche Telekom transferred its Austrian cell tower business from the
Europe operating segment to the Group Development operating segment, and Deutsche Telekom IT (DT IT) Russia, DTIT
Slovakia, and DT IT Hungary from the Germany operating segment to the Group Headquarters & Group Services segment.

For further information on these business transactions and others, please refer to the section “Group organization” in the combined management report and
the sections “Other transactions that had no effect on the composition of the Group,” “Changes in the composition of the Group and other transactions,”
and Note 36 “Segment reporting” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Capital Markets Day 2021

In May 2021, we presented our medium-term strategy and the financial outlook at our Capital Markets Day in Bonn. Our forecast
for growth through to 2024 remains at a consistently high level: We expect revenue to grow annually by 1to 2 % on average and
adjusted EBITDA AL by 3 to S % on average. Free cash flow AL is to reach more than EUR 18 billion by 2024. We will continue
to invest large amounts, with most of these capital expenditures going into building out our network infrastructure (optical
fiber and 5G). The dividend will continue to track the development in adjusted earnings per share. This figure is set to rise from
the 2020 level of EUR 1.20 to more than EUR 1.75 by 2024. Subject to approval by the relevant bodies, 40 to 60 % of adjusted
earnings per share is to be paid out. The dividend floor introduced in November 2019 of EUR 0.60 per share still applies. Based
on the strong development of business in 2021, our Board of Management plans to pay out a dividend of EUR 0.64 per share,
up from EUR 0.60 for the 2020 financial year, subject to the necessary approvals.

| For further information on our Capital Markets Day 2021, please refer to our Investor Relations website.

T-Mobile US Analyst Day

Marking almost one year since the merger with Sprint, on March 11,2021 T-Mobile US updated analysts on the status of the
business integration and shared its medium-term financial targets. For example, by March 2021 the company was already
ahead of the planned time frame for realizing the synergies from the business combination announced with the transaction in
April 2018. Our U.S. subsidiary also provided an update on the 5G network build-out following the national spectrum auction,
where it invested in C-band frequencies to add to its Ultra Capacity SG. T-Mobile US additionally announced its plans to expand
its footprint to include smaller and rural target markets, the enterprise customer segment, and home broadband.

Rating
In June 2021 the rating agency Moody’s upgraded the rating outlook for Deutsche Telekom AG. The Moody’s rating is now Baa1l
with a stable outlook.

In August 2021, the “big three” rating agencies all upgraded their ratings for our subsidiary T-Mobile US: Moody’s from Ba2 to
Ba1, Standard & Poor’s from BB to BB+, and Fitch from BB+ to BBB-.

Cyberattack on T-Mobile US

In August 2021 T-Mobile US confirmed that their systems had been subject to a criminal cyberattack that compromised data
of millions of their customers, former customers, and prospective customers. With the assistance of outside cybersecurity
experts, T-Mobile US located and closed the unauthorized access to their systems and identified customers whose information
was impacted and notified them, consistent with state and federal requirements. T-Mobile US also undertook a number of other
measures to demonstrate their continued support and commitment to data privacy and protection. The forensic investigation
is now complete and T-Mobile US believes they now have a full view of the extent of the attack.

Litigation

In November 2021, Deutsche Telekom AG presented the Frankfurt/Main Higher Regional Court with a settlement concept in
connection with the prospectus liability proceedings on the third public offering. Under the concept, Deutsche Telekom is to
make firm settlement offers to all eligible plaintiffs.

For further information on pending and closed litigation, please refer to the section “Risk and opportunity management” in the combined management
report.

Investments in networks [_% 069 ] [ & STRUCTURE ]

Awarding of 5G spectrum. In the United States and the countries of our Europe operating segment, a number of 5SG spectrum
award proceedings were held in the reporting year, at which T-Mobile US and our national companies in Hungary, Croatia, and
Romania were each able to successfully secure spectrum. With these spectrum acquisitions we can now forge ahead with the
rapid build-out of our network infrastructure and bring more services, including 5G, to our customers. The build-out goes on
continuously.

| For further information on spectrum awards, please refer to the section “The economic environment” in the combined management report.
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Network build-out in Germany. We continued to build out our network infrastructure in Germany throughout the reporting year.
At the end of 2021, our 5G network covered over 90 % of households. More than 63,000 antennas at around 20,000 sites are
transmitting 5G. In over 140 cities, SG is now available in the powerful 3.6 GHz band. 3,600 antennas at 1,200 sites deliver high-
speed 5G for growing numbers of users. We also added to our LTE network in 2021, increasing coverage of households to 99 %
as of December 31, 2021. At the end of June 2021, 3G was permanently retired with the shutdown of this older technology. We
are refarming the released spectrum for the significantly better performing LTE/4G and 5G technologies.

In the fixed network, the fiber-optic build-out took center stage. At the end of 2021, our fiber-optic network extended over
a total distance of around 650,000 kilometers. Since the start of 2021, we have rolled out fiber-optic lines (FTTH) to around
1.2 million more households. The total number of households passed by our fiber-optic network had increased to around
3.4 million by the end of 2021. In the reporting year, we also announced ambitious targets to roll out FTTH in cities across
Germany, including Berlin, Hamburg, Frankfurt/Main, Disseldorf, and Stuttgart. For example, we began rolling out optical fiber
in Munich in October 2021, while in Bautzen (Saxony) we have already covered some 60,000 households and businesses in 55
municipalities across the district. By 2024 we are set to connect a total of approximately 10 million households Germany-wide
to our fiber-optic network. We give equal priority to building out to rural areas as we do to urban centers, and are planning to
bring optical fiber to a total of 8 million rural households by 2030. Together with the Australian investor IFM, the fiber-optic
build-out company GlasfaserPlus is to add a further 4 million households in rural areas to this target.

Network build-out in the United States. By the end of 2021, T-Mobile US had further expanded its SG network leadership,
delivering 5G speeds to broad swaths of the United States with the largest national 5G network. The 5G network of our U.S.
subsidiary now covers more than 310 million people via the 600 MHz band and over 210 million people with Ultra Capacity SG
in the 2.5 GHz band and millimeter-wave (mmWave) spectrum. T-Mobile US has thus not only met, but exceeded, its original
target of bringing Ultra Capacity SG to 200 million people by the end of 2021. T-Mobile US plans to reach 300 million people
with Ultra Capacity SG by the end of 2023.

Network build-out in Europe. In the countries of our Europe segment, too, we continued to press ahead with the network
build-out in the reporting year. As of the end of 2021, our national companies covered 28.9 % of the population in our
European footprint with 5G. Indeed, in Greece, 69 % of the population benefit from the advantages of SG technology. As
of December 31,2021, we covered 98.2 % of the population in our European countries with LTE, reaching a total of around
109 million people. At the end of September 2021, T-Mobile Polska shut down its 3G network to refarm the released spectrum
for the better performing LTE/4G and 5G services.

We also made good progress with the build-out of our fixed network in 2021. We have made fiber-optic lines available to a
further 1.4 million households in our Europe segment since the start of 2021. At the end of 2021, a total of 27.9 %, or around
7.0 million households, thus had the option to subscribe to a direct connection to our high-speed fiber-optic network with
speeds reaching up to 1 Gbit/s. By 2024, we are set to increase fiber-optic coverage in our Europe operating segment to 40 %,
or 10 million households. Our Greek subsidiary OTE plans to significantly ramp up investments in the accelerated build-out of
the broadband fixed network. This will serve not only to meet the requirements for the digital transformation in Greece over the
coming years, but will also bring fiber-optic lines (FTTH) to 3 million households and businesses. Our FTTH lines were available
to 480,000 households in Croatia by the end of 2021.

Corporate responsibility and employees

Crisis management. #5069 | [ & STRUICTURE ] As a critical infrastructure company, we make an important contribution to society
through the reliable provision and restoration of telecommunications services. This holds particularly true in respect of the
restoration of telecommunications infrastructure following the occurrence of natural disasters and crisis situations, such as
the catastrophic flooding experienced across North Rhine-Westphalia and Rhineland-Palatinate in July 2021, as well as the
maintenance of operational capability during the coronavirus pandemic. In circumstances such as these, it isimperative that we
take special action to enable businesses to remain operational, to offer support, and to protect our customers and employees.

For further information, please refer to the sections “Corporate responsibility and non-financial statement” and “Employees” in the combined management
report.

Digital innovations for climate goals. In July 2021, T-Systems and Shell Gas & Power Developments signed a memorandum
of understanding to advance digital innovation as both companies accelerate their transitions to net-zero emissions. Under
the terms of the agreement, the two companies will collaborate on innovations and services to accelerate Shell’s digital
transformation, and work together to identify opportunities to co-invest and participate in new business models focused on
the decarbonization of society. Shell’s role will include supplying renewable energy to our subsidiary T-Mobile US, and in turn
T-Systems will install more than 10,000 electric vehicle charging stations in Germany for Shell over the next three years.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.
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Making the cloud greener. In April 2021, T-Systems launched a research project at the Biere data center in Saxony-Anhalt.
Together with the Fraunhofer IFF in Magdeburg, T-Systems experts are developing measures for improved sustainability in the
operation of data centers. The long-term goal: a data center that is energy self-sufficient thanks to an intelligent interplay of
regenerative generation, storage, and flexible consumers. On the one hand, this reduces the load on the power grid. On the
other, increased self-sufficiency strengthens the resilience of the data center.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

Innovations[ 5069 | [ RELATIONSHIPS ]

T-Mobile US and Deutsche Telekom continue their mission to fuel 5G innovation. Since November 2021, T-Mobile US is the
exclusive SG launch partner in North America for Qualcomm Technologies’ new Snapdragon Spaces™ XR Developer Platform.
In addition, via the T-Mobile Accelerator, T-Mobile US, Deutsche Telekom, and others will work directly with start-ups and
developers using Snapdragon Spaces to build immersive 5G experiences for augmented reality (AR) glasses across gaming,
entertainment, and other industries starting in spring 2022. To help build an ecosystem for extended reality (XR) applications
on the basis of the Snapdragon Spaces platform, all participants will cooperate directly to develop, test, and bring to market
new products and services. In October 2021, T-Labs, our centralized research and development unit, and T-Mobile US teamed
up to launch T-Challenge, a worldwide competition for start-ups, developers, researchers, and designers. Their goal: to develop
5G and XR technology solutions to transform the retail experience and fuel new innovations in how consumers shop across all
retail channels.

Digital X 2021. On September 7 and 8, 2021 we hosted the Digital X 2021 world expo on all things digital in the heart of Cologne.
In a packed program covering five stages and over 100 popular Cologne locations, including restaurants, bars, hotels, and co-
working spaces, the city showcased the topics of digital transformation and sustainability for business and society. Talks and
workshops presented digital solutions in areas ranging from artificial intelligence and 5G, to the Internet of Things, virtual/
augmented reality, and cloud computing. The overriding goal: to create excitement and enthusiasm for digitalization. More than
300 enterprises presented solutions for the digital transformation.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

MWC 2021: Telekom Tech Grounds. As part of Mobile World Congress 2021 on June 28 and 29, 2021, we hosted a new digital
conference format called Telekom Tech Grounds, with the theme “Exploring human-centered technology.” The conference
showcased the ways in which technological solutions can contribute to a future-ready society. At the conference, together
with Ericsson and Samsung Electronics, we announced the successful realization of 5G end-to-end network slicing. This is
the world-first implementation of multi-vendor 5G end-to-end (E2E) network slicing with a commercially available 5G device.
We also announced the switch-on of our O-RAN Town in Neubrandenburg. O-RAN Town will deliver Open RAN-based 4G and
5G services at up to 25 sites. The first sites are in operation and integrated into the live network of Telekom Deutschland.

The winners of the hubraum Network Sustainability Awards 2021 were also honored at Telekom Tech Grounds.
[ sDG13] [ X ENVIRONMENT |

Hannover Messe. T-Systems presented its new artificial intelligence (Al) offering for the first time at Hannover Messe in
April 2021. Al Solution Factory bundles the development, testing, introduction, and operation of Al solutions for production
and logistics. It is a modular kit of hardware, software, connectivity, and security. T-Systems also premiered its Campus Edge
Framework. The offering combines network solutions such as SG with infrastructure and services from Amazon Web Services
to create managed solutions. T-Systems orchestrates and integrates all edge computing components and, if desired, relieves
customers of administration, maintenance, and contract management. Other topics included Catena X, security, SAP, digital
supply chains, and how data can reduce the carbon footprint.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

| For further information on our innovations, please refer to the section “Technology and innovation” in the combined management report.

Cooperation, partnerships, and major contracts

Contract with Deutsche Rentenversicherung. In October 2021, Deutsche Rentenversicherung extended our contract on the
secure operation of its communications networks. The deal is worth a figure in the triple-digit million range and means we
will continue to operate the pension insurance provider’s existing voice, data, and mobile network infrastructure on the basis
of state-of-the-art, forward-looking technologies with the highest security standards. Deutsche Rentenversicherung transmits
millions of datasets containing the social data of all German citizens over its network.
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Sovereign cloud for Germany. [ 50676 | [@ reLaTionshiPs | |n September 2021, T-Systems and Google announced their partnership
to provide a next-generation cloud solution: the T-Systems Sovereign Cloud powered by Google Cloud. The two companies
plan to build a new cloud solution that allows customers to host their sensitive workloads whilst continuing to leverage the
scalability, innovativeness, and reliability of public cloud services. A number of safeguards will address the strict compliance
requirements applicable, for example, to public-sector institutions. T-Systems is to enable these mechanisms with a set of
services based on the Google Public Cloud, including encryption, audits, and identity management. T-Systems will be in charge
of operating the cloud and managing the services. The solution will initially be available to customers in the DACH region
(Germany, Austria, and Switzerland) in various industries, including healthcare, automotive, public transport, and the public
sector.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

T-Systems enters into partnerships for sustainable mobility. [ 50613 ] [ ReLaTionsHIPS | |n December 2021, T-Systems and Goal
Systems announced a partnership aiming to support the digital transformation of providers for public passenger and freight
transport with holistic offerings. This project is a response to the drastic changes and challenges faced by the industry,
including the expansion of e-mobility, with the reduction of CO, as a primary goal, as well as the development of more flexible
transport concepts. In November 2021, T-Systems and Frequentis signed a partnership agreement under which they will pool
their aviation expertise in pursuit of the far-reaching digitalization of airports. The aim is to achieve more efficient processes
in the passenger area and airport logistics on the basis of integrated systems and digitalized processes. These innovations will
also serve as a lever to reduce CO, emissions.

High-speed communication for IAA MOBILITY 2021. To mark the opening of IAA in August 2021, we expanded our existing
partnership with Messe Miinchen for mobile and fixed-network communications to offer visitors an entirely new trade fair
experience. With the exhibitor area of IAA extending over large parts of Munich for the first time this year, fiber-optic lines were
laid and 29 new 5G sites set up to create a brand-new mobility platform.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

For a seamless mobile network along rail tracks in Germany. [ s06¢ | [& ReLaTionsHIPS ] Together with Deutsche Bahn, we intend
to substantially improve mobile reception on trains. In future, passengers using our mobile network are to be able to make calls
and surf the internet on all routes without interruption. By 2026 at the latest, coverage gaps along all railway lines in long-
distance and regional services are to be eliminated. Both companies have agreed to jointly invest a sum in the hundreds of
millions that will allow us to build out our mobile network along Deutsche Bahn'’s railway lines, close any gaps, and significantly
increase the network’s performance.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

T-Mobile US and Zyter partner to deliver virtual healthcare solutions. [ 7 5065 | [ RewAToNsHPS | |n April 2021, T-Mobile US and
Zyter announced a preferred partnership to deliver virtual healthcare solutions - including telehealth, remote patient
monitoring, and digital collaboration for care teams — to more healthcare organizations and their patients across the United
States. Together, the two companies are making virtual care more accessible to more people, which serves to improve patient
outcomes and reduce readmission rates.

Extension of fiber-optic partnership with NetCologne. | #50G7 | [@RewATIONsHPS | |n February 2021, Deutsche Telekom and
NetCologne extended their long-running partnership from 2013 with an agreement to continue working together for a further
ten years. Beyond the continued use of VDSL, the partners have also set the course for granting mutual network access
to gigabit-capable fiber-optic infrastructure in the future. The goal is to maximize network utilization and secure additional
investments in the future fiber-optic build-out.

Extension of the fixed-network partnership with 1&1. [ s06° | [& reLationsies | Deutsche Telekom and 181 Versatel will continue
to work closely together in the fixed network: both companies signed a ten-year extension to their strategic partnership in
mid-February 2021. The corresponding contract covers the further use of VDSL and lays the groundwork for the use of fiber to
the home/building. This fixed-network partnership safeguards the utilization of our networks and drives forward the fiber-optic
build-out in Germany. In return, 1&1 can offer its customers a future-oriented product portfolio on our fast network.

27
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Network infrastructure sharing with Telefdnica. | #5069 | [@ Rrecationstis | Deutsche Telekom and Telefénica are set to jointly
close several hundred “gray spots” in 4G network coverage under an agreement signed in November 2021. The partners will
share active network technology at the sites. Unlike previous joint projects, such as radio mast site-sharing or the operator
agreement to close “white spots,” separate wireless technology or antennas do not have to be additionally installed with this
approach.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

5G partnerships and campus networks. In close partnership with Deutsche Telekom, Deutsche Messe in Hanover gradually
transformed its exhibition grounds in 2021 into a highly innovative multifunctional campus. We ensure 5G campus network
coverage over a total area of more than 1.4 million square meters. T-Systems and Ericsson also pooled their expertise in 2021 to
offer their respective customers integrated campus network solutions. The partnership is based on Ericsson’s campus network
infrastructure and our edge computing capabilities. In addition, in January 2021, T-Mobile US announced five-year, multi-
billion-dollar agreements with both Ericsson and Nokia to continue advancing and expanding the nation’s largest SG network.
In December 2021, T-Mobile US, 5G Open Innovation Lab, and CoMotion at the University of Washington (UW) announced a
collaboration that will enable hardware start-ups to develop, test, and roll out new products, services, and prototypes powered
by T-Mobile US’ Ultra Capacity 5SG. With the new 5G network deployed at CoMotion Labs on the UW campus, the facility is
now the first 5G-equipped incubator in the region of Washington, focused on supporting the growth of the hardware start-up
ecosystem.

Openness and diversity in the radio access network. In January 2021, Deutsche Telekom, Orange, Telefdnica, and Vodafone
Group signed a joint letter of intent expressing their individual commitment to the implementation and deployment of Open
Radio Access Network (Open RAN) solutions. Open RAN takes advantage of new open virtualized architectures, software, and
hardware to build more agile and flexible mobile networks in the SG era. The four operators will work together with existing and
new ecosystem partners, industry bodies, and European policy makers to ensure Open RAN quickly reaches competitive parity
with traditional RAN solutions.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

Open lab “i14y” created. In November 2021, the open lab “i14y” began operation with the aim of accelerating the
disaggregation of networks and the development of Open RAN. The Berlin-based lab is run by a consortium of partners and has
been funded by the German Federal Ministry for Transport and Digital Infrastructure. The testing and integration work done at
the i14y lab will be crucial to developing the collaboration and the standards required for this open, disaggregated approach.
Besides Deutsche Telekom, the consortium is made up of BISDN, Capgemini Engineering, EANTC, Fraunhofer HHI, highstreet
technologies, Nokia, Rohde & Schwarz, Telefénica Deutschland, TU Berlin, and Vodafone Deutschland.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

Products, rate plans, and services

New smart solutions for inner-city mobility. We showcased innovative mobility concepts at
ITS World Congress 2021in Hamburg to demonstrate how technologies such as SG, edge computing, sensor technology, cloud
computing, and artificial intelligence can contribute to greater sustainability and safety — from cars that can quickly find a free
parking space, to better quality, more reliable public transport, collision warning technology designed to keep cyclists safer on
the roads, to reduced emissions through the networking of vehicles in and around the Port of Hamburg, and the introduction of
intelligent urban tolling.

| For further information, please refer to our media report.

E-governance via the smart city app. Telekom Deutschland’s Citykey app is the new digital companion for daily city life.
Citizens can access digital government services, entertainment and events calendars, and tourism services all via the app.
It's an easier way to book appointments with the city, fill out official forms, see the latest news and information, report
faulty infrastructure, and much more besides. Towns, cities, and municipalities can use the app to quickly and cost-effectively
digitalize their services and actively involve users in configuring content.

A new B2B concept in Telekom Shops. Since July 2021, self-employed business customers and small and medium-sized
enterprises have been able to access our entire solutions portfolio in around 190 Telekom Shops across Germany. These include
traditional fixed-network and mobile offerings alongside home working and IT solutions, such as hardware, Microsoft 365,
Magenta Business POS, Cloud PBX, and security services. Specially trained customer advisors are now also taking
appointments for external site visits in the vicinity of the shops, e.g., on-site visits at the customer’s premises. The new,
integrated B2B concept can be experienced first-hand in-store, including at our recently renovated flagship store in Cologne.
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MagentaEINS Unlimited. We have extended the range of our MagentaEINS FMC products. With MagentaEINS Unlimited,
customers benefit from a fixed and mobile contract of their choice from Deutsche Telekom with unlimited data across Germany
and including 5G at home and on the move. The product bundles can also be extended to include further family members via
corresponding partner cards. We have created a separate mobile rate plan for the new Unlimited packages: MagentaMobil EINS
offers unlimited voice minutes and texts in all German networks. MagentaEINS Unlimited combines mobile connectivity with
our fixed-network product MagentaZuhause in a choice of sizes: L, XL, XXL, or Giga.

Digital Home Service. Our Digital Home Service was launched in April 2021 for all applications in the digital home. The service
helps customers optimize their home Wi-Fi and set up computers, tablets, smartphones, and MagentalV. The service package
also answers all questions relating to smart home applications, firewalls, and suitable virus protection. In November 2021, we
launched our SG Indoor Booster to improve SG network coverage inside buildings for a disruption-free customer experience.
Also in November we introduced a hybrid solution to enable more bandwidth for home networks. The fixed-mobile solution
is based on the Speedport Smart 4 router in combination with an outdoor 5G receiver. We rigorously took sustainability into
account when planning and designing these routers. The resulting considerable reduction in use of natural resources and in
CO, emissions, plus the avoidance of plastic waste, helps protect the environment. Our Android-based
MagentaTV One Box, which can also be used with any other internet service provider, was launched in December 2021.

T-Mobile US’ next Un-carrier move: #5GforAll. In April 2021, T-Mobile US rang in the #5GforAll era with a sweeping set
of initiatives including a free 5G phone upgrade. Now, everyone in America can trade in any mobile phone and get a SG
smartphone for free. All of the around 60 million customers of our U.S. subsidiary’s competitors still on limited data plans and/
or with limited S5G access can upgrade to unlimited data with access to T-Mobile US’ full SG network for the same price — or less
— than their existing plans. T-Mobile US also launched T-Mobile Home Internet, a simple and fast Wi-Fi broadband solution over
the mobile network. The T-Mobile Hometown promise is a commitment that extends over the next few years to bring 5G to rural
America, hire 7,500 new employees in small towns and rural communities, and provide USD 25 million in grants for community
development projects. [ 50610 | [ EIANANCE ]

T-Mobile US business customer campaign. In March 2021, T-Mobile US launched WFX Solutions — a new suite of services
for business maximizing the benefits of its SG network. The products T-Mobile Enterprise Unlimited, T-Mobile Home Office
Internet, and T-Mobile Collaborate help businesses and their employees with mobile and home working.

Awards [ 50616 | [ RELATIONSHIPS ]

In the reporting year we once again received numerous accolades for our networks, our products and service, our HR work and
CR reporting, and our innovations. The illustration below shows the main awards received.
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Major awards in 2021
m Connect hotline test of mobile providers W Investor Relations Prize 2021

B Climate A List and DJSI For the third time in succession, both m Connect fixed-network test The German investor relations asso-

The non-profit organization CDP and the Deutsche Telekom and Magenta Telekom Deutsche Telekom takes the #1spot in ciation DIRK once again ranks Deutsche
Dow Jones Sustainability Index once again | 1N Austria win Connect magazine’s mobile Connect magazine’s nationwide fixed- Telekom the #1 DAX 40 company for
list Deutsche Telekom as a leading com- h_Ot“”e test with a verdict of “very good” network provider test with the best fixed- its outstanding investor relations work.
pany when it comes to climate protection. (issue 05/2021). network offering in Germany and a B Smartphone Magazin mobile

B Umlaut speed test m CHIP mobile network test verdict of “very good” (issue 08/2021). network test
Measurements by the independent CHIP magazine awards Magenta Telekom  m ABI Research 5G enterprise ranking Deutsche Telekom’s mobile network wins
Umlaut consultant company confirm atop verdict of “very good” in a test Deutsche Telekom is rated the best mobile | Smartphone Magazin's 2022 network
T-Mobile US' 5G network is the fastest of Austria’s mobile networks. provider for SG enterprise offerings in testand is the only provider to receive an
inthe United States. B CHIP fixed-network test an international study by ABI Research. overall verdict of “excellent”

W Brand Finance Global 500 Deutsche Telekom wins outright withan ~ m® Ookla & Umlaut 5G network test m Computer Bild’s top digital assistant 2021
Deutsche Telekom is once again ranked overall score of 1.5 and is the only provider | The independent consulting companies Computer Bild and Statista name Frag
the most valuable European telecommu- to receive a verdict of “very good” Ookla and Umlaut once again rate Magenta the best German service chatbot
nications brand and at USD 511 billion (issue 05/2021). T-Mobile US’ 5G network best in class in the category Telecommunications.
reached an all-time brand-value high. n Ook!a & Umlaut 56 network tests ‘ for speed, availability, and latency. | CSR Reporting Awards

B Tested Smart Home Product certificate The independent consulting companies | J.D. Power Cgstomer Care Study 2021 Deutsche Telekom wins two golds for its
AV-TEST gives the stamp of approval Ookla and Umlaut rankT—Mob\le‘US 56 For the 22nd t'me_mSUCC?SS'OH’TMOME‘ us sustainability reporting: German Online
to our smart home products Home Base 2 network t.he fastest and most reliable is ranked the moblte provider with the best Communications Award and the 2021 PR
and Speedport Smart 3 in their data in the United States. customer service in the United States in the Report Award.
privacy and security check (01/2021). m “Favorite employer” in Kurier ranking study by the analysts at J.D. Power. . )

W J.D. Power Customer Care For the third time in succession, a study B ESG Reporting Awards 2021 | Plastics Recycllnq Awards Europe 2021
Study 2021 by the Kurier publishing house names Deutsche Telekom’s CR report wins out- Deutsche Telekom's Speed Home WLAN
T-Mobile US ranks #1 for the st time Magenta Telekom one of Austria’s most right in the category Best Sustainability mesh repeater wins out-right in the
in the Wireless Customer Care Mobile valued companies and Magenta Telekom | Reporting: Technology & Telecoms. category Automotive, Electrical or Elec-
Network Operator Performance study receives the seal of quality. m Ookla speedtest awards fronic Product.
by the analysts at J.D. Power. B Connect readers’ choice 2021 Magenta Telekom receives the award m Umlaut fixed-network test

B Potentialpark ranking 2021 Connect readers vote Magenta Telekom for fastest fixed-network internet access Our subsidiary Hrvatski Telekom'’s fixed
Deutsche Telekom’s careers website is Austria’s favorite mobile network operator | inAustria. network is rated the best on the Croatian
rated Germany’s best corporate website for the eighth time in succession W Connect service test market by independent consulting
for potential applicants with the #1spot (issue 05/2021). Connect magazine rates the fixed- company Umlaut.
in the category Digital Talent Attraction. @ GGVS mobile provider shop test network hotline and the MeinMagenta m OGVS B2B internet provider test

B Top50 Most Valuable German Brands Magenta Telekom wins a peer test app from Magenta Telekom in Austria Magenta Telekom wins outright with its
The BrandZ study once again names of mobile provider shops by the Austrian as best in class. Deutsche Telekom lowest-price rate plans, the best portfolio
Deutsche Telekom as Germany's second organization for consumer studies with also wins the peer test of broadband for small and medium-sized companies,
most valuable brand with a value of the #1spot in all test categories: Ambi- provider hotlines in Germany with a and the best website transparency
USD 471 billion. ance, Advice, and Service (test 04/2021). verdict of “very good” (issue 10/2021). (test 11/2021).

CSR Benchmark 2021

NetFederation rates Deutsche
Telekom's sustainability communication
best in class in its benchmark study.

Tutela report

Mobile crowdsourcing company Tutela
rates Deutsche Telekom’s mobile
network Germany’s #1 with the highest
scores in all 6 test categories. n
Azubi Communication Study 2021
Potentialpark and Ausbildung.de award
Deutsche Telekom’s online communica-
tion second place in their study.

German Stevie Awards 2021

T-Systems wins silver at these prestigious
business awards in the Human Resources
“Team of the Year” category for its agile
transformation program.

ABSL Award

Deutsche Telekom Services Europe
Romania is runner-up in the ABSL Awards
in the category Business Innovation with
its HireVue recruitment tool.

German Brand Awards

Deutsche Telekom is Best of the Best in
the categories Brand Innovation of the
Year and Brand Experience of the Year
and is awarded eight prizes in this presti-
gious competition.

Umlaut’s best in test

For the seventh time in succession,
Umlaut awards Cosmote’s mobile net-
work in Greece a verdict of “best in test”
for best overall performance.

German Media Prize 2021

Deutsche Telekom’s No Hate Speech cam-
paign to combat hate speech and cyber-
bullying in the digital world wins the blue-
ribbon category National Media Strategy.

PCMag 5G network test

T-Mobile US ranked as the leader in
5G on the basis of test drives through
the United States.

Umlaut 5G network test

The independent consulting company
Umlaut rates T-Mobile US’ 5G network
#1for speed and availability in several
metropolitan areas.

Ookla & Umlaut mobile network test
Subsidiary Hrvatski Telekom again

wins both mobile network tests in Croatia
carried out by the two independent
consulting companies.

Ookla mobile network test

The mobile network of our Greek sub-
sidiary OTE is rated best in test for down-
load speeds by independent consulting
company Ookla.

B Queb HR Innovation Awards

Federal association Queb names
Deutsche Telekom’s virtual school
internship an outstanding innovation
in the category Business.

Connect Netztest

For the third time in a row, Magenta
Telekom in Austria wins Connect maga-
zine’s fixed-network broadband test with
averdict of “very good” (issue 11/2021).

Effie Germany Awards 2021
Deutsche Telekom’s No Hate Speech
campaign takes bronze in the category
Doing Good.

WELL Health-Safety Rating

T-Mobile US is the first-ever mobile
communications company to receive
the “WELL Health-Safety rated” seal
in its office buildings.

Best of Consulting Awards 2021
T-Systems wins Wirtschaftswoche maga-
zine's consultant check in the category
Organisation and, with Detecon, has Ger-
many’s best business consulting projects.
AWS Premier Consulting Partner
T-Systems reaches the top tier as an
Amazon Web Services Premier Consulting
Partner based on its experience and high
quality with AWS Cloud.

Connect network test

Connect magazine rates Deutsche
Telekom’s mobile and 5G networks best
in test with a verdict of “very good.”
Magenta Telekom is named Austria’s best
mobile provider for the fourth time in
succession with a verdict of “outstanding”
(issue 01/2022).

CHIP mobile network test

Deutsche Telekom wins overall for the
12th time and ranks #11in all four test
categories with a verdict of “very good”
(issue 01/2022).

Computer Bild mobile network test
Deutsche Telekom’s German mobile
network rated best in test with an overall
score of 1.4 (issue 25/2021).

Germany’s best training provider 2021
Capital magazine awards 5 stars to
Deutsche Telekom as a leading training
provider in 2021 for trainee courses

and dual study programs.

HR Excellence Awards

Deutsche Telekom wins gold in the
category Trainee and University Marketing
with its virtual school internship and gold
in the category Change Management with
its People Lead Voting project.
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Sustainable Development Goals

In 2015, the member states of the United Nations adopted 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). We want to make
concrete contributions to achieving these goals along our entire value chain. We have set ourselves ambitious climate goals,
among other targets. We achieved our goal of making the Deutsche Telekom network a green network by the end of 2021. By
the end of 2025, we aim to reach climate neutrality across the Company, and by 2040 at the latest, we intend to no longer leave
any carbon footprint at all. The importance of our climate goals to us is also demonstrated by our performance management
and incentive system using variable remuneration for members of the Board of Management of Deutsche Telekom AG,
introduced in 2021 (SDG 13). But as a shaper of digitalization, we also believe we have a responsibility to support people in
successfully navigating the internet and living together in accordance with democratic rules. That is why we not only provide
technical access and data privacy and security (SDG 9), but also promote media literacy (SDG 4). We continued our #TAKEPART
- No Hate Speech campaign in 2021, and expanded it to include the priority focus Gaming — Where the Fun Ends (SDG 16).

| For further information, please refer to the section “Corporate responsibility and non-financial statement.”
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Our contributions to achieving the SDGs have also had a positive effect on our own Company. In order to highlight these
contributions, we have divided them into five areas: Finance, Structure, Relationships, Employees, and Environment.

Deutsche Telekom’s value contributions

€ A & 9 Y

FINANCE STRUCTURE RELATIONSHIPS EMPLOYEES ENVIRONMENT

As a responsible employer, we greatly value employee participation and a working environment that is fair and respectful; we
encourage diversity and support our employees on their journey toward the digital working world. In this way, we contribute
towards achieving SDGs 5 (Gender equality), 8 (Decent work and economic growth), and 10 (Reduced inequalities) — and
this also has a positive impact on cooperation within our Company (Employees). By building out our broadband network, we
are making an active contribution to creating high-quality infrastructure, promoting innovation (SDG 9), and strengthening
our infrastructure (Structure). And by consistently improving energy efficiency as we expand our network and by sourcing
100 % of our electricity from renewable energies, we contribute towards SDG 13 and make our own business activities more
environmentally friendly (Environment). Our growing range of sustainable products and solutions increases this effect and
enables our customers to reduce CO, emissions and conserve other resources (SDGs 12, 14, 15). Our smart cities solutions also
promote a sustainable way of life (SDG 11). At the same time, these offerings enable us to generate revenue (Finance). Our
commitment to an internet free of hate and to more civil courage online contributes to a peaceful, inclusive society based on
the rule of law (SDG 16) and is associated with new cooperation relationships (SDG 17) for us (Relationships).

To clearly highlight the contribution our products, services, and activities make towards the individual sustainability

development goals and our value chain, we have marked the relevant passages of the following pages with the respective SDG
and value contribution symbols.
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Selected financial data of the Group

Net revenue

= Net revenue increased by 7.7 % to EUR108.8 billion. In organic terms, too, revenue increased by billions of €
EUR 4.7 billion or 4.5 %. Service revenue increased by EUR 5.2 billion or 6.5 % to EUR 84.1 billion.

m Qur United States segment recorded revenue growth of 11.7%. In organic terms, revenue 125
increased by 5.8 % year-on-year due to higher service and terminal equipment revenues. 100 1010

= In our Germany and Europe segments, we increased revenue by 1.6 % and 0.4 % respectively, on 75 80.5
account of strong business performance. In organic terms, revenue in Europe was up by as much
as 2.4 %.

m Revenue in our Systems Solutions segment decreased year-on-year by 3.4 %, due primarily to the
decline in traditional IT infrastructure business, in line with expectations.

m |n the Group Development segment, revenue increased by 9.8 % year-on-year on the back of
operational and structural growth at T-Mobile Netherlands and GD Towers. In organic terms,
revenue increased by 4.6 %.

108.8

50

25

2019 2020 2021

EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors)

= Adjusted EBITDA AL grew by 6.6 % to EUR 37.3 billion with all operating segments contributing to billions of €
this positive trend. In organic terms, our adjusted EBITDA AL increased by EUR 0.7 billion or 1.9 %.

= Adjusted EBITDA AL rose sharply by 8.1% in the United States, in part as a result of the business 40 0 373
combination with Sprint. In organic terms, adjusted EBITDA AL remained on a par with the prior- 0 .
year level. Adjusted core EBITDA AL, which we use as an indicator of earnings not distorted by the 247
negative effects of the planned withdrawal from the terminal equipment lease model, increased 20
by EUR 2.5 billion or 14.7 %. 10

= Germany and Europe posted growth in adjusted EBITDA AL of 3.6 % and 2.5 % respectively, driven
by high-value revenue growth and enhanced cost efficiency.

= |n our Systems Solutions segment, adjusted EBITDA AL grew by 2.5 %. Efficiency effects from our
transformation program and increased revenue in the growth areas exceeded the decline in the
traditional IT infrastructure business.

= Group Development posted substantial growth in adjusted EBITDA AL of 18.7 %. This was driven
primarily by revenue growth at T-Mobile Netherlands and GD Towers, and efficient management
of costs.

m At 34.3 %, the Group’s adjusted EBITDA AL margin decreased slightly against the prior-year level.
The margin was 39.4 % in Germany, 35.2 % in Europe, and 33.2 % in the United States.

2019 2020 2021

EBIT

m EBIT increased by EUR 0.3 billion or 2.0 % to EUR 131 billion. billions of €

m EBITDA AL was negatively affected by special factors of EUR 3.4 billion compared to expenses
of EUR 1.8 billion in the prior year. Expenses of EUR 2.6 billion were recorded in connection with 15
the business combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint. These related to acquisition and integration
costs, as well as the restructuring costs for realizing cost efficiencies. The sale of the Dutch cell 10 95
tower business resulted in a gain on deconsolidation of EUR 0.2 billion. Expenses in connection
with staff restructuring measures were down year-on-year by EUR 0.6 billion. Reversals of
impairment losses of EUR 1.7 billion had been recognized in the prior year and mainly related to
the partial reversal of impairment losses on spectrum licenses at T-Mobile US, which increased the
carrying amount.

m Depreciation, amortization, and impairment losses were EUR 1.7 billion higher than in the prior
year due in particular to the first-time inclusion of Sprint for the full year. The reduction in the
useful life of leased network technology for cell sites resulted in an increase in depreciation and
amortization of EUR 0.8 billion.

12.8 131

2019 2020 2021

Net profit
= Net profit remained stable at EUR 4.2 billion. billions of €
m Loss from financial activities increased by EUR 1.0 billion to EUR 5.1 billion, partly in connection

with an increase in finance costs due to the assumption of Sprint’s financial liabilities. Other 6

financial income/expense decreased by EUROQ.5 on a net basis in connection with the

measurement of derivatives and the measurement of provisions and liabilities. 4 39
m Tax expense came to EUR 1.8 billion compared with EUR 1.9 billion in the prior year.
m Profit attributable to non-controlling interests decreased by EUR 0.7 billion to EUR 1.9 billion.
= Adjusted earnings per share amounted to EUR 1.22 compared with EUR 1.20 in the prior year.

42 4.2

2019 2020 2021
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Net debt

= Net debt increased by EUR 11.9 billion to EUR 1321 billion compared with the end of 2020. billions of €
= This increase was attributable in particular to the acquisition of spectrum (EUR 8.4 billion),
primarily in the United States; exchange rate effects (EUR 6.9 billion); and additions of lease 150
liabilities (EUR 5.3 billion). Dividend payments - including to non-controlling interests —
(EUR 3 billion) and the acquisition of Shentel (EUR 1.9 billion) further increased net debt. 100

m Free cash flow of EUR 14.3 billion had a reducing effect. 760

50

Dec. 31,2019

1321
120.2

Dec. 31,2020 Dec. 31,2021

Cash capex (before spectrum investment)

= Cash capex (before spectrum investment) increased by EUR 1.0 billion to EUR 18.0 billion. billions of €

= This increase is largely attributable to the first-time inclusion of Sprint for the full year and the
ongoing 5G network build-out in the United States. In Germany and Europe we continued to invest 20
in the provision of broadband and fiber-optic technology and in 5G as part of our integrated
network strategy.

m Cash capex (including spectrum investment) increased by EUR 7.7 billion to EUR 26.4 billion. In the
reporting year, the United States segment acquired FCC spectrum licenses for a total amount of 5
EUR 8.3 billion. Another EUR 0.1 billion was paid for spectrum in the Europe segment. The prior-
year figure included EUR 1.7 billion for the acquisition of mobile spectrum licenses, which primarily
related to the United States, Europe, and Group Development segments.
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Free cash flow AL (before dividend payments and spectrum investment)?

m Free cash flow AL (before dividend payments and spectrum investment) increased by billions of €
EUR 2.5 billion year-on-year to EUR 8.8 billion.

= Net cash from operating activities increased by EUR 4.7 billion. This was attributable in particular 10
to the sustained positive performance of the operating segments, especially in the United States 8
including Sprint. 6

= Apart from the EUR 1.0 billion higher cash capex (before spectrum investment), the increase was
partially offset in particular by an advance payment for the lease of cell sites made by T-Mobile US
in September 2021 and higher interest payments, mainly as a result of the financial liabilities
assumed and the restructuring carried out in connection with the acquisition of Sprint, and the
related increase in financing. Higher income tax payments also had an increasing effect on free
cash flow AL.

7.0

2019

8.8

6.3

2020 2021

ROCE

= Return on capital employed (ROCE), which continues to be impacted by the integration costs in %
connection with the business combination with Sprint, decreased by 0.5 percentage points to
41 %. This was due to stronger percentage growth in average operating assets (NOA) than in net 6
operating profit after taxes (NOPAT).

m The increase in NOA was mainly driven by the acquisition of additional spectrum licenses at
T-Mobile US and our consistently high investment volume.

= NOPAT was up slightly year-on-year. This development is largely attributable to higher integration
costs in connection with the business combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint. In the prior year,
NOPAT had been positively affected by the partial reversal of impairment losses on spectrum
licenses, which had increased the carrying amount.
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| For further information, please refer to the section “Development of business in the Group.”

For further information on the level of achievement of our main financial and non-financial key performance indicators, please refer to the relevant section “Development of business in the

Group — Comparison of the Group’s expectations with actual figures.”

a Before interest payments for zero-coupon bonds and before termination of forward-payer swaps at T-Mobile US (both in 2020).
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Group organization

Business activities

With 248 million mobile customers, 26 million fixed-network lines, and 22 million broadband customers, we are one of the
leading integrated telecommunications companies worldwide. We offer our consumers fixed-network/broadband, mobile,
internet, and internet-based TV products and services, as well as ICT solutions for our business and corporate customers.
We have an international focus and are represented in more than 50 countries. With 216,528 employees worldwide (as of
December 31,2021), we generated revenue of EUR 108.8 billion in the 2021 financial year. 77.0 % of the Group’s net revenue is
generated outside of Germany.

Fixed-network business includes all voice and data communications activities based on fixed-network and broadband
technology. This includes the sale of terminal equipment and other hardware, as well as the sale of services to resellers. Our
mobile communications business offers mobile voice and data services to consumers and business customers; in addition, we
sell mobile devices and other hardware. We also sell mobile services to resellers and to companies that buy network services
and market them to third parties (mobile virtual network operators, or MVNOs). Drawing on a global infrastructure of data
centers and networks, we operate information and communication technology (ICT) systems for multinational corporations and
public-sector institutions.

Our responsible corporate governance and business success are based on our shared corporate values and our Guiding
Principles. [ s0G8 | [ RELATIONSHIPS |

| For further information about our Guiding Principles, please refer to the section “Employees.”

Our identity describes the mission of Deutsche Telekom: Why are we here, what does our Company stand for, and what is our
purpose? It defines our corporate purpose and describes what we at Deutsche Telekom stand for: We want to be a sustainably
growing company that delights its customers, creates value for its investors, and in which employees enjoy their work. Our
network is fast, reliable, secure, and should be easily accessible for everyone. In addition, it has been operated throughout the
Group with electricity from 100 % renewable sources since 2021. [© s0613] [@ ReLAToNsHPS | But, we are more than just another
company that provides society with infrastructure. We want to connect people and make their lives permanently easier and
more enriched. This is our mission. We are a close and trusted companion to the customer; transparent, fair, and open to dialog.
We identify innovative products at an early stage and develop them in collaboration with our partners. It is our contribution to
social togetherness. Our identity reflects all of this. We want everyone to #TAKEPART as is summarized in one short purpose
statement: We won’t stop until everyone is connected.

Segment structure [ socs | [ EIFNANCE |
Our financial reporting aligns with our Group strategy and is divided into five operating segments plus the Group
Headquarters & Group Services segment, each of which we describe in detail below.

Our Germany operating segment comprises all fixed-network and mobile business activities for consumers and business
customers, including separate sales entities in Germany to allow a customer-centric sales approach. As a pioneer of
digitalization, the segment offers its customers a tailored service and product portfolio that is designed to be innovative while
at the same time secure and simple. The Germany operating segment also focuses on the wholesale business to provide
telecommunications services for carriers. The bundling of customer service activities places a further focus on customer
satisfaction and quality assurance. Build-out of the mobile and fixed networks is managed by the Technology business unit in
this segment.

Our United States operating segment combines all mobile activities in the U.S. market. T-Mobile US provides service, devices,
and accessories across its flagship brands. In addition, we sell devices to dealers and other third-party distributors for resale.
T-Mobile US is the second largest provider (customer related) in the United States. The positive business development has
been built on the back of the various Un-carrier initiatives launched in the last few years. T-Mobile US also supercharged
upon completion of the business combination with Sprint on April1,2020. As the supercharged Un-carrier, T-Mobile US is
on a mission to build America’s best SG network, offering customers unrivaled coverage and capacity. We also offer a wide
selection of wireless devices, including smartphones, wearables, tablets, and other mobile communication devices, which are
manufactured by various suppliers. T-Mobile US also provides products that are complementary to its wireless communications
services, including device protection, high-speed internet, and wireline communication services.
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Our Europe operating segment comprises all fixed-network and mobile operations of the national companies in Greece,
Hungary, Poland, the Czech Republic, Croatia, Slovakia, Austria, North Macedonia, and Montenegro. We are an integrated
provider of telecommunications services in these countries. With the approval of the responsible authorities, on
September 30, 2021 OTE consummated the sale of its 54 % stake in Telekom Romania Communications to Orange Romania.
Consequently, our focus in Romania is on mobile operations. Besides traditional B2C fixed-network and mobile business, most
of our national companies also offer ICT solutions for business customers.

As a leading provider of IT services to businesses in German-speaking countries, our Systems Solutions operating segment
offers a focused B2B product and solution portfolio under the T-Systems brand. With its horizontal offerings for advisory
services, cloud computing, and digitalization solutions, T-Systems addresses the most attractive growth areas in the
information technology market. Data sovereignty and security solutions are at the core of the product options, supplemented
with strategic partnerships. Focused vertical offerings penetrate deep into the value chains of selected industries (automotive,
healthcare, public sector, and transportation). We have been implementing a comprehensive transformation program since
2018, part of which has been to realign both our organization and our workflows, and make adjustments to our capacities. We
now have four portfolio units: Cloud Services (Public Cloud, SAP AO, Managed Infrastructure Services & Private Cloud), Digital
Solutions (including SAP SlI), Security, and Advisory (with Detecon as an integrated consulting provider). The Road Charging
portfolio unit was hived off as Road User Services GmbH to ease the path to local partnerships.

Our Group Development operating segment actively manages entities, subsidiaries, and equity investments to grow their value
while giving them the entrepreneurial freedom they need to promote their continued strategic development. This approach
led to the creation of GD Towers within the Group Development segment. Following the sale of the Dutch cell tower business
in the reporting year, GD Towers has exclusively looked after the German and Austrian cell tower businesses since the second
quarter of 2021. On September 6, 2021, we signed an agreement to sell T-Mobile Netherlands. The transaction is expected to
be completed in the first quarter of 2022. The investment management group DTCP; Comfort Charge, which is a provider of
e-mobility charging infrastructure; and the Group functions of Mergers & Acquisitions and Strategic Portfolio Management are
also assigned to Group Development.

Group Headquarters & Group Services comprises all Group units that cannot be allocated directly to one of the operating
segments, and also reports on our Board of Management department for Technology and Innovation. As the organization
that sets the direction and provides impetus, it defines strategic aims for the Group, ensures they are met, and becomes
directly involved in selected Group projects. Group Services provides services to the entire Group; in addition to typical services
provided by Deutsche Telekom Services Europe, such as financial accounting, human resources services, and operational
procurement, Group Services also includes placement services provided by our personnel service provider, Vivento. It is in
charge of securing external employment opportunities for employees, predominantly in the public sector. Further units are
Group Supply Services (GSUS) for our real estate management and our strategic procurement, and Telekom MobilitySolutions,
which is a full-service provider for fleet management and mobility services.

Our Technology and Innovation Board of Management department unites the cross-segment technology, innovation, IT, and
security functions of our Germany, Europe, and Systems Solutions operating segments. These include Deutsche Telekom IT,
which focuses on the Group’s internal IT projects, and our central innovation unit, Product Innovation and Customer Experience
(PIC), which works closely with our operating segments to drive topics such as digitalization, big data, software-defined
networks, voicification, virtualization, and cloud services. Our Innovation Hub (IHUB) pools all of the expertise required for
future innovation projects in an agile working environment to ensure we stay flexible and innovative. In the newly created
Technology Delivery International (TDI) unit, we pool expertise to position ourselves as a strong partner to the technology
units in our national companies and develop, produce, operate, and scale platforms and services across borders from a single
source. In the reporting year this still included International Technology and Service Delivery (ITS), which harmonizes the
planning, development, and operation of products, services, and platforms across our national companies in Europe taking
account of technological and commercial aspects. Strategy & Technology Innovation (S&TI) ensures efficient and customer-
centric research and innovation with a focus on mobile and fixed-network communications. Group Security (GSC) is responsible
for developing and transforming the Group-wide security strategy.

Changes to the segment and organizational structure in 2021
In the reporting year, the following changes and/or additions to the segment structure were recorded from the Group’s point of
view:

Strategic measures to secure control of T-Mobile US in the long term. On September 6, 2021, Deutsche Telekom took strategic
action to increase its stake in T-Mobile US in a move that secures the existing control over the U.S. subsidiary and full
consolidation in the long term:

36

Deutsche Telekom. The 2021 financial year.



Combined management report

Under the deal signed between Deutsche Telekom and SoftBank Group (SoftBank) on September 6,2021, the objective of
which is to increase Deutsche Telekom’s stake in T-Mobile US, Deutsche Telekom acquired a total of around 45.4 million
T-Mobile US shares from SoftBank. To this end Deutsche Telekom exercised, on September 23,2021, a portion of the stock
options it had received from SoftBank in June 2020 to purchase shares in T-Mobile US. SoftBank received in return 225 million
new shares in Deutsche Telekom AG from the 2017 Authorized Capital, excluding subscription rights for existing shareholders.
The capital increase against contribution in kind amounted to EUR 576 million. The capital increase of Deutsche Telekom AG
was carried out with effect upon entry into the commercial register on September 28, 2021. As a result of this transaction,
SoftBank has become a shareholder in Deutsche Telekom AG with around 4.5 % of the outstanding shares. In connection with
the exercise of the existing stock options, the weighted average price for the total around 45.4 million T-Mobile US shares
acquired as part of this share swap calculates to around USD 118 per T-Mobile US share. For the 225 million Deutsche Telekom
shares that were received by SoftBank and which are subject to a lock-up until 2024, the two companies agreed a value
of EUR20 per share. This capital increase against contribution in kind brings the number of outstanding shares of
Deutsche Telekom AG up from 4,761 million shares to 4,986 million shares. Upon its completion, the transaction raised
Deutsche Telekom’s stake in T-Mobile US by 3.6 percentage points to 46.8 %. The percentage of T-Mobile US shares for which
Deutsche Telekom can exercise voting rights, including an agreement concluded with SoftBank in connection with the
acquisition of Sprint, amounted to 52.0 % as of December 31, 2021. The aim is to support SoftBank in their efforts to take a seat
on Deutsche Telekom AG’s Supervisory Board. Deutsche Telekom and SoftBank have also agreed a new strategic partnership
that will position Deutsche Telekom as a major European partner in the SoftBank ecosystem.

Deutsche Telekom is also weighing plans to invest up to USD 2.4 billion (around EUR 2.1 billion) of the proceeds from the
planned sale of T-Mobile Netherlands, which was agreed on September 6, 2021, to exercise further fixed-price and variable
stock options to purchase T-Mobile US shares. These depend, in half, on the average share price of T-Mobile US, and a fixed
price has been set for the other half. This would further increase Deutsche Telekom’s stake in T-Mobile US by approximately
1.6 percentage points, depending on the number of shares to be acquired. Deutsche Telekom expects its total stake to be
around 48.4 % upon completion of these two transactions.

For further information on the agreed sale of T-Mobile Netherlands, please refer to the section “(Expected) changes to the segment and organizational
structure in 2022.”

Acquisition of Shentel. On May 28, 2021, a purchase agreement was signed between T-Mobile US and Shenandoah Personal
Communications Company (Shentel) — a local provider of mobile network products in certain regions of some U.S. states —
for the acquisition of assets and liabilities directly associated with the wireless telecommunications operation of Shentel. The
transaction was consummated on July 1, 2021 after obtaining the necessary approvals from the regulatory authorities and
satisfying the other closing conditions. The purchase price was USD 1.9 billion (EUR 1.6 billion).

Sale of Telekom Romania Communications. On November 6,2020, OTE concluded an agreement with Orange Romania
concerning the sale of its 54 % stake in Telekom Romania Communications (TKR) - at the time assigned to the Europe
operating segment — which operates the Romanian fixed-network business, to Orange Romania. The transaction was approved
by the authorities and then consummated on September 30, 2021. The purchase price is EUR 296 million. The net gain on
deconsolidation resulting from the sale is immaterial from a Group perspective. TKR’s 30 % stake in Telekom Romania Mobile
Communications was acquired by OTE on September 9, 2021 as previously agreed for a purchase price of EUR 59 million.

Combination of the cell tower business in the Netherlands and creation of an infrastructure fund. On January 21,2021,
Deutsche Telekom, Cellnex Telecom (Cellnex), the newly established independently managed investment company Digital
Infrastructure Vehicle Il (DIV), and others signed an agreement to merge Deutsche Telekom’s and Cellnex’s respective Dutch
subsidiaries for passive mobile infrastructure into Cellnex Netherlands (Cellnex NL). Following approval of the deal by the
national competition authority, the Dutch cell tower company T-Mobile Infra — at the time assigned to the Group Development
operating segment — was sold to DIV effective June 1, 2021 and subsequently contributed into Cellnex NL. Deutsche Telekom
received cash proceeds of EUR 0.4 billion. The gain on disposal of EUR 0.3 billion breaks down as follows: EUR 0.2 billion
was included in other operating income in the reporting year and EUR 0.1 billion will be recognized pro rata in subsequent
periods through the sale-and-leaseback transactions described below. Immediately prior to the sale, T-Mobile Infra also paid
Deutsche Telekom AG a dividend of EUR 0.3 billion. Deutsche Telekom obtained a 37.65 % stake in the new Cellnex NL, which is
indirectly included in the consolidated financial statements through the investment in DIV and accounted for using the equity
method. T-Mobile Netherlands will continue to have full access to the contributed passive mobile infrastructure by means of
a long-term agreement at arm’s length conditions. The lease component included in the agreement fulfills the conditions of
a sale-and-leaseback transaction. Right-of-use assets in the amount of EUR 0.3 billion and lease liabilities in the amount of
EUR 0.4 billion were recognized in this context as of June 1, 2021.
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Reassignment of the Internet of Things (loT) growth area. Effective January1,2021, Deutsche Telekom reassigned the
responsibility for business and profit and loss for Deutsche Telekom loT GmbH from the Systems Solutions operating segment
to the B2B unit in the Germany operating segment. The Group subsidiary is responsible for the lolT business of
Deutsche Telekom. This reassignment puts us in a position to serve the lol market more quickly and thus to strengthen
Deutsche Telekom’s position on this growth market. Prior-year comparatives in both of the segments affected (development of
operations, customer development, headcount development, and order entry) were adjusted retrospectively.

Transfer of the Austrian cell tower business. As of January 1, 2021, Deutsche Telekom transferred its Austrian cell tower
business from the Europe operating segment to GD Towers in the Group Development operating segment to enhance efficiency
in the management of the cell tower business. In addition, GD Towers will increase its efforts to expand third-party business,
increase profitability, and develop growth areas. Prior-year comparatives in both of the segments affected have not been
adjusted.

Reorganization of DTIT. As of January 1, 2021, Deutsche Telekom IT (DT IT) Russia, DT IT Slovakia, and DT IT Hungary were
reassigned from the Germany operating segment to the Group Headquarters & Group Services segment. Prior-year
comparatives in both of the segments affected have not been adjusted.

(Expected) changes to the segment and organizational structure in 2022

Agreed sale of T-Mobile Netherlands. On September 6, 2021, Deutsche Telekom and Tele2 agreed to sell our subsidiary
T-Mobile Netherlands, which is assigned to the Group Development operating segment — to WP/AP Telecom Holdings IV,
a private equity consortium advised by Apax Partners and Warburg Pincus. The transaction brings to a close the review of
strategic options regarding T-Mobile Netherlands announced at the Capital Markets Day 2021. The preliminary sale price is
based on an enterprise value of EUR 51 billion. The cash proceeds — based on our shareholding of 75 % — are expected to be
around EUR 3.8 billion. Deutsche Telekom is weighing plans to invest a portion of the cash proceeds from the sale to further
increase its stake in T-Mobile US. The transaction is subject to approval by the authorities as well as other closing conditions.
The assets and liabilities of T-Mobile Netherlands as of December 31,2021 are reported in our consolidated statement of
financial position as “held for sale.” The transaction is expected to be completed in the first quarter of 2022.

Fiber-optic build-out through joint venture with IFM. On November 5, 2021, Deutsche Telekom announced that IFM Global
Infrastructure Fund — advised by IFM Investors — will acquire a stake of 50 % in GlasfaserPlus GmbH, a fiber-optic build-out
entity. The agreed purchase price for the 50 % stake in the subsidiary, which is assigned to the Germany operating segment,
amounts to EUR 0.9 billion, half of which is to be settled upon conclusion of the transaction, and the remainder once progress
has been made in the build-out. The newly established joint venture is to build out an additional 4 million gigabit-capable FTTH
lines in rural and development areas between 2022 and 2028. This transaction underpins Deutsche Telekom’s aim of being
the leading company for the fiber-optic build-out in Germany. As a consequence of the agreed sale of the S0 % stake in the
company and the concomitant future loss of control of the company on completion of the transaction, the assets and liabilities
of GlasfaserPlus as of December 31, 2021 are recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position as “held for sale.”
On completion of the transaction, the stake in the joint venture will be included in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method. Following its approval by the European Commission on January 25, 2022, the transaction is expected to be
completed before the end of the first quarter of 2022.

Group strategy

From Leading European Telco to Leading Digital Telco | # sp6s | | FINANCE |

Since 2014, we have been aligning all of our corporate activities with our Leading European Telco strategy — with the aim
of becoming Europe’s leading telecommunications provider. This strategy has been tremendously successful for us.
Deutsche Telekom is Europe’s leading telecommunications company by a clear margin: in terms of market capitalization,
revenue, and earnings (as of December 31,2021). And our Group continues to grow, as confirmed by our most important
financial performance indicators and customer development on both sides of the Atlantic. We raised our full-year guidance for
2021 three times in the course of the year, despite the coronavirus pandemic. And last but not least, at 79 %, understanding and
support of our strategy among the workforce is at an all-time high (employee survey, November 2021). In short, over the past
seven years we have found the right balance: rigorously implementing our Group strategy on the one hand, while in parallel
anticipating changes in our ecosystem early on and adapting the strategy with pinpoint precision to new market conditions as
and when necessary. We find ourselves in an extremely positive situation, but rather than use it as an opportunity to relax, we
see it as the perfect launchpad to leverage our strong position and prepare Deutsche Telekom for future demands. After all, the
telecommunications industry faces change on an almost unprecedented scale. Digitalization is the main catalyst for a number
of key trends:
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m Digitalization is shaping demand among consumers and business customers alike: Consumers want their product and
service experiences to be fully customized to their personal needs, context-sensitive, and to work seamlessly. For business
customers, requirements are driven by the new way of working: digital, hybrid, and app-centric. They expect secure
connectivity as well as flexible service and product models that integrate easily and securely into workflows — and all from a
single source and “as-a-service.”

= We are seeing companies from other industries pushing onto the market with lean, software-defined production models.
Providers such as Google, Microsoft, and Amazon Web Services are expanding into the global connectivity field and
increasingly providing network functions in their cloud environments. More and more, they are positioning themselves as
vendors of connectivity services not only to telcos, but also as partners for business customers.

= Alternative network providers and technologies (e.g., satellite connectivity) are gaining in relevance and can be both a risk
(in terms of substitution of parts of our core business) and opportunity for us (e.g., network coverage in sparsely populated
areas). The connectivity market continues to fragment further, bringing ever-greater complexity. Especially among business
customers with international footprints, demand is growing for a one-stop shop offering global network orchestration and
a network customized to individual business cases. At the same time, the parallel build-out of broadband and mobile
infrastructure (optical fiber and 5G) calls for telecommunications companies to commit to high investments and find
innovative approaches to implementation, for instance by using third-party infrastructure or partnering with investors.

m Sustained economic globalization, world population growth, and increasing use of digital technologies all put a strain on the
available resources. It is thus imperative that we find a sustainable, more ecological way of doing business and act with a
greater focus on social responsibility.

= The acquisition of new skills and expertise is another vital aspect of digital transformation. The challenge here lies in quickly
building up a critical mass of digital talent. Flexible work models, global recruitment processes, and responsible corporate
action are gaining relevance.

In light of these trends, we aim to transform ourselves from our position as Leading European Telco into the Leading Digital
Telco. With our unique footprint on both sides of the Atlantic, we are already excellently positioned in the Western tech sphere
to achieve this. We are a global enterprise with a considerable presence in Europe, European roots and values, and an extremely
strong business in the United States. Our goal is clear: We want to align ourselves long-term with the needs of our customers
and transform ourselves into a digital company to hold our own against new competitors and continue our growth course. Our
future growth is based on three pillars: “Lead in digital life & work,” “Lead in business productivity,” and “Magenta Advantage.”
Building and operating the best convergent networks remains at the core of our strategy and is an important driver for our
growth areas. We realize our aim to lead in technology by investing not only in network infrastructure, but also in establishing
cloud-based service platforms in line with our strategy: “Build & scale Telco as a platform.” We leverage our international
footprint to generate synergies across the Group and to carry weight alongside the global tech giants.

The two areas of operation, “Save for growth investments” and “Simplify, digitalize, accelerate & act responsibly,” support our
growth target and provide the guidelines for our actions. Our Group strategy does not aim to micromanage all local units, but

to provide a strategic framework and to utilize local strengths (networks, competitive standing).

Group strategy: Leading Digital Telco

Grow
Lead in digital Lead in business Magenta
life & work productivity Advantage

Best convergent networks+ Software-defined, secure, global New business models
& perfect service networks, loT & digitalization based on DT assets

Build & scale Telco as a platform

Cloud-based customer and network-service platforms
Best-in-class integrated network infrastructure — DT & partners

Save for growth investments

Simplify, digitalize, accelerate & act responsibly
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Strategic areas of operation

Lead in digital life & work: Best convergent networks+ & perfect service

Our aspiration is to offer customers the best network experience, anytime, anyplace — whether at home or at work, our
network should work seamlessly and across all technologies. That’s why we market fixed-network and mobile communications
in convergent products (fixed-mobile convergence (FMC)). By the end of the reporting year, some 5.3 million customers in
Germany had opted for MagentaEINS; that is over 200 thousand more than in the prior year. The national companies of our
Europe operating segment won around 840 thousand new customers for MagentaOne and similar FMC offerings in 2021. To
continue on this path of growth, we work continuously to improve our convergent portfolio. We took another step in this
direction with the launch of our new MagentaEINS Unlimited offering, available throughout Germany. Customers who subscribe
to this service enjoy unlimited data at home and on the go, and can flexibly add family members to the product bundle via one
or more of our Community Card EINS SIM cards, enabling them to also benefit from unlimited data. We also increasingly offer
home broadband products in the United States, on the basis of our leading mobile network. In pursuit of our goal to become the
leading digital telecommunications company, we want to offer more than simply the best connectivity: What really counts is
the network experience. For this reason we offer our customers additional services that turn our network leadership aspiration
into a first-hand experience. We reached some key milestones in this regard in the reporting year. Our MagentaTV product has
been repositioned throughout our entire European footprint to aggregate linear television, including extensive features, with
access to content from the biggest video-on-demand providers, and exclusive content. In 2021, we further enhanced the TV
experience, entering into new partnerships with major content providers in Germany (including DAZN), and launching our new
MagentaTV Entertain rate plan, which is available as an ISP-neutral option, i.e., with internet from any provider, and includes
RTL+ and Disney+. Our national companies in Europe rolled out an Android-based TV platform with a Deutsche Telekom-
specific user interface to deliver an even more personalized user experience (in Greece, Slovakia, and the Czech Republic). The
addition of almost 140 thousand TV customers in Germany and, on an organic basis, around 210 thousand in our European
subsidiaries shows that we are on the right track. Of equally high priority for us is ensuring seamless product integration across
our portfolio. This led in 2021 to us launching our own operating system for the digital household, called Magenta HomeOS.
In interaction with Deutsche Telekom services (television, smart home, routers, MagentaCloud, voice control functions) and
partner services, Magenta HomeOS acts as a “connector” to open up entirely new use cases. To start with, customers can
share Wi-Fi access with guests via a QR code, check and restart their home network via a TV, or display photos from the
MagentaCloud on their TV screen.

Perfect customer service, supported by digitalization, continues to be another powerful lever to help set us apart from the
competition. For this reason, we launched several quality enhancement initiatives in the reporting year. These include, in
Germany, the Digital Home Service (phone or on-premise assistance to help with all home network-related topics, such as Wi-
Fi, television, smart home, etc.). Moreover, we resolve 54.7 % of customer inquiries at the first contact. Above and beyond this,
in our national companies in Europe we further optimized the OneApp platform to deliver a digital sales and service experience.
Following its successful market launch in all countries, the platform has improved the customer experience (e.g., customers
can set up and manage their router via the app and use the integrated chat function to talk to staff or service bots) and enabled
us to monetize our offerings (e.g., in-app coupons and loyalty program, new customers can conclude prepaid and postpaid
contracts). Several awards validate our efforts in this regard, including the Connect service tests (outright winner of the hotline
and service app tests in Germany and Austria, issues 05/2021 and 10/2021). In the United States, too, we are reaping the
rewards of our focus on customer-centricity: numerous surveys rank T-Mobile US ahead of its competitors for service quality
(e.g., the J.D. Power study rated T-Mobile US the mobile carrier with the best customer service in the United States for the 22nd
time in succession).

We measure customer satisfaction using the globally recognized TRI*M method. We use the results of this performance
indicator to improve our customer contact processes, and our products and services. At the same time, we determine the
loyalty of our customers towards Deutsche Telekom. The results are presented as a performance indicator, the TRI*M index,
which ranges between minus 66 and plus 134 points. At the end of the reporting year, the score for the Group (excluding
T-Mobile US) came in at plus 73.4 points versus an adjusted value of 72.7 points at the start of the year (both determined on a
comparable basis). Our goal for the coming years is to achieve a further improvement in customer satisfaction.

Lead in business productivity: Software-defined, secure, global networks, loT & digitalization

In the reporting year, we once again maintained our market-leading position (in terms of revenue) as a provider of
telecommunications services for business customers in the Germany operating segment and posted growth slightly above the
level reached last year. Secure, reliable global connectivity is essential to the advancing digitalization of critical processes in
companies and industry associations. We remain a dependable partner to German industry thanks to our product portfolio of
international communications solutions that combine the strengths of our national network infrastructure with our international
networks. We also continued to post growth in IT revenue from business customers in our Germany operating segment
(up 5.4 % compared with 2020), mainly from pushing digitalization in small and medium-sized enterprises. In our national
companies in Europe, revenue with business customers remained stable year-on-year in organic terms, primarily on the back of
stable development in our mobile business. IT business declined year-on-year. Demand for our productivity, cloud, smart cities
and security solution portfolio continued to grow.
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Going forward, we want to remain the partner of choice for multinational corporations with cross-border connectivity needs,
and to this end are investing in robust, global fixed-network and mobile connectivity and providing a one-stop shop for
connectivity through the orchestration of our own networks and those of our partners. In the medium term, we want to respond
to changing customer needs with end-to-end, cloud-based, modular network services and dynamically adapt our networks.
Application programming interfaces (APIs) will even make it possible in future to automatically manage individual network
parameters in real time. To this end, over the coming years we plan to radically overhaul our own network and IT landscape,
transforming it into a modular, software-defined production environment with integration capabilities for customized app and
IT landscapes.

As major topics like the Internet of Things (IoT) and cybersecurity become more relevant, security and network solutions
(network, IT, and cloud computing) are beginning to merge into highly secure, end-to-end solutions. Security functions which
were once purchased separately are increasingly becoming part of the connectivity product itself, like new-generation firewalls
that are already integrated into some SD-WAN solutions, and SASE suites that deliver SD-WAN in combination with cloud
security from a single source. We will continue to develop the core elements of our B2B portfolio, comprising our MPLS
(Multiprotocol Label Switching; dedicated IP-VPN solutions) and SD-WAN products, as a whole to take account of network and
security aspects. Security is an integral component of every one of our products and services (e.g., campus networks, loT) — and
that goes for every link in the communication chain: from the user via the terminal equipment, Wi-Fi/mobile communications/
LAN, to access networks and corporate networks, transport networks, and data centers. “Security by Design” is our goal here —
from development and operation to management of the network services by us and our customers, [ 250616 ] [ & STRUCTURE ]

Our business with “traditional” IT outsourcing services for international corporate customers has been in decline for a number
of years now, mainly due to persistent intense competition. It is for this reason that our Systems Solutions operating segment
has been undergoing a profound transformation since 2018. For our corporate customers, we are pursuing a “Leading European
vertical full-service player” strategy. Specifically, we are focusing our systems solutions business on value creation aligned
with core customer needs in respect of digitalization (advisory services, cloud computing, and digital solutions). For selected
industries (automotive, healthcare, public sector, and public transport), we will increase our offer of vertical, industry-specific
solutions based on our expertise. The focus here is on profitable growth.

Magenta Advantage: New business models based on DT assets

In our core business, we create essential values and skills not found in other companies. We call these the “Magenta
Advantage.” For example, we have over 248 million mobile customers across our entire footprint and are a strong pay-TV
provider in Europe with around 8 million customers. In our B2B segment, our long-standing relationships give us access to
the biggest companies across all industries worldwide. Looking ahead, we want to better leverage our assets and skills, not
only in our core business, but also to scale new digital business models. The past has already shown us how the Magenta
Advantage helps to build value in new business. One example in this context is Ince (a Deutsche Telekom investment). The
cloud-based loT connectivity solution developed by Ince outside of Deutsche Telekom, based on our M2M connectivity, now
gives us access to entirely new segments and secures our position in the loT environment in the long term. Moving forward, we
want to use the Magenta Advantage more systematically and on a broader basis — in the interests of our customers, partners,
and Deutsche Telekom. For example, we want to use the digital reach of our sales and service apps to give our customers access
to exclusive digital partner services and tap new revenue sources. For smaller companies and start-ups in particular, access
to our customer base is extremely valuable when they want to grow fast in heavily fragmented markets. We are plowing our
energies first of all into creating the right conditions within our Company: building APIs and more to simplify partner integration
and establishing our OneApp across our entire footprint for even greater reach. Genuine value added for customers is only
possible with personalized suggestions that match up with their needs and interests. To make this possible, we need to expand
our capabilities in the fields of data analysis and segmentation. The core of our brand promise, “Reliability, security, and trust,”
remains the same and protecting our customers’ data and privacy is still our top priority. Another important component is our
strategic partnership with SoftBank. SoftBank is a global investment holding with stakes in numerous leading start-ups from
a wide range of industries. In the reporting year, we reached initial partnership agreements with three portfolio companies
(TIER Mobility, Revolut, GoStudent) and launched the first successful pilot projects in selected national companies in Europe.

Build & scale Telco as a platform [ # s069 | [ & STRUCTURE |

Our growth areas are based on our networks and our technology, which together form the core of our value creation. That is
why we are systematically building out and interlinking our fixed and mobile networks so that we can offer our customers the
fastest possible connection at top quality, anytime, anyplace. Group-wide we invested around EUR 18.0 billion (not including
spectrum investment) primarily in building and operating networks, with around EUR 5.5 billion of this figure earmarked for
Germany alone. This makes us the biggest investor among all of our German competitors. In pursuit of outstanding quality and
an even quicker and more efficient network build-out, we are also striking out in new directions, for example, with the use of
artificial intelligence (Al) to ensure infrastructure is built out in line with demand, as well as exploring partnerships and joint
ventures. Integrated management improves the capacity utilization of our infrastructure and increases efficiency in operations
and maintenance.
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Fiber optic-based fixed networks are the basis for the best integrated network experience. With fiber-optic lines to over
7.0 million households, virtually all of our national companies in Europe are leading the fiber-optic build-out: In Greece, for
example, we have the largest fiber-optic network nationwide, with FTTH available to more than 560,000 households and
businesses, and in Slovakia we offer FTTH to almost 950,000 households. At the end of 2021, our fiber-optic network in
Germany consisted of around 650,000 kilometers of fiber-optic cable. In 2021, we thus made fiber-optic lines (FTTH) available
to around 1.2 million more households. Looking ahead, we are set to substantially increase the pace of the fiber-optic build-
out further. By 2030, every household and every business in Germany is to have a fiber-optic line. Telekom Deutschland will
build the majority of these. By the end of 2024, we are set to make around 10 million fiber-optic lines available. We have also
entered into partnerships with other companies, helping further our goals (e.g., founding the joint venture Glasfaser NordWest
together with EWE, and the open access cooperation with M-net). We give equal priority to building out to rural areas as we
do to urban centers, and are planning to bring optical fiber to a total of 8 million rural households by 2030. Together with the
Australian investor IFM, the fiber-optic build-out company GlasfaserPlus is to add a further 4 million households in rural areas to
this target. But our competitors also need to play their part. Deutsche Telekom is building out the network on the basis of open
access. The new networks are open for use by competitors. Our efforts are paying off. In Germany, we took the #1 spot again in
2021 for the best fixed-network offering (Connect, issue 08/2021) and the best fixed-network internet provider (CHIP, issue 05/
2021). In the third quarter of 2021, Magenta Telekom in Austria won the award for fastest fixed-network internet access (Ookla
speedtest awards) and was rated best-in-test for fixed-network broadband internet for the third time in succession (Connect,
issue 11/2021).

In mobile communications, we set ourselves apart from our competitors with the outstanding quality of our network. We
operate over 90,000 mobile communications antennas across Germany covering 99 % of households with LTE. Our national
companies in Europe cover 98.2 % of the population, or around 109 million people, with LTE. With the fifth-generation mobile
communications standard (5G), we are creating a highly reliable mobile network with extremely low latency and high data
throughput. Over 63,000 antennas now transmit SG across Germany, with over 90 % of households already being able to use
this next-generation mobile standard. The goal is to achieve 90 % geographic coverage in Germany by the end of 2025. As of
the end of 2021, our national companies covered 28.9 % of the population in our European footprint with SG. In Croatia, Hrvatski
Telekom is spearheading the expansion of 5G networks and services with a total of over 600 5G base stations in operation
and a 5G network already covering 48 % of the population. With the purchase of additional spectrum at the August 2021
auction, our Croatian subsidiary has created the necessary conditions to further consolidate its SG leadership. T-Mobile Polska
operated 3,500 5G base stations across Poland at the end of 2021. With a view to refarming the released spectrum for the faster
and better performing LTE/4G and 5G services, companies including T-Mobile Polska and Telekom Deutschland shut down 3G
spectrum in the reporting year.

We have regularly come out on top in independent network tests. Our German network once again won the “big three” network
tests in 2021: by Connect (issue 01/2022), CHIP (issue 01/2022), and Computer Bild, issue 25/2021). Magenta Telekom was
voted Austria’s most popular mobile network operator in 2021 for the eighth time in succession by Connect readers (issue 05/
2021) and received the top verdict of “very good” in the CHIP mobile network test. We also won awards for the mobile networks
of our national companies in Greece (Ookla) and once again in Croatia (Umlaut, Ookla). In the United States, we have the fastest
and most reliable 5G network with the best coverage (Umlaut 5G network test, Ookla 5G network test, PCMag 5G network test).
We currently cover more than 310 million people via the 600 MHz band, and over 210 million people with Ultra Capacity 5G in
the 2.5 GHz band and millimeter wave (mmWave) spectrum. This is thanks in large part to our superior spectrum position from
the business combination with Sprint.

Going forward, we will continue to invest heavily in building out SG infrastructure. For this, we need conditions to be in place
that are both fair and reliable. Our goal is to use the best-in-class integrated network infrastructure for our products and
services. To this end, we complement our own infrastructure with that of strategic partners and also consider alternative
access networks (wireline, cable, optical fiber, 4G/5G, satellites, HAPS, etc.). Our partnership with Eutelsat marks the first
of many steps in this direction, and has enabled us to offer satellite-based broadband internet in Germany since the end of
2021. The technology for this is provided by Eutelsat’s Konnect satellite, via which households in remote areas or with limited
access can benefit from powerful networks. The delivery of connectivity and services based on our own and our partners’
infrastructure is reliant on technology- and domain-agnostic orchestration capabilities. These are found in a separate technical
control layer above the actual infrastructure, which allows us to manage the “network of networks.” We are modernizing our
NT/IT architecture to ensure the necessary orchestration capabilities are in place. Our focus is on leveraging the full potential
of network automation, cloudification and disaggregation to make our production considerably faster, more flexible and more
cost-efficient. Disaggregation, or the separation of hardware and software, makes it possible to add new vendors. Today, more
than 90 % of all suppliers in our infrastructure are large, traditional companies. Going forward, we want to significantly increase
the proportion of smaller, more innovative suppliers, enabling us to integrate innovations into our networks more quickly and
flexibly and thus also making them available to our customers.
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We are adapting our production platform to meet the customer needs of the future, by building a cloud-based, scalable,
modular platform and opening up access to selected parts of this platform to third parties (e.g., service providers and app
developers) via open interfaces (APIs). Our goal is to make connectivity, services, and data (e.g., location data, connection
conditions, and user behavior) combinable with new applications as needed. The benefits of this architecture include shorter
development cycles, faster exploitation of revenue potential, more automated and significantly more cost-effective production,
scalability across business units and borders, and a substantially better customer experience by virtue of personalized digital
interactions.

Supporting areas of operation

Save for growth investments

Future growth requires adequate investment. To this end, we are investing in our own innovativeness as well as integrating
successful new developments from outside our Company. Thanks to our strict cost discipline, we generate the funds we need
to finance this investment and safeguard our competitiveness. For us, the goal of becoming Leading Digital Telco also means
being the leading telecommunications provider in terms of efficiency. The digital transformation is key to further enhancing
cost efficiency throughout our entire value chain: from the customer interface, to our production processes, through to the
management of our own infrastructure and supply chains. We will therefore systematically continue on this path of cost
transformation.

We take a value-oriented approach to managing our investment portfolio. Business areas that cannot be adequately developed
within the Group are disposed of. Consequently, we completed the sale of the 54 % stake in Telekom Romania Communications,
which operates the Romanian fixed-network business, to Orange in the reporting year. But we also believe that value orientation
means realizing value when the time is right and the conditions attractive. In this context, after reviewing strategic options,
we agreed with WP/AP Telecom Holdings IV in the reporting year to sell our subsidiary T-Mobile Netherlands. We had pursued
a clear strategy aimed at increasing T-Mobile Netherlands’ value and positioned the company as a challenger in the market.
We thus transformed it into one of Europe’s fastest-growing mobile communications companies (based on EBITDA AL). The
sale was agreed based on an enterprise value of EUR 5.1 billion, which roughly corresponds to adjusted EBITDA AL of the last
twelve months multiplied by a factor of 8.7. The transaction is subject to approval by the authorities as well as other closing
conditions. Equally, we bolster our growth ambitions by means of equity investments and acquisitions. In this context, we
agreed a share swap with SoftBank in the reporting year that increased Deutsche Telekom’s stake in T-Mobile US to 46.8 %. We
are also weighing plans to invest a portion of the proceeds from the planned sale of T-Mobile Netherlands to further increase
our stake in T-Mobile US. We expect the total stake to be around 48.4 % upon completion of these two transactions. This is
in line with our strategic decision to increase our stake in T-Mobile US to more than 50 % and secure the existing control over
the U.S. subsidiary in the long term. This marks a further milestone in our U.S. success story, where we also posted strong
operational growth in the reporting year: We further consolidated our position as #2 on the U.S. mobile communications market
in terms of customer numbers, adding 5.5 million new customers in 2021 alone. Moreover, the realization of synergies from
the business combination with Sprint is also surpassing expectations. In the reporting year, T-Mobile US realized synergies of
USD 3.8 billion versus the USD 2.9 to 3.2 billion originally planned.

Simplify, digitalize, accelerate & act responsibly

Simplicity in our offers and in our organization makes the digital transformation of our core business easier. In this way, we
increase our implementation speed — both in the interaction with customers and in the implementation of new, strategic
initiatives. This is why we want to become simpler, more digital, and ultimately more agile.

There are two main thrusts to our pursuit of simplicity. First, we want to offer our customers intuitive products and simple rate
plans, like MagentaEINS Unlimited, or MagentaTV Entertain. Going forward, we want to significantly further reduce product
complexity. Our ambition is for our services to be available around the clock via a single click. Thanks to an IP migration which
has been successfully concluded, we can now remotely perform setup and maintenance work to the line in increasingly more
households — depending on the router. The technical provisioning of nine out of ten broadband lines is already successful on
the first attempt. Second, we want our internal operation to be as efficient as possible, i.e., in terms of time and costs. We are
making promising progress with the introduction of greater agility into our IT activities. For example, in the last three years we
have more than tripled the development speed for new software or software-driven products in Germany. Today we have an
average time-to-market in Germany of 2.7 months, and in Europe of just 1.5 months. We want to cut these times even further
and achieve a time-to-market of one month in Europe and two in Germany by 2024. Above and beyond this, we will continue to
scrutinize our organization, processes, and decision-making procedures and further optimize them in future, wherever possible.
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The digitalization of our core business is helping us to improve customer experience and increase our efficiency. Our sales
and service apps are now firmly established in Germany and Europe as key digital customer interfaces and we have worked
to continually add more services. Our European national companies interact with more than 64 % of customers digitally,
via the service app. The MeinMagenta app in Germany now has a penetration rate of over 65 %. Another factor that plays
into an outstanding and, above all, personalized experience is a 360° view of our customers across all channels, both online
and offline. Magenta View is our front-end platform for all employees with direct customer contact, delivering all necessary
customer data from a single source. At the end of the reporting year, over 10,000 colleagues in Germany were already
benefiting from Magenta View. Long term, our plan is to digitalize virtually all value creation stages in their entirety. To
this end, we are systematically expanding our expertise in innovative technologies like artificial intelligence. Data-based
analyses are already helping us to maintain our hardware more proactively, understand customer needs better, and manage
our networks more efficiently. The advancing digitalization is also influencing our own approach to collaboration. We had
already successfully introduced mobile working even before the coronavirus pandemic struck, and in 2020 together with
the employees’ representatives adopted a “Manifesto on the new way of working.” Our goal is to optimize our collaborative
activities by combining the best of both worlds (mobile and on-site working). And because it is important to give our employees
guidance as they navigate the world of virtual and hybrid working, we also offer targeted training opportunities. In 2021, for
instance, we delivered over 31,000 training sessions on tools designed to improve virtual collaboration. Among our employees,
acceptance for digital tools has risen further: 86 % feel that digital tools support them in daily collaborative work (+4 %
compared with the pulse survey in November 2020).

However, simplicity and digitalization also call for new organizational forms, expertise, and a cultural change. We took action
to further improve our customer centricity, which included reorganizing customer service with the Team of Experts approach
in Germany and the United States. The assignment of the teams of customer service experts to a geographic region has two
major benefits: first, it brings us even closer to the customer, and, second, the interdisciplinary teams allow us to provide help
faster than before. However, in the digital age we need to build up new skills that will enable us to meet current and future
challenges. In 2021, we offered more “Explorer journeys” — programs addressing specific innovation topics — than ever, with
the goal of equipping as many employees as possible with the skills that will be needed in the future. Around 6,000 employees
signed up for programs in 2021 on topics such as big data, digital marketing, artificial intelligence, or software development.
With our Youlearn initiative — aimed at entrenching self-paced learning in our everyday working life — we continued to drive
forward our employees’ options for upgrading their skills. What is more, we provide our employees with a high-quality training
service in the form of Percipio (an intelligent learning platform also dubbed the “Netflix of learning”) and Coursera (a provider
of digital further-training courses offered by top-ranking universities). The more than 180,000 Percipio registrations since
the third quarter of 2019 show that our efforts have been worthwhile. Providing a state-of-the-art learning environment
and protecting the health and well-being of our employees is central to our role as an employer committed to responsible
action. Our coronavirus vaccination campaign was very well received, with a total of 45,500 appointments taken up for first,
second, and mix-and-match vaccinations. Also in the reporting year we introduced the option for employees to increase their
participation in the Company’s success via the Shares2You employee share program. All employees at participating Group
companies have the opportunity to invest in Deutsche Telekom AG shares once a year. We match every two shares purchased
with one free share. More than 36,000 employees took part in the Shares2You program in 2021. That our efforts are paying off
is validated by our employee satisfaction levels: The question on Mood is comparable to the former question on Satisfaction
and, as before, remains at the very high level of 80 %. [_ai s0G8 ] [ #% EMPLOYEES |

In parallel, we fulfill our responsibility to society by systematically aligning our core business processes with the principle of
sustainability. We have expanded our existing climate strategy to include a new Group program: Our aim with #GreenMagenta
is to make a meaningful contribution toward protecting the climate and conserving resources. We have taken back over
2.2 million devices either to refurbish or to send directly for recycling, so that we and our customers actively help conserve
resources and protect the climate. Moreover, in 2020 we introduced a sustainability standard for our packaging, removing
single-use plastics in favor of recyclable materials and environmentally friendly colorings. All new Telekom-branded (or
“T-branded”) devices and already more than 60 % of the new packaging for smartphones that we source from our suppliers
meet these criteria. Since 2021,100 % of our electricity requirements for all Group units have been met from renewable sources.
We plan to become twice as energy efficient by 2024, based on the data volume in the network in relation to the power
consumed in this context. To help us achieve this goal, we are decommissioning legacy platforms — including PSTN, migrating
to more efficient technology — such as the switch from 3G to 5G, using highly efficient data centers, and deploying Al. From a
long-term perspective, we will also achieve savings from the migration from copper to fiber-optic technology. These measures
will enable us to maintain stable power consumption in Germany and Europe through 2024, despite rapidly rising data volumes,
growing numbers of active network components, and the further densification of our networks. Above and beyond this, we
are supporting a responsible approach to digitalization. Our #GoodMagenta label denotes projects, programs, and initiatives
that make a positive contribution to social and societal challenges in the digital world, for instance, our campaigns for civil
courage online (#TAKEPART — No hate speech) and digital democracy projects (dabei-geschichten.telekom.com/en/home/).

[ sDG13] [ ENVIRONMENT ][ 3 SDG16 | [ @ RELATIONSHIPS |
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Our strategy is expressed succinctly in our goal to become the Leading Digital Telco:

= We want to be a leader in terms of digital living and working, and in the implementation of advances in productivity for our
business customers. Because only when we lead can we grow and meet the demands of our investors in the long term.

m We want to better utilize our existing assets and skills not only in our core business, but also to develop new, digital business
models (Magenta Advantage).

= The key technical driver for our growth areas is “Telco as a platform”: the best integrated network infrastructure — provided
by us and by partners — as well as cloud-based customer and network-service platforms. The basis for this is and remains our
ongoing commitment to building out the fiber-optic and 5G networks.

= We promote continued growth by carefully managing our financial resources and systematically transforming the Company
to be simple, digital, and agile in every sense.

= We play a responsible and active role in society. We are a partner, not just at a societal level, but also at a political one,

and we work in the interests of ensuring the open, forward-looking development of all countries in which we are active.
[ @i SDG8 | [ RELATIONSHIPS |

Management of the Group

We are committed to the concept of value-oriented corporate governance. We want to strike a balance between the
contrasting expectations of our stakeholders so that sufficient funding is available for an attractive dividend, deleveraging,
responsible staff restructuring, and new investment in a positive and sustainable customer experience.

m Shareholders expect an appropriate, reliable return on their capital employed.

= Providers of debt capital expect an appropriate return and that Deutsche Telekom is able to repay its debts.

= Employees expect jobs that are secure, prospects for the future, and that any necessary staff restructuring will be done in a
responsible manner.

= “Entrepreneurs within the enterprise” expect sufficient investment funding to be able to shape Deutsche Telekom’s future
business and develop products, innovations, and services for the customer.

m Society expects us to do everything within our power to protect the environment, encourage a fair and democratic co-
existence, and shape the digital transformation in a responsible manner. [ & S0617 ] [ RELATIONSHIPS |

Finance strategy

We announced our finance strategy for the years 2021 through 2024 at the Capital Markets Day in May 2021. Deutsche Telekom
continues to pursue an attractive and reliable finance strategy. Through 2024, we want to further accelerate our forecast for
growth from the past few years.

For the period from 2021 to 2024, our planning is based on the following level of ambition:

Free cash flow AL? Adjusted earnings per share ROCE
billions of € €/share® %°
CAGR®=+30 % 1 CAGR°=+10 % 1 CAGR®=+9 % 1
>18 >1.75 >6.5
1.20 4.6

6.3

2020 2024e 2020 2024e 2020 2024e
= Main driver: Sprint transaction = Steady growth from 2021 = Increase in ROCE on both sides

in the United States of the Atlantic

Dividend: between 40 and 60 % of adjusted earnings per share

Dividend floor: € 0.60 per share

@ Before dividend payments and spectrum investment.
b Assuming constant exchange rates.
¢ Compound annual growth rate.
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We also expect revenue to increase by an average of 1to 2 % per year and adjusted EBITDA AL by an average of 3to S %.

Another part of our finance strategy is to achieve our target financial ratios — relative debt (ratio of net debt to adjusted EBITDA)
and equity ratio — along with a liquidity reserve that covers our maturities of the coming 24 months at least. With these clear
statements we intend to maintain our rating in a corridor from A- to BBB and safeguard undisputed access to the capital market.

There is a sustainable dividend policy for shareholders, which is subject to approval by the relevant bodies and the fulfillment
of other legal requirements. Starting from the 2021 financial year, the amount of the dividend is based on a dividend payout
ratio of 40 to 60 % of adjusted earnings per share, with a lower limit fixed at EUR 0.60 per dividend-bearing share. For the
2021 financial year, we intend to propose a dividend of EUR 0.64 for each dividend-bearing share. This equates to 52.46 % of
adjusted earnings per share. We thus offer our shareholders both an attractive return and planning reliability. As in previous
years the dividend for the 2021 financial year will once again be paid out without deduction of capital gains tax.

We will also take share buy-backs into consideration.

Total capital expenditure is also to remain high in the next few years. The scope for investment is to be used to further
roll out our broadband infrastructure and to accelerate the transformation of the Company. In mobile communications, the
infrastructure build-out will focus on the LTE and SG standards and, in the fixed network, mainly on our accelerated fiber-optic
build-out. The finance strategy supports the transformation of our Group into the Leading Digital Telco. In order to generate
a sustainable increase in value, we intend to earn at least our cost of capital. We plan to meet this target by optimizing the
utilization of our non-current assets on the one hand, and pursuing strict cost discipline and profitable revenue growth on a
sustainable basis, on the other.

Our finance strategy through 2024

Shareholders’ equity Leading Digital Telco — ROCE > WACC

Reliable shareholder Clow Undisputed access
remuneration policy Lead in digital Lead in business Magenta to debt capital markets
life & work productivity Advantage
= Dividend® = Rating

e O.é4/s.hare i 2021 Best convergent Software-defined, New business A-toBBB

(payoutin 2022) networks+ & secure, global networks, models based on = Net debt/adjusted EBITDA ®
® This dividend is to amount to perfect service loT & digitalization DT assets 22510 2.75x

between 40 and 60 % of adjusted

earnings per share = Equity ratio
= Floor at € 0.60/share 25t0 35 %

Build & scale Telco as a platform

Best-in-class integrated network infrastructure — DT & partners

= Buy-backs ) = Liquidity resgrye .
taken into consideration Cloud-based customer and network-service platforms gzvers Thatumnes of coming
months

Save for growth investments

Simplify, digitalize, accelerate & act responsibly

@ Subject to approval by the relevant bodies and the fulfillment of other legal requirements.
b Deviation from the target range for a short period as a result of the business combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint until year-end 2024.

Performance management system

In order to set and achieve our strategic goals more effectively, we pursue a Group-wide, value-oriented performance
management approach. We use a specific set of performance indicators to reliably and transparently measure success. The
following tables and information provide an overview of our key financial and non-financial performance indicators.
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Financial performance indicators

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
ROCE % 41 4.6 54 4.7 5.8
Net revenue billions of € 108.8 101.0 80.5 75.7 749
Service revenue?® billions of € 841 789 n.a. n.a. n.a.
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) billions of € 131 12.8 9.5 8.0 94
EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors)® billions of € 37.3 35.0 24.7 231 n.a.
Earnings per share (adjusted for special factors) € 1.22 1.20 1.04 0.96 1.28
Free cash flow AL (before dividend payments
and spectrum investment)b’ ¢ billions of € 8.8 6.3 70 61 n.a.
Cash capex (before spectrum investment) billions of € (18.0) (17.0) (13 (12.2) (122
Rating (Standard & Poor’s, Fitch) BBB, BBB+ BBB, BBB+ BBB+ BBB+ BBB+
Rating (Moody’s) Baal Baal Baal Baal Baal

@ The definition of “service revenue” was not applied consistently Group-wide for the years prior to 2020.

b Comparatives for 2018 were calculated on a pro forma basis for the key performance indicators redefined as of January 1, 2019 following the introduction
of the IFRS 16 accounting standard.

¢ Before interest payments for zero-coupon bonds and before termination of forward-payer swaps at T-Mobile US (both in 2020).

Profitability

We have incorporated sustainable growth in enterprise value into our medium-term aims and implemented it as a separate
key performance indicator (KPI) for the entire Group. Return on capital employed (ROCE) is a key performance indicator at
Group level. ROCE is the ratio of operating result after depreciation, amortization and impairment losses plus imputed taxes
(net operating profit after taxes, NOPAT) to the average value of the assets tied up in the course of the year (net operating
assets, NOA).

Our goal is to achieve or exceed the return targets imposed on us by providers of debt capital and equity on the basis of capital
market requirements. We measure return targets using the weighted average cost of capital (WACC).

NOPAT is an earnings indicator derived from the income statement, taking an imputed tax expense into consideration. It does
not include cost of capital.

NOA includes all assets that make a direct contribution to revenue generation. These include all elements on the asset side
of the consolidated statement of financial position that are essential to the rendering of services. To this is added operating
working capital, calculated from trade receivables, inventories, and trade and other payables. The figure for “other provisions”
is deducted as no return target exists for this.

Revenue and earnings

Revenue corresponds to the value of our operating activities. Absolute revenue depends on how well we are able to sell our
products and services on the market. The development of our revenue is an essential indicator for measuring the Company’s
success. New products and services as well as additional sales activities are only successful if they increase revenue. Service
revenue is the revenue that is generated by services (i.e., revenue from fixed-network and mobile voice calls — incoming
and outgoing calls — as well as data services) plus roaming revenue, monthly basic charges and visitor revenue, as well as
revenue generated from the ICT business. Service revenue is an important indicator for the successful implementation of
the growth strategy of the Group and essentially comprises high-value - i.e., predictable and/or recurring — revenues from
Deutsche Telekom’s core activities.

A reconciliation of net revenue disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, including its breakdown into revenue
categories, to the “service revenue” financial performance indicator can be found in the following table:

billions of €

2021
Net revenue 108.8
Revenue from the sale of goods and merchandise (19.6)
Revenue from the use of entity assets by others 4.1
Revenue from the rendering of services 851
+/- Reconciliation to service revenue as financial performance indicator
Adjustment of revenue from the rendering of services? 2.2)
Adjustment of revenue from the sale of goods and merchandise® 0.3
Adjustment of revenue from the use of other entity assets by others® 09
Service revenue 841

@ The definition of “service revenue” does not include, in particular: revenues from valued-added services, revenues from application and contract services,
and other non-recurring/variable revenues.

b Relates to revenues from the sale of hardware in connection with the ICT business.
¢ Primarily relates to revenues from wholesale business (e.g., in connection with unbundled local loops (ULL) and co-location spaces).
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We measure our operating earnings performance on the basis of adjusted EBITDA AL, i.e., EBITDA adjusted for depreciation
of right-of-use assets, for interest expenses on recognized lease liabilities, and for special factors. And EBITDA is calculated
as EBIT (profit/loss from operations) before depreciation, amortization and impairment losses on intangible assets, property,
plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets. Both metrics indicate the short-term operational performance and the success of
individual business areas. Special factors have an impact on the presentation of operations, making it more difficult to compare
performance indicators with corresponding figures for prior periods. For this reason, we adjust our performance indicators to
provide transparency. Without this adjustment, statements about the future development of earnings are only possible to a
limited extent. The further inclusion of unadjusted EBIT/EBITDA AL as performance indicators means special factors are also
taken into account. This promotes a holistic view of our expenses. In addition to these absolute indicators, we also use the EBIT
and EBITDA AL margins to show how these indicators develop in relation to revenue. This makes it possible to compare the
earnings performance of profit-oriented units of different sizes.

| For the calculation of EBITDA AL, EBIT, and net profit/loss adjusted for special factors, please refer to the section “Development of business in the Group.”

Adjusted earnings per share is calculated as adjusted net profit divided by the time-weighted number of all ordinary shares
outstanding, which is determined by deducting the weighted average number of treasury shares held by Deutsche Telekom AG.

Financial flexibility

Free cash flow AL (before dividend payments and spectrum investment) is calculated as net cash from operating activities less
net cash outflows for investments in intangible assets (excluding goodwill) and property, plant and equipment, as well as the
principal portion of repayment of lease liabilities — excluding finance leases at T-Mobile US. Free cash flow AL is a key yardstick
for providers of debt capital and equity. It measures the potential for further developing our Company, for generating organic
growth, and for the ability to pay dividends and repay debt.

Cash capex (before spectrum investment) relates to cash outflows for investments in intangible assets (excluding goodwill)
and property, plant and equipment, which are relevant for cash outflows as a component of free cash flow.

A rating is an assessment or classification of the creditworthiness of debt securities and their issuer according to uniform
criteria. The assessment of creditworthiness by ratings agencies affects access to the capital markets and to the international
finance markets, and refinancing costs. As part of our finance policy, we have defined a target range for our ratings. We believe
that with a rating between A- and BBB (Standard & Poor’s, Fitch) or between A3 and Baa2 (Moody’s) we essentially have the
necessary entry to the capital markets to generate the required financing.

Non-financial performance indicators

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Customer satisfaction (TRI*M index) 73.4 72.2 67.3 67.7 68.6
Employee satisfaction
(commitment score)? 77 4.0 4.0 41 41
Energy consumptionbv ¢ GWh 13,323 12,843 9,324 9,224 8,943
CO3 emissions (Scope 1and 2)¢ 9 kt CO2e 247 2,512 1,797 2,354 2,896
Fixed-network and mobile customers
Mobile customers® millions 248.2 241.5 184.0 178.4 168.4
Fixed-network lines millions 2641 274 27.5 279 279
Broadband customers 9 millions 21.6 217 21.0 20.2 18.9
Systems Solutions
Order entry" millions of € 4174 4,564 4,740 6,776 5,241

@ Commitment score determined on the basis of the employee surveys carried out in 2021, 2019, and 2017. In 2021, we changed from a scale of 1to 5 for the
commitment score (previously the “commitment index”) to a scale of O to 100.

o

Energy consumption, mainly: electricity, fuel, other fossil fuels, district heating for buildings.

o

Information for the previous years (2017 to 2020) was taken from the non-financial statements for the years in question, which were reviewed in the form of
a limited assurance engagement. This information was not part of the statutory audit of Deutsche Telekom’s consolidated financial statements and
combined management report.

=%

Calculated according to the market-based method of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol.

®

Including T-Mobile US wholesale customers.

Excluding wholesale.

e}

Starting in the second quarter of 2018, we no longer report the number of broadband lines from a technical perspective. Instead, we report the number of
broadband customers. The figures for 2017 were adjusted retrospectively.

" Order entry for the 2019 financial year was adjusted retrospectively in connection with the realignment of the B2B telecommunications business.
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We want our customers to be satisfied — or even delighted — as satisfied customers act as multipliers for our Company’s
success. As a responsible, service-oriented company, the needs and opinions of our customers are of great importance to us,
and we want them to stay with our Company in the long term. For this reason we measure customer retention/satisfaction in
our companies using the globally recognized TRI*M method. The results of systematic surveys are expressed by an indicator
known as the TRI*M index. To underscore the significance of customer retention/satisfaction for our operating business, the
performance of Board of Management members and eligible managers is now also being tracked and incentivized by means
of the long-term variable remuneration (Long-Term Incentive Plan). This KPI, as one of four target parameters, has been
relevant for Variable Il since 2010, as well as for the Long-Term Incentive Plan which was launched in 2015, and in which the
Board of Management has participated since 2021. We take the TRI*M indexes calculated for the operating entities (excluding
T-Mobile US) as an approximation of the respective entities’ percentage of total revenue to create an aggregate TRI*M Group
value. This allows Board members and eligible managers to benefit from the development of customer retention/satisfaction
across the Group.

| For further information on customer satisfaction, please refer to the section “Group strategy.”

Our employees want to contribute to the further development of the Company and identify with it. We want to pursue open
dialog and productive exchange with our employees. New working models and state-of-the-art communication options, as
well as regular employee surveys, help us to accomplish this. The most important feedback instruments across the Group
(excluding T-Mobile US) for assessing employee satisfaction include regular employee surveys and the pulse survey carried
out twice a year. In our Company, we measure the employee satisfaction performance indicator using the commitment score
— derived from the results of the last employee survey. The questionnaire and the measurement model were reviewed in the
context of the 2021 employee survey and were updated based on feedback and the latest research findings. As part of this
process, we changed the scale used for the commitment score (formerly the “commitment index”) to 1to 100, instead of the 1
to 5 we had previously used. [asp6s | [_#emMplovEes ] |n view of the major significance of employee satisfaction for the success
of the Company, the performance of Board of Management members and eligible managers is now also being tracked and
incentivized by means of the long-term variable remuneration (Long-Term Incentive Plan). Employee feedback, as one of four
target parameters, has been relevant for Variable Il since 2010, as well as for the Long-Term Incentive Plan which was launched
in 2015, and in which the Board of Management has participated since 2021. This allows Board of Management members and
eligible managers to benefit from the development of employee satisfaction across the Group.

| For further information about employee satisfaction, please refer to the section “Employees.”

[©@ s0673] [ X ENIRONMENT | Climate change and the destruction of the environment are existential threats to the world. Companies
must therefore significantly increase their energy and resource efficiency and restrict their absolute energy consumption. This
issue is ever more relevant for providers of information and communications technology (ICT). There is a general expectation
on the ICT sector to continue building out the telecommunications network while, at the very least, keeping basic consumption
stable in the medium term or even reducing it going forward. For over 20 years, Deutsche Telekom has recorded environmental,
social, and governance (ESG) data and performance indicators, which are used first and foremost to calculate our Group-wide
ESG KPIs, on the basis of which we measure and manage our CR performance. The non-financial performance indicator energy
consumption is a record of the energy consumed in connection with the operation of our actual business model. We constantly
monitor progress regarding our medium-term goal to keep energy consumption at least stable, and can make adjustments
where necessary. To this end, we invest in measures and programs to conserve energy from all sources. At the same time,
this goal plays into how we optimize and innovate for our future infrastructure, and calls for the use of innovative technology
components. In living up to our responsibility to conserve resources and protect the climate, we also run various initiatives that
aim to reduce the CO, emissions generated as part of our business activities. These initiatives include the sustained use of
100 % green electricity, optimizing power consumption in our buildings, and gradually transitioning our Group fleet vehicles
from fossil fuels to zero- or low-emission power sources. We measure our progress in this regard on the basis of the CO,
emissions (Scope 1 and 2) non-financial performance indicator. Given the major significance of these two ESG targets, since
2021 the performance of Board of Management members has also been tracked and incentivized by means of the annual
variable remuneration.

| For further information on these and other ESG KPIs, please refer to the section “Corporate responsibility and non-financial statement.”

As one of the leading providers of telecommunications and information technology worldwide, the development of our Group
—and thus also our financial performance indicators — is closely linked to the development of customer figures. Acquiring and
retaining customers are thus essential to the success of our Company. We have different ways of measuring the development
of our customer figures according to the business activity in our operating segments: Depending on the activities of each
segment, we measure the number of mobile customers and/or the number of broadband customers and fixed-network lines.
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In our Systems Solutions operating segment, we use order entry as a non-financial performance indicator. We define and
calculate order entry as the total of all amounts resulting from customer orders received in the financial year. Order entry in the
form of long-term contracts is of great significance to the Group in order to estimate revenue potential. In other words, order
entry is an indicator that provides a high degree of planning reliability.

Impact of the coronavirus pandemic on our business and our key performance indicators

The global economy recovered from the coronavirus crisis in 2021, however, economic development continues to be impacted
by its aftermath. The coronavirus pandemic affected our business activities and financial performance indicators in several
of our business areas, impacting on revenues and earnings. For example, temporary travel restrictions have resulted in lower
roaming and visitor revenues in our operating segments, while our terminal equipment business felt the bite of temporary shop
closures. At the same time, we recorded an increase in the volume of voice calls, both in mobile communications and in the
fixed network, and higher demand for mobile data as a result of hybrid working.

Our non-financial performance indicators also revealed in the reporting year that the coronavirus pandemic had a formative
effect on how we collaborate. We successfully built on our experience in recent months and put proactive measures in place
that have been reflected in our employees’ outstanding performance and record levels of employee satisfaction (commitment
score). Our customer numbers profited in the reporting year from the re-opening of shops after the imposition of coronavirus-
induced temporary closures both in the previous year and in early 2021. This was reflected in the development of customer
numbers in our operating segments.

Based on experience so far, the coronavirus pandemic is expected to only impact our business to a limited extent going forward.

The economic environment

Macroeconomic development

In 2021, the global economy recovered from the coronavirus-induced crisis, although economic development is still feeling the
reverberations. The decline in the number of new infections and the fast progress made with the vaccination rollout led to a
strong upswing in consumer spending in the advanced economies in spring of 2021. Despite this, the delivery and capacity
bottlenecks that began to materialize at the start of 2021 led to disruptions in global value chains and slowed industrial output
in many countries. Rising global demand, coupled with delivery constraints on the supply side, is driving a dramatic spike in
producer and consumer prices.

The International Monetary Fund (IMF) projects a 5.9 % increase in world economic output for 2021. The economies of our core
markets, too, have recovered from the effects of the coronavirus pandemic. GDP in Germany increased by 2.7 % year-on-year,
although growth slowed significantly towards the end of 2021 owing to delivery bottlenecks, supply shortages, and the fresh
wave of infections. Rising producer prices, delivery bottlenecks, and higher consumer spending drove soaring inflation across
many parts of the world in the second half of 2021.

The Bitkom-ifo-Digitalindex, calculated on the basis of the business situation and expectations, brightened substantially in the
first half of 2021 before tapering off to some extent in the second half. The business climate in the ICT sector remained relatively
buoyant compared with the economy as a whole.

In the United States, the economy grew by 5.7 % in the reporting year, already returning to its pre-pandemic level in the second
quarter of 2021. The substantial increase in consumer spending was the major driver of this growth. The U.S. labor market
recovered in 2021 from the coronavirus-induced slump, although unemployment rates remained at a higher level than before
the crisis. Consumer prices rose sharply year-on-year in 2021, mainly due to delivery bottlenecks, higher energy prices, and
rising rents. In response to the strengthening economic activity, the U.S. Federal Reserve tapered its bond-buying at the end
of 2021, signaling a likely rise in interest rates in the near future. Despite higher numbers of new coronavirus cases in some
countries, the national economies of our Europe operating segment also posted substantial growth in economic output and
declining non-employment rates. The central banks of Hungary, the Czech Republic, and Poland have raised interest rates in an
effort to curtail high inflation.
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The following table shows the GDP growth rate trends and the unemployment/non-employment rates in our most important
markets. The unemployment rate for Germany and the non-employment rates for the other countries are presented in
conformance with ILO standards.

%

Estimated

GDP estimate Unemployment/  Unemployment/ unemployment/

GDP for 2019 GDP for 2020 for 2021 non- non- non-

compared compared compared employment employment employment

with 2018 with 2019 with 2020 rate in 2019 rate in 2020 rate in 2021

Germany 11 4.6) 2.7 5.0 59 5.7
United States 2.3 (3.4) 5.7 3.7 77 5.5
Greece 1.8 (9.0) 71 179 17.6 15.3
Romania 4.2 (3.7) 7.0 39 5.0 5.0
Hungary 4.6 4.7 7.4 3.3 41 44
Poland 47 (2.5) 49 3.3 3.2 3.3
Czech Republic 3.0 (5.8) 3.0 2.0 2.6 2.7
Croatia 3.5 (EX)] 8.1 6.6 75 6.7
Netherlands 2.0 (3.8) 4.0 3.4 3.8 3.5
Slovakia 2.6 4.9 3.8 5.8 6.7 6.8
Austria 1.5 6.7) 4.4 4.8 6.0 5.0

Source: Eurostat, European Commission, national authorities. Last revised: January 2022.

Telecommunications market

Demand for high-speed broadband — over the fixed and mobile networks — remains high. According to estimates by Analysys
Mason, data traffic over the fixed network grew by 25 % worldwide in 2021 and mobile data traffic by 37 %. The coronavirus
pandemic in particular brought home the fundamental role that resilient, high-performing broadband infrastructure plays in
the digital transformation. Numerous countries have announced ambitious build-out targets. In March 2021, the European
Commission published new connectivity targets under which all households in the European Union (EU) should have a gigabit-
capable line and all populated areas should be covered by 5G by 2030. According to a study by Boston Consulting Group,
investments totaling EUR 300 billion will be needed to make this goal a reality.

Digitalization and broadband infrastructure are also major factors in the coronavirus stimulus packages. In February 2021,
agreement was reached within the EU on the creation of the Recovery and Resilience Facility allocated with EUR 672.5 billion
as the central pillar of the NextGenerationEU recovery plan. At least 20 % of the funds flowing to member states are earmarked
for digital transition projects. Further numerous funding initiatives at national level were launched to support the broadband
build-out and the digital transformation. For example, in November 2021 the United States Congress passed a comprehensive
infrastructure subsidies program, which will provide USD 65 billion for broadband infrastructure deployments and aims to
boost demand for broadband services.

The telecommunications industry continues to be characterized by intense competition. Consumers benefit from a greater
range of products to choose from. In the fixed network, established telecommunications companies are competing intensively
with cable network operators, city network operators, and resellers, who predominantly make use of regulated wholesale
products. Financial investors are increasingly providing money for the build-out of regional and supra-regional fiber-optic
networks. In addition, internet companies with over-the-top (OTT) communication services are further intensifying the
competitive pressure. Moreover, three or four mobile carriers operate in each of our markets using their own network
infrastructure. On top of this, we are seeing MVNOs becoming established in many markets using the network infrastructure of
traditional mobile network operators.

Germany

In the Bundesnetzagentur’s Activity Report, published in December 2021, the agency reported year-on-year growth in revenue
from telecommunications services, pay TV, and IT services in Germany in the reporting year, mainly driven by the first signs
of economic recovery following the negative impact of the coronavirus pandemic. The increase in revenue was predominantly
due to the growth in mobile telecommunications services. Revenue from fixed-network services, including television, also
increased, although at a slower rate.
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According to the Bundesnetzagentur, the number of broadband lines in Germany had risen by 0.8 % to 36.5 million by the end
of the first half of 2021. For 2022, Analysys Mason forecasts further growth of 2.2 % in the number of broadband lines. High-
bandwidth lines are increasingly marketed in cable and VDSL/vectoring networks. The offerings in this area are supported by
fiber-optic lines and innovative hybrid connection technologies. The availability of high bandwidths in Germany and the large
choice of HD content and video-on-demand services are stimulating customer growth in IPTV business. Providers are recording
growth in broadband revenue driven by rising customer numbers in addition to higher revenues per customer for broadband
products and triple-play bundles comprising telephony, a broadband line, and TV service. The trend for convergent product
bundles comprising fixed-network and mobile offerings (FMC) also continued.

Service revenue in the German mobile communications market increased slightly compared with 2020, driven mainly by the
uninterrupted upswing in data usage, which grew by 54 % (source: Analysys Mason). This additional demand for higher-value
rate plans and devices offset revenue declines from dwindling international roaming traffic owing to weaker international
travel, as well as regulatory effects and sustained high price pressure and intense competition. Mobile data usage continues
to increase strongly on the back of growing use of products such as mobile video apps. The availability of next-generation
5G mobile technology also expanded rapidly in 2021. The percentage of voice and data rate plans is rising steadily. Traditional
voice and text messaging services are increasingly being replaced by free IP messaging services like WhatsApp and social
networks like Facebook. Connected products such as smartphones and tablets, as well as other connected wearables such as
watches and fitness trackers, are growing ever more popular, pushing up demand for high-speed mobile broadband, large data
volumes, and extra SIM cards in the rate plan portfolios.

Digitalization is continuing apace, and as a result there is also growing demand by the industry for more connectivity to allow
machines and production sites to be networked and to tap efficiencies in value chains. Extensive IT and cloud solutions, as well
as intelligent approaches to M2M communication are needed in order to meet these demands.

United States

In the United States, the ongoing coronavirus pandemic has led to continued demand for broadband services, both in fixed
and mobile services. Broadband adoption in the retail sector benefited from over USD 10 billion in pandemic-related funding
for consumers, schools, and libraries. The pandemic has also accelerated the adoption of digital services, leading to increased
demand for enterprise ICT services.

To meet rising demand, operators are investing heavily in both fixed and mobile networks in urban, suburban and, increasingly,
in rural areas. As part of their infrastructure expansion, telecommunications providers have announced plans to significantly
invest in fiber-optic networks. AT&T announced in early 2021 that it planned to increase its fiber-optic footprint by an additional
3 million customer locations across more than 90 metro areas. Verizon, as well, plans to continue fiber deployments as do
smaller providers. Frontier, a fixed-line provider, aims to cover 10 million premises by 2025, up from é million originally planned.
Similarly, in 2021, regional provider Windstream began a program for the rollout of fiber to the premises (FTTP).

Wireless providers, too, have continued to heavily invest in the deployment of SG networks in the United States. All three
national mobile operators — AT&T, T-Mobile US, and Verizon — claim SG wireless connections across the United States. At
year-end 2021, T-Mobile US announced that its own 5G network covered 310 million people via the 600 MHz band, and
over 210 million people with Ultra Capacity 5G in the 2.5 GHz band and millimeter wave (mmWave) spectrum. AT&T said in
July 2021 that its SG network reached more than 250 million people across the country. Verizon’s low-band mobile 5G service
covers more than 230 million people in the United States. Operators are also increasingly offering fixed wireless services in
competition with established cable operators and internet service providers (ISP) and in areas where traditional broadband
connections are not available. Of the large providers, Verizon and T-Mobile US, in particular, are investing in SG fixed wireless,
with T-Mobile US’ offering being available to more than 30 million households nationwide and Verizon’s in 62 cities across the
United States. Additional facilities-based competition could come from DISH, which continues to build its SG network. The
U.S. Federal Communications Commission (FCC) obligations require DISH to offer 5G broadband service to at least 20 % of
the U.S. population and to deploy a core network by no later than June 14, 2022. The FCC continued to allocate spectrum for
5G deployments, including licenses in the 3.5 GHz band and in the 3.7 GHz band. Another auction for 100 MHz of spectrum in
the 3.45 to 3.55 GHz band started in early October 2021 and was completed at the end of January 2022. A further auction of
spectrum in the 2.5 to 2.7 GHz band is expected to take place in 2022.
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The expansion of infrastructure in the United States will benefit from additional government subsidies programs over the
coming years. This includes the Rural Digital Opportunity Fund (RDOF): The FCC plans to provide USD 20.4 billion for
broadband infrastructure deployments in unserved and underserved areas of the United States over the next ten years. A
Phase 1 auction was completed in September 2020 and will provide USD 9.2 billion in build-out support in unserved areas. The
timeline for the Phase 2 auction has yet to be determined. Further support will come in the amount of USD 65 billion allocated
by legislation passed by the U.S. Congress in September 2021. Congress has appropriated USD 42.45 billion to be allocated in
grants to states to support broadband infrastructure, mapping, and adoption. A further USD 14.2 billion will be used to make
broadband adoption more affordable. USD 2.75 billion will be allocated toward digital equity and inclusion programs.

Europe

Early in the reporting year, the traditional telecommunications markets in our Europe segment were affected in particular by the
coronavirus pandemic, which resulted, among other effects, in a year-on-year decline in mobile roaming revenues due to travel
restrictions. Full and partial lockdowns in our footprint countries over the course of the year led to the temporary closure of
shops and other measures. Public life moved online to a large extent driving a corresponding increase in demand for broadband
and TV services. According to Analysys Mason, fixed-network business (excluding systems solutions business) reflected this
trend with slight growth and was able to offset the decline in revenues from voice telephony. Mobile business also performed
slightly better than in the prior year, with revenues also up overall year-on-year.

Market players in our European footprint continued their merger acquisition activities in the reporting year on a level equaling
that seen prior to the outbreak of the coronavirus crisis. For instance, in Greece the United Group acquired Forthnet/Nova and
is also expected to acquire Wind Hellas in the first half of 2022. In Poland, the Iliad Group acquired Play and is expected to
acquire UPC PL in the first half of 2022. In Hungary, Digi announced plans to sell its Hungarian fixed-network, mobile, and pay
TV business to the Hungarian ICT group, 4iG. In Romania, Orange acquired OTE’s 54 % stake in Telekom Romania effective
September 30, 2021. Activities relating to the acquisition of spectrum licenses were restrained on the markets in the reporting
year. However, the activities of the cell tower businesses picked up pace. For example, the Polish companies Play and Polkomtel
both reached agreements on cell tower business with Cellnex.

Convergent bundle offerings consisting of fixed-network and mobile services (FMC) are now established in our markets and
consistently post high growth rates. Analysys Mason expects the number of FMC customers and revenues to grow year-on-
year, underpinned by further acquisitions in selected European markets such as Greece or Croatia on the one hand, and on the
other by the further development of existing retail offerings to address specific target groups, such as Proximus in Belgium,
and innovative advantage bundles, such as MagentaOne in our national companies. These integrated convenience packages
are enjoying sustained strong growth in our companies and frequently address the majority of consumers, which is having a
positive impact on customer satisfaction, churn rates, and revenue growth.

Subscription-based streaming services such as Netflix and Prime Video still only have limited potential for substituting
traditional pay TV in the markets of our Europe operating segment. Analysys Mason puts the share at around just 10 %. This
is attributable to two effects: Firstly, the prices for these services are not (or only marginally) adapted to the local purchasing
power, i.e., the price levels are generally the same internationally. Secondly, successful offerings, like Disney+, are either
unavailable in most of our markets or only offer partial language content localization, thus narrowing their appeal to smaller
sections of the population. Despite this, the appeal of this business model, which will continue to develop in our markets,
is evidenced by the year-on-year trend: according to Analysys Mason, revenues with streaming services in Europe and the
customer base both posted strong growth.

For the second year in succession, our B2B operations in Europe felt the effects of the pandemic. The lockdowns and major
restrictions that dominated the first half of 2021 were followed in the second half of the year by delivery bottlenecks and supply
shortages, which led to uncertainty in a disproportionately large number of industries. The success of business in Europe is now
showing clear signs of heavy reliance on other continents and a need for dependable logistics. This led to some investments
being pushed back to the next financial year as a matter of precaution. Despite this, demand grew in 2021 for solutions for
mobile working and collaborating, video-conferencing systems, and more cost-efficient system landscapes in the cloud or loT
world. In virtually all European markets, public-sector employees were supplied with equipment for mobile working. Large
companies also followed the trend in 2021 for future-proofing their system landscapes, e.g., with Microsoft Azure and similar
solutions. A large number of small and medium-sized businesses began digitalizing their data back-up processes and ramping
up their presence in the digital economy via online marketing and web shops.
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Systems Solutions

In the information technology (IT) industry in our core market of Western Europe, the volume that can be addressed by our
Systems Solutions operating segment and the T-Systems brand increased by 4.3 % in the reporting year to EUR 157 billion.
The effects of the global pandemic have positively affected IT customer spending. Many companies launched digitalization
projects; for instance, home workstations were set up to enable employees to work remotely in virtually all industries.

In Germany, in terms of IT services, demand has grown further for public cloud services and cybersecurity services, as has
the importance of digitalization (including Industry 4.0) and machine-to-machine communication (M2M). The security market
addressed by T-Systems grew by 11.9 % in 2021. The health sector also developed positively, posting double-digit growth rates
in areas including telehealth and the healthcare cloud. By contrast, growth in demand slowed in the market segments for
traditional infrastructure, project business, and SAP services.

Competitive and price pressure persisted in all submarkets of our Systems Solutions operating segment. This was due on the
one hand to competitors from traditional IT services business, such as IBM, Atos, and Capgemini, and on the other to cloud
providers such as Amazon Web Services, Microsoft, and Google. Prices were eroded further by providers of services that are
delivered primarily offshore (e.g., Tata Consultancy Services, Infosys, Wipro).

Group Development
The environment of our Group Development operating segment is largely dominated by the markets served by our companies
T-Mobile Netherlands, Deutsche Funkturm (DFMG), and Magenta Telekom Infra (MTI) in Austria.

The Dutch mobile communications market served by T-Mobile Netherlands continued to be marked by high price and
competitive pressure. The Netherlands is ahead of much of Europe with its bundling of fixed-network and mobile products into
convergent offerings (FMC). The dominance of KPN and VodafoneZiggo in fixed-network business kept the pressure on mobile
product pricing high due to the FMC trend.

DFMG is the biggest provider of passive wireless infrastructure for mobile communications and broadcasting in Germany.
Despite the coronavirus pandemic, the market again saw increased demand for cell sites in the 2021 financial year, due on the
one hand to the fact that network operators plan to close gaps in coverage, and on the other to the fact that demand for mobile
data services is growing, which calls for a further increase in the density of mobile networks.

MTl is the second-largest provider of passive wireless infrastructure for mobile communications and broadcasting in Austria.
The densification of the Austrian market continued throughout 2021, driven by rising demand for mobile data services and the
fulfillment of coverage obligations by the network providers.

Major regulatory decisions

Our business activities are largely subject to national, European, and U.S. regulation, which is associated with extensive powers
to intervene in our product design and pricing, particularly in Europe. We were again subject to extensive regulation in our
mobile and fixed-network businesses in 2021.

Regulation

Commitment agreements entered into force. The agreements with Telefénica and Vodafone concerning their long-standing
cooperation in the fixed network were extended in the fourth quarter of 2020 in the form of new commitment agreements to
replace the former quota-based agreements under what had become known as the “contingent model.” Long-term agreements
were also signed with 1&1 and NetCologne in the first quarter of 2021. Since there were no regulatory objections to the
agreements on the part of the Bundesnetzagentur, they entered into force effective April 1, 2021. Beyond the continued use
of VDSL, the agreement also set the course for the use of the FTTH fiber-optic networks to be continuously built out by
Deutsche Telekom in the years to come. This has established a solid foundation on which to take forward cooperation in the
fixed network over the next 10 years.

European Commission set termination rates from July 1,2021. On April 22,2021, the European Commission published a
Delegated Act setting single maximum Union-wide mobile (MTR) and fixed-network (FTR) termination rates. The Act will
reduce MTRs to a uniform level of 0.2 eurocents/min. by 2024 using a phased approach. A uniform level of 0.07 eurocents/min.
was set for FTRs from January 1, 2022, prior to which updated price caps still applied from July 1, 2021 (varied by member
state).
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European Electronic Communications Code (EECC) transposed into national law. The Telecommunications Modernization Act
(Telekommunikationsmodernisierungsgesetz — TKMoG) entered into force in Germany on December 1, 2021. The reform of the
German Telecommunications Act (Telekommunikationsgesetz — TKG) became necessary to transpose the provisions of the
EECC into national law. The biggest changes affect the rules on consumer protection, the regulation of very high capacity
networks (including FTTH), spectrum policy, and the rules on universal service. TKMoG will also remove the right of property
owners to pass on cable TV service costs to tenants via the service charges included in rental agreements. The rules on contract
terms and contract extensions were modified in favor of the consumer, with customers now being able to cancel contracts
on a monthly basis after reaching the minimum contract term. Other changes affect the existing rights of retail customers to
a price reduction in the event of defective performance — a modification that has now also been incorporated into the TKG.
The deadlines for fault clearance have been further tightened. In terms of wholesale regulation of companies with a dominant
market position, the amended TKG will ease regulations regarding the build-out of FTTH networks. The previous universal
service is being replaced by an entitlement to fast telecommunications services. The thresholds for this will have to be laid
down in an ordinance that has the force of law. One important change is the abolishment, effective June 30, 2024, of the
privilege for property owners to pass on cable TV and internet service fees as ancillary rental costs to tenants. The fiber-optic
build-out will be financed using new instruments, such as the fiber-optic provisioning charge for tenants capped at EUR 60 per
year for 5 or 9 years, a cost apportionment added to the basic rent excluding service charges, or the existing rules on network
usage charges. This step will also reduce the costs for network operators of using in-house networks. The EECC has already
been transposed into the national laws of Greece, Austria, Slovakia, the Czech Republic, and Hungary (with varying deadlines for
entry into force, in particular with respect to customer protection provisions). The legislative process is still pending in Croatia,
the Netherlands, Poland, and Romania.

Bundesnetzagentur presents draft decision for FTTH network regulation. On October 11,2021, the Bundesnetzagentur
presented its draft decision on the future regulation of access to Deutsche Telekom’s copper and fiber-optic network. The
draft contains proposals for easing FTTH network regulation, which would put an end to “ex ante” and access regulation.
Non-discriminatory access will instead be secured under the Equivalence of Input (Eol) principle enshrined in the new
Telecommunications Act (Telekommunikationsgesetz — TKG). Under the new system, wholesalers would have access to the
same material and human resources as Deutsche Telekom’s sales teams. The Bundesnetzagentur further proposes to abolish
the traditional “ex-ante” regulation of layer 2 (VDSL) products and tie charges to a disclosure obligation. The draft decision also
includes the requirement for Deutsche Telekom to grant access to cable ducts and operational support systems. The period
for responses to the draft decision ended on November 15, 2021. The Bundesnetzagentur is expected to notify the European
Commission of the draft in the first quarter of 2022.

German court overturns approval under merger control law for the joint venture Glasfaser NordWest. Telekom Deutschland
and EWE founded the joint venture Glasfaser NordWest in 2020. The aim of the joint venture is to provide up to 1.5 million
households and business locations with fast internet. If the Disseldorf Higher Regional Court’s decision of September 22, 2021
becomes final, the case will be referred back to the Bundeskartellamt for a new decision on approval and any further conditions.
The joint venture can continue building out FTTH in the interim. The Bundeskartellamt, EWE, and Telekom Deutschland have
lodged a complaint against the decision of the Diisseldorf Higher Regional Court to not allow an appeal.

Bundesnetzagentur’s security catalog classes operators of public telecommunications networks for the first time as having
an increased risk potential. On August 25, 2021, the Bundesnetzagentur determined new security requirements for operators
of public telecommunications networks. Under the IT Security Act2.0 (IT-Sicherheitsgesetz 2.0) critical components are
subject to special legal requirements, such as mandatory certification.

For further information on the Bundesnetzagentur’s TKG security catalog, please refer to the section “Risks and opportunity management — Risks and
opportunities relating to regulation.”

European roaming regulation. In December 2021, the European Commission, the Council, and the European Parliament agreed
to extend the current roaming regulation until 2032. The Roam like at Home principle introduced in 2017, which allows
consumers to make calls at domestic terms and conditions and use data volumes within the European Union, will thus apply
for a further ten years. New rules were also added on transparency, and the new regulation will ensure that the quality of
roaming services is not lower than mobile services at home. New, lower price caps through 2031 are being set for inter-operator
rates for corresponding wholesale services, to be re-examined in 2024/2025. Earlier discussions on possible steps to tighten
regulation on voice calling and text messaging (SMS) between EU member states were not included in the draft. The regulation
is expected to come into force as of July 1, 2022.
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Awarding of spectrum

The assignment phase of the C-band auction (3.7 to 4.2 GHz) in the United States ended on February17,2021. On
February 24,2021, the FCC announced the number of licenses obtained by participating companies. Verizon paid around
USD 45 billion for 3,511 licenses, AT&T over USD 23 billion for 1,621 licenses, and T-Mobile US USD 9.3 billion for 142 licenses. A
total of 280 MHz was sold at the C-band auction. The new license holders must make relocation payments over the next three
years to cover the transfer of licenses from the former holders. The payments T-Mobile US will have to make are expected to
amount to USD 1.2 billion. In Hungary, proceedings to re-award 900 and 1,800 MHz spectrum licenses that are due to expire
in 2022 were held on January 28, 2021 and concluded the same day. Magyar Telekom acquired 2x 8 MHz and 2x 20 MHz in
the respective bands for a total price of EUR 123 million (when translated into euros). On August 12, 2021, Hrvatski Telekom in
Croatia acquired spectrum in the 700; 3,400 to 3,800; and 26,000 MHz bands for a total purchase price of EUR 17.4 million.
In Romania, the regulatory authority confirmed the extension of Telekom Romania Mobile Communications’ 2,100 MHz usage
rights for 2022 until the end of 2031 following payment of a one-time fee in the amount of EUR 25 million; the formalities
were completed by the end of 2021. The remainder of the 800; 2,600; and 3,400 to 3,800 MHz spectrum in Romania was
awarded in December 2021. For harmonization purposes with other sub-bands, short service lives of only around 4 to 7 years
were assigned to these frequencies. Hence, no spectrum was purchased by the three Romanian market incumbents, including
Telekom Romania Mobile Communications.

As previously, Poland has made no further announcements regarding a new start date for the postponed auction for 3,400
to 3,800 MHz. The process is being held up by incomplete legislative procedures. A further four 80 MHz licenses, capped at
80 MHz, are expected to be awarded by way of an SMRA. All further details of the auction are pending. Romania is planning
the award of 5G spectrum in the 700 MHz and 1,500 MHz bands, which is expected to take place in the second half of 2022.
The Slovakian regulatory authority is preparing to allocate the 3,400 to 3,800 MHz band, which will not become available
for mobile broadband usage before 2024, however. A public consultation was held and the decision made to postpone the
award until the first half of 2022. In the meantime, the previously unused 2,600 MHz TDD band (50 MHz) has been added to
the spectrum award planning. In the United States, the 3,450 MHz auction began on October 5, 2021, at which the FCC was
offering aggregate spectrum of 100 MHz in the 3,450 to 3,550 MHz band. The assignment phase ended on January 4, 2022.
The winning bids totaled over USD 22.5 billion, thus surpassing the reserve price of USD 14.7 billion. T-Mobile US paid
USD 2.9 billion to secure itself a total of 199 licenses. In Germany, the usage rights for 800; 1,800; and 2,600 MHz are due
to expire at the end of 2025. According to its current consultation, the Bundesnetzagentur still sees a considerable need for
clarification on a range of issues. Licenses are not expected to be awarded before 2024.

The following table provides an overview of the main ongoing and planned spectrum awards and auctions as well as license
extensions. It also indicates spectrum to be awarded in the near future in various countries.

Main spectrum awards

Expected Expected
start of end of
award award
procedure procedure Frequency ranges (MHz) Award procedure Updated information
Croatia Q42022 Q12023 800/900/1,800/2,100/2,600 Details thd 800-2,600 MHz: extension expected.
1,500/3,400-3,800/26,000 1,500 MHz, unsold residual spectrum
in 3,400-3,800 MHz and 26,000 MHz
only if there is market interest.
Poland Q12022 Q22022 3,400-3,800 Auction (SMRA®), New start delayed further due to
4 blocks of 80 MHz, political discussions on national
capped at 80 MHz security guidelines (Cyber Security
Act).
Poland Q32022 Q42022 700/2,100/26,000 Auction, details tbd Plans for all bands still unclear due to
discussions on award models,
700 MHz border coordination talks
with Russia at a standstill.
Romania H2 2022 H2 2022 700/1,500 Auction, details tbd
Slovakia Q22022 H2 2022 3,400-3,800/2,600 (TDD) Auction (SMRA®), Second consultation to finalize the
Terms of use thd, rules ended in Q4 2021. Decision is
capped at 100 MHz still outstanding. Auction expected to
start in Q2 2022.
Czech Republic Q32023 Q12024 900/1,800/2,100 Extension expected TMCZ’s 900/1,800 MHz GSM license
and 2,100 MHz UMTS license will
expire in 2024.
United States H12022 H12022 2,500-2,700 Auction, details tbd Public consultation in progress.

8 SMRA: simultaneous (electronic) multi-round auction with ascending, parallel bids for all available frequency bands.
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Development of business in the Group

Statement of the Board of Management on business development in 2021
Bonn, February 15, 2022

We continued our growth course in all segments in 2021, such that we can look back on a successful financial year. Measured
in terms of customer numbers, we further consolidated our position on the U.S. mobile market, adding 6.7 million customers in
the reporting year. We have reached key milestones to secure control of T-Mobile US in the long term and, on this side of the
Atlantic too, significant transactions have been closed and reorganizations completed. The synergies arising from the business
combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint are impacting on our results faster and with greater effect than previously expected.
In Europe, our integrated products are enjoying strong demand and we are making good progress in the network build-out,
especially in 5G and optical fiber. In our home market, too, we have received great recognition for our performance in terms of
service, network build-out, and our integrated products. It is and remains important to us to fulfill our responsibility to society
at all times and in all places — especially during the coronavirus pandemic or the catastrophic flooding in summer 2021.

We also kept an eye on our ambitious climate goals. Since 2021, our customers have been surfing on Deutsche Telekom’s green
network, and our own energy consumption for all Group units has been covered entirely by electricity from renewable energy
sources. To underscore the major significance of our sustainability targets in the Group, a performance management and
incentivization system was introduced in 2021 using annual variable remuneration for members of the Board of Management.

We achieved our most important corporate targets in 2021 and even exceeded some of them, as can be seen from our key
financial figures and our customer development. We raised our full-year guidance for 2021 three times in the course of the
year, despite the coronavirus pandemic. Net revenue increased by 7.7 % to EUR 108.8 billion. Service revenue was up 6.5 % to
EUR 84.1 billion. This is the result of the high popularity of our mobile and broadband offerings in particular. In the U.S. business,
T-Mobile US once again recorded strong customer additions, especially in postpaid business, which is also reflected in revenue
development. In Systems Solutions, however, order entry fell short of expectations. Declines in both traditional IT infrastructure
business and SAP business were only partially offset by the strong upward trends in our growth areas.

Adjusted EBITDA AL grew by 6.6 % to EUR 37.3 billion. The main reason for this increase is a sound operational development,
driven by revenue growth and further enhanced cost efficiency. Excluding the effect from the planned withdrawal from the
terminal equipment lease model in the United States, adjusted core EBITDA AL increased by 10.1 % year-on-year. EBIT increased
by 2.0 % to EUR 131 billion, despite significant negative special factors that affected it. These mainly related to acquisition
and integration costs as well as restructuring costs to realize cost efficiencies from the business combination with Sprint. By
contrast, lower expenses for staff restructuring and a gain on deconsolidation from the sale of the Dutch cell tower business
had a positive effect. Depreciation, amortization, and impairment losses were higher than in the prior year, due in particular to
the first-time inclusion of Sprint for the full year.

Loss from financial activities increased by EUR 1.0 billion year-on-year due in part to negative remeasurement effects in
connection with derivatives. Net profit remained stable at EUR 4.2 billion. Adjusted net profit increased by 2.6 % to
EUR 5.9 billion. Adjusted earnings per share increased to EUR 1.22.

ROCE decreased year-on-year to 4.1 %, largely due to higher integration costs in connection with the business combination of
T-Mobile US and Sprint. Furthermore, the prior-year figure had been positively impacted by the reversal of impairment losses
previously recognized for spectrum licenses at T-Mobile US.

Net debt increased from EUR 120.2 billion to EUR 1321 billion. This is primarily attributable to the key investments in spectrum
licenses, mainly in connection with the C-band auction in the United States segment. But net debt was also increased as a result
of additions of lease liabilities, the acquisition of Shentel, and currency transaction effects.

The trends in the industry, in particular on the European telecommunications markets, remain challenging due to ongoing
competitive pressure and strict regulatory requirements. In order to succeed in the future, we continue to invest heavily in
the key to our success: our network infrastructure and our technology. In 2021, we made Group-wide investments (before
spectrum) of EUR 18.0 billion, with a focus on the parallel build-out of our broadband and mobile infrastructure (optical fiber
and 5G). Including the spectrum payments, this figure was EUR 26.4 billion in the reporting year. And, as announced, we
are increasing our investment volume again. Despite this, we are still a solid investment-grade company with access to the
international capital markets. The rating agency Moody’s even upgraded our rating outlook in June 2021. Our free cash flow AL
(before dividend payments and spectrum investment) increased by 40.1 % to EUR 8.8 billion.
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At our Capital Markets Day in May 2021, we presented the financial strategy and our targets through 2024, which anticipate
constant EPS growth. Through 2024, we want to further accelerate our forecast for growth from the past few years. We pursue
a sustainable dividend policy for our shareholders. We intend to pay a dividend of 40 to 60 % of adjusted earnings per share.
And we are sticking by a minimum dividend of EUR 0.60 per share: For the 2021 financial year, we will propose a dividend of
EUR 0.64 per dividend-bearing share. This year, the dividend will once again be paid out without any deduction of capital gains
tax, and we expect this to be also the case in the years to come. After a restrained 2020, the stock markets proved rather strong
in 2021, despite the ongoing pandemic situation. The T-Share closed 2021 up 9.0 %. On a total return basis, it was up by as much
as 12.9 %.

We aim to transform ourselves from our position as Leading European Telco into the Leading Digital Telco. Our goal is clear:
We want to align ourselves long-term with the needs of our customers and systematically transform ourselves into a simple,
digital, and in every way agile company to hold our own against new competitors and continue our growth course. Building and
operating the best convergent networks remains at the core of our strategy and is an important driver for our growth areas. We
realize our aim to lead in technology by investing not only in network infrastructure, but also in establishing cloud-based service
platforms. We leverage our international footprint to generate synergies across the Group and to carry weight alongside the
global tech giants. We apply our expertise — the Magenta Advantage — to develop new business models.

Business combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint

Sprint has been included in Deutsche Telekom’s consolidated financial statements as a fully consolidated subsidiary since
April1,2020. As a result of the change in the composition of the Group during the year, the remeasured assets and liabilities
were recognized as of this date, and all income and expenses generated from the date of first-time consolidation are included
in Deutsche Telekom’s consolidated income statement. This continues to impact on the comparability of the presentation of
the results of operations and financial position over time.

Reassignment of the Internet of Things (loT) growth area

Effective January1,2021, Deutsche Telekom reassigned the responsibility for business and profit and loss for
Deutsche Telekom loT GmbH from the Systems Solutions operating segment to the business customer unit in the Germany
operating segment. Prior-year comparatives in both of the segments (development of operations, customer development,
headcount development, and order entry) were adjusted retrospectively.

For further information on the reassignment of the loT business, please refer to the sections “Group organization” and “Segment reporting” in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements.

Comparison of the Group’s expectations with actual figures

In the 2020 Annual Report, we outlined expectations for the 2021 financial year for our financial and non-financial key
performance indicators anchored in our management system. The following tables summarize the pro forma figures for 2020,
the results expected for the reporting year, and the actual results achieved in 2021. The performance indicators that we also
forecast in the 2020 Annual Report and their development are presented in the individual sections.

Comparison of the expected financial key performance indicators with actual figures

Pro forma
figures for Expectations for Results in
2020 2021 2021
ROCE % 4.6 decrease 41
Net revenue billions of € 106.7 slight increase 108.8
Service revenue billions of € 83.3 increase 841
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) billions of € 13.5 slight decrease 131
EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors)? billions of € 37.6 around 38 37.3
Earnings per share (adjusted for special factors) € 1.20 slight decrease 1.22
Free cash flow AL (before dividend payments and
spectrum investment)® b billions of € 6.6 around 8.5 8.8
Cash capex (before spectrum investment) billions of € (17.8) (18.4) (18.0)
Rating (Standard & Poor’s, Fitch) BBB, BBB+ from A- to BBB BBB, BBB+
Rating (Moody’s) Baal from A3 to Baa2 Baal

@ Contrary to the forecasts published in the 2020 combined management report (2020 Annual Report), we adjusted the guidance for 2021 for EBITDA AL
(adjusted for special factors) and free cash flow AL (before dividend payments and spectrum investment) during the course of the year (Interim Group
Reports as of March 31,2021, June 30, 2021, and September 30, 2021).

b Before interest payments for zero-coupon bonds and before termination of forward-payer swaps at T-Mobile US (both in 2020).

The comparison shown in the table of the pro forma figures for 2020 and the expectations formulated on this basis for 2021
with the results actually generated for 2021 is not like-for-like, i.e., these figures are not based on comparable exchange rates.
The results generated on a like-for-like basis are set out below.
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Our business performance was once again characterized by positive growth rates for our key performance indicators. We
met or significantly exceeded our expectations. In organic terms, i.e., adjusted for exchange rate effects and changes in the
composition of the Group, we recorded not just moderate growth, but a substantial increase of 4.5 % in revenue, with significant
organic growth of 3.5 % in service revenue as well. Adjusted for exchange rate effects and changes in the composition of the
Group, adjusted EBITDA AL increased by 1.9 %, despite the gradual withdrawal from the terminal equipment lease business
model in the United States. With negative exchange rate effects being taken into account, adjusted EBITDA AL was well
ahead of our latest guidance of around EUR 38 billion. In line with our strong operational performance, adjusted earnings per
share exceeded our expectation, at EUR1.22. At EUR 8.8 billion, free cash flow AL (before dividend payments and spectrum
investment) clearly exceeded our latest guidance of around EUR 8.5 billion, even without negative exchange rates being taken
into account. For cash capex (before spectrum investment), we met our guidance on a like-for-like basis with the prior year.
ROCE decreased, as expected, due to the integration costs arising in connection with the business combination of T-Mobile US
and Sprint.

Comparison of the expected non-financial key performance indicators with actual figures

Pro forma
figures for Expectations for Results in
2020 2021 2021

Customer satisfaction (TRI*M index) 72.2 slight increase 73.4
Employee satisfaction (commitment score)? 4.0 stable trend 77
Fixed-network and mobile customers
Germany
Mobile customers millions 48.5 increase 53.2
Fixed-network lines millions 17.6 stable trend 17.5
Retail broadband lines millions 141 increase 14.5
United States
Postpaid customers millions 814 increase 87.7
Prepaid customers millions 20.7 increase 211
Europe
Mobile customers millions 45.6 slight increase 45.8
Fixed-network lines millions 91 stable trend 7.8
Broadband customers millions 7.0 increase 6.4
Systems Solutions
Order entry billions of € 4.6 stable trend 4.2

@ Commitment score as per the 2021 employee survey. In 2021, we changed from a scale of 1to 5 for the commitment score (previously the “commitment
index”) to a scale of O to 100.

We are also well on track with our non-financial performance indicators. In the Germany and United States operating segments,
our customer numbers developed in line with expectations or even exceeded them. In our home market, we recorded, as
expected, customer additions of around S million especially in mobile communications. In the United States operating segment
too, we once again recorded strong growth in postpaid customers: The number of customers increased by 5.5 million, thereby
exceeding our already high expectations. Our Europe operating segment recorded a stable, or in some cases a declining trend
in customer numbers compared with the guidance level. This is mainly due to the sale of Telekom Romania Communications as
of September 30, 2021, which was not yet taken into account in the guidance for 2021 stated in the 2020 Annual Report. Order
entry in our Systems Solutions operating segment fell short of our expectations. This development was mainly due to a decline
in both traditional IT infrastructure business and SAP business, which was only partially offset by the strong upward trends in
our growth areas.

Employee satisfaction held steady at the high level of 77 points in 2021, after revising the measurement model on a like-for-like
basis. At the end of the reporting year, customer satisfaction came in at 73.4 points compared with an adjusted baseline figure
of 72.7 points at the start of the year. Following changes to the revenue shares contributed by each country and in order to
create an equivalent basis for comparing the Group’s expectations with actual figures, we recalculated the baseline figure for
2021 on the basis of the new structures these changes entailed. The new baseline thus diverges from the figure of 72.2 reported
as of December 31, 2020. The Germany and Systems Solutions operating segments contributed to the positive development
with improvements in customer loyalty. Our aim for the next few years is to further improve customer satisfaction for Germany
and Europe; in Systems Solutions, we want to stabilize the already high level.

For further information on the trends in our main financial and non-financial performance indicators, please refer to the relevant passages in this section as
well as in the section “Development of business in the operating segments.”
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Results of operations of the Group

Net revenue, service revenue

In 2021, we generated net revenue of EUR 108.8 billion, which was 7.7 % or EUR 7.8 billion up on the prior-year level. In organic
terms, i.e., assuming a comparable composition of the Group in the prior year and excluding exchange rate effects, revenue
developed positively, with growth of EUR 4.7 billion or 4.5 %. For a comparison on an organic basis, net revenue in the prior-
year period was raised by EUR 5.5 billion to account for effects of changes in the composition of the Group — primarily from
the acquisition of Sprint, the disposal of Sprint’s prepaid business to DISH and the acquisition of Shentel in the United States
operating segment — and net exchange rate effects of EUR -2.3 billion were taken into account. Service revenue in the Group
increased by EUR 5.2 billion or 6.5 % year-on-year to EUR 84.1 billion.

Contribution of the segments to net revenue

millions of €
Change

2021 2020 Change % 2019
Net revenue 108,794 100,999 7,795 77 80,531
Of which: service revenue? 84,057 78,893 5164 6.5 n.a.
Germany 24164 23,790 374 1.6 23,750
United States 68,359 61,208 7151 v 40,420
Europe 1,384 1,335 49 04 1,587
Systems Solutions 4,019 4,159 (140) (3.4) 4,41
Group Development 3165 2,883 282 9.8 2,797
Group Headquarters & Group Services 2,515 2,556 41 (1.6) 2,627
Intersegment revenue (4,812) (4,932) 120 2.4 (5,061)

@ The definition of “service revenue” was not applied consistently Group-wide for the years prior to 2020.

Our United States operating segment in particular contributed to the positive revenue trend with an increase of 11.7 %. In
organic terms, i.e., in particular assuming the inclusion of Sprint for the full year in the prior year and constant exchange
rates, revenue increased by 5.8 % year-on-year due to both higher service revenues and higher terminal equipment revenues.
Revenue in our home market of Germany was up on the prior-year level, increasing by 1.6 %. This was mainly driven by an
increase in revenue in the fixed-network core business, primarily due to broadband business, and in mobile service revenues.
Our Europe operating segment recorded revenue growth of 0.4 %. In organic terms, i.e., in particular adjusted for the sale of
the Romanian fixed-network business and assuming constant exchange rates, revenue increased by 2.4 %. Organic growth was
mainly driven by the strong performance of the mobile business, especially the increase in mobile service revenues with higher
margins, slight increases in roaming and visitor revenues, and higher revenues from terminal equipment sales. Fixed-network
service revenues developed slightly better. Revenue in our Systems Solutions operating segment was down 3.4 % year-on-
year. This decrease was mainly driven by the expected decline in traditional IT infrastructure business, due in part to deliberate
business decisions such as the reduction in end-user services. By contrast, our growth areas grew significantly, especially
public cloud, digital solutions, and road charging. Revenue in our Group Development operating segment increased by 9.8 %. In
organic terms, i.e., adjusted for the sale of the Dutch cell tower business, the transfer of the Austrian cell tower business, as well
as the acquisition of the Dutch MVNO and SIM provider Simpel, revenue increased by 4.6 %. This revenue increase resulted from
the operational and structural growth of our two business units T-Mobile Netherlands and GD Towers, which includes DFMG
and the Austrian cell tower business.

| For further information on revenue development in our segments, please refer to the section “Development of business in the operating segments.”
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Contribution of the segments to net revenue? Breakdown of revenue by region
% %
21 13.7
Group Development 0.2 Europe (excluding Germany)
29 Group Headquarters & 0.5
Systems Solutions Group Services Other countries
103 | I 217
Europe 1 Germany 23.0
Germany
62.8 62.8
United States North America

2 For further information, please refer to Note 36 “Segment reporting” in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

At 62.8 %, our United States operating segment provided by far the largest contribution to net revenue of the Group and in
particular thanks to the acquisition of Sprint was up 2.2 percentage points above the level in the prior year. In this connection,
the proportion of net revenue generated internationally also increased significantly from 75.5 % to 77.0 %.

Adjusted EBITDA AL, EBITDA AL

Adjusted EBITDA AL increased year-on-year by EUR 2.3 billion or 6.6 % to EUR 37.3 billion in 2021. In organic terms,
adjusted EBITDA AL increased by EUR 0.7 billion or 1.9 %. For a comparison on an organic basis, adjusted EBITDA AL in the
prior-year period was raised by EUR 2.5 billion to account for effects of changes in the composition of the Group — primarily
from the acquisition of Sprint and the disposal of Sprint’s prepaid business to DISH in the United States operating segment
— and net exchange rate effects of EUR -0.9 billion were taken into account. Adjusted core EBITDA AL, which is distinguished
by excluding revenue from terminal equipment leases in the United States from adjusted EBITDA AL, thereby presenting
operational development undistorted by the withdrawal from the terminal equipment lease business, increased by
EUR 3.2 billion or 10.1 % to EUR 34.5 billion.

Contribution of the segments to adjusted Group EBITDA AL

millions of €
Proportion Proportion
of adjusted of adjusted
Group Group
EBITDA AL EBITDA AL Change
2021 % 2020 % Change % 2019
EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors)
in the Group 37,330 100.0 35,017 100.0 2,313 6.6 24,731
Germany 9,520 25.5 9,188 26.2 332 3.6 9,026
United States 22,697 60.8 20,997 60.0 1,700 81 11,134
Europe 4,007 10.7 3,910 1.2 97 2.5 3,910
Systems Solutions 286 0.8 279 0.8 7 2.5 307
Group Development 1,307 3.5 1,101 341 206 18.7 1,033
Group Headquarters & Group Services (440) (1.2) (429) (1.2) ) (2.6) (650)
Reconciliation 47) 0.) (28) 0.) (19) (67.9) 29)
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All operating segments made a positive contribution to this development. Adjusted EBITDA AL of our United States operating
segment increased significantly as a result of the business combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint, among other factors.
In organic terms, i.e., adjusted for the effect of the acquisition of Sprint and assuming constant exchange rates,
adjusted EBITDA AL stood at the prior-year level. The aforementioned higher service and equipment revenues had a positive
effect. This was offset by negative effects of the planned withdrawal from the terminal equipment lease model in the United
States and higher operational expenses — primarily in connection with the acquisition of Sprint. Adjusted core EBITDA AL, i.e.,
the earnings measure undistorted by the withdrawal from the terminal equipment lease business, increased by EUR 2.5 billion
or14.7 % to EUR 19.9 billion. Our Germany operating segment contributed to the increase thanks to high-value revenue growth
and improved cost efficiency with 3.6 % higher adjusted EBITDA AL. Adjusted EBITDA AL in our Europe operating segment
increased by 2.5 %. In organic terms, i.e., adjusted for the sale of the Romanian fixed-network business and the transfer of the
Austrian cell tower business, and assuming constant exchange rates, adjusted EBITDA AL increased by 5.4 %. In addition to the
positive revenue effects, savings in indirect costs also contributed to this development. Adjusted EBITDA AL in our Systems
Solutions operating segment also increased by 2.7 %. Efficiency effects from our transformation program and effects from
increased revenue in our growth areas exceeded the decline in earnings in the traditional IT infrastructure business. Adjusted
EBITDA AL in our Group Development operating segment increased by 18.7 % year-on-year; in organic terms, it grew by 13.5 %.
This growth was attributable to the positive revenue trend at T-Mobile Netherlands, the acquisition of Simpel, and efficient cost
management at T-Mobile Netherlands. The GD Towers business posted consistent growth on the back of rising volumes and
was further strengthened by the transfer of the Austrian cell tower business.

EBITDA AL increased by EUR 0.7 billion or 2.2% year-on-year to EUR 33.9 billion, with special factors changing from
EUR -1.8 billion to EUR -3.4 billion. Expenses incurred in connection with staff-related measures decreased from EUR 1.3 billion
in the prior-year period by EUR 0.6 billion to EUR 0.7 billion. Part of this decrease was attributable to the reversal of other
provisions for personnel costs, which had been recognized by OTE in 2010 and 2011 in connection with an additional payment
to the Greek social insurance fund, as a result of proceedings concluded in September 2021. Net expenses of EUR 2.5 billion
were recorded as special factors under effects of deconsolidations, disposals, and acquisitions. EUR 2.6 billion of the expenses
mainly related to acquisition and integration costs as well as restructuring costs to realize cost efficiencies from the business
combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint. In this context, EUR 0.8 billion related to a reduction in the useful life of leased
network technology for cell sites in the United States. In the prior year, net expenses of EUR 1.7 billion had been recorded as
special factors under effects of deconsolidations, disposals, and acquisitions. EUR 1.5 billion of these also mainly related to the
business combination with Sprint. In addition, in the Group Development operating segment, EBITDA AL was influenced by
net positive special factors of EUR 0.2 billion, which related to the gain on deconsolidation due to the sale of the Dutch cell
tower business. Reversals of impairment losses of EUR 1.7 billion had been recognized in the prior year and mainly related to the
partial reversal of impairment losses on spectrum licenses at T-Mobile US, which increased the carrying amount. Other special
factors affecting EBITDA AL in the prior year amounted to EUR 0.5 billion and mainly related to expenses incurred in the United
States operating segment in connection with the coronavirus pandemic.

For further information on the development of (adjusted) EBITDA AL in the segments, please refer to the section “Development of business in the operating
segments.”

A reconciliation of the definition of EBITDA with the “after leases” indicator (EBITDA AL) can be found in the following table:

millions of €
Change

2021 2020 Change % 2019
EBITDA 40,539 38,633 1,906 49 27,120
Depreciation of right-of-use assets? (5,547) (4,530) (1,017) (22.5) (3181
Interest expenses on recognized lease liabilities® (1,099) (925) (174) (18.8) 796)
EBITDA AL 33,893 33,178 715 2.2 23,143
Special factors affecting EBITDA AL (3,437) (1,839) (1,598) (86.9) (1,589)
EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors) 37,330 35,017 2,313 6.6 24,731

@ Excluding finance leases at T-Mobile US.
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EBIT

Group EBIT increased from EUR 12.8 billion to EUR 13.1 billion, up EUR 0.3 billion or 2.0 % against the prior year. This increase
is partly due to the effects described under adjusted EBITDA AL and EBITDA AL. At EUR 27.5 billion, depreciation, amortization
and impairment losses were EUR 1.7 billion higher than in the prior year. This increase is attributable, among other factors,
to the first-time inclusion of Sprint for the full year. Furthermore, in the United States operating segment, a reduction in the
useful life of leased network technology for cell sites following the business combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint increased
depreciation of the corresponding right-of-use assets by EUR 0.8 billion. Impairment losses decreased from EUR 0.8 billion to
EUR 0.3 billion. Of the prior-year figure, a total of EUR 0.5 billion had related to the Systems Solutions operating segment and
the Group Headquarters & Group Services segment, and EUR 0.2 billion to the Europe operating segment. Of the impairment
losses recognized in the reporting year, EUR 0.2 billion related to the Systems Solutions operating segment and the Group
Headquarters & Group Services segment. This was a consequence of several factors, including the ad hoc impairment testing
carried out in the Systems Solutions cash-generating unit in the prior year. In addition, despite the marginal improvement in the
business outlook, the increase in the cost of capital in the reporting year prompted further impairment losses to be recognized
on non-current assets in the Systems Solutions cash-generating unit at the end of 2021.

For further information on depreciation, amortization and impairment losses, please refer to Note 27 “Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses” in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Profit before income taxes

Profit before income taxes decreased by EUR 0.8 billion or 8.7 % to EUR 7.9 billion. Loss from financial activities increased
from EUR 4.1 billion to EUR 5.1 billion, with finance costs increasing by EUR 0.4 billion to EUR 4.6 billion, mainly due to the
financial liabilities assumed in connection with the acquisition of Sprint and the related restructuring and increase in financing.
In this connection, between April 2020 and the end of 2021, existing T-Mobile US bonds were repaid prematurely and new
bonds were issued in their place at more favorable terms and conditions. Other financial income/expense decreased by
EUR 0.5 billion year-on-year, resulting in other financial expense of EUR 0.4 billion. On the one hand, gains/losses from financial
instruments decreased by EUR 1.2 billion to a loss of EUR 0.6 billion, due in part to negative measurement effects resulting,
among other factors, from embedded derivatives at T-Mobile US and from a forward transaction to hedge the price of acquiring
T-Mobile US shares in the future. By contrast, net positive measurement effects resulted from the amortization and subsequent
measurement of the stock options received from SoftBank in June 2020 to purchase shares in T-Mobile US. On the other hand,
the interest component from the measurement of provisions and liabilities increased, in particular in the Group Headquarters &
Group Services segment, by EUR 0.7 billion.

Net profit, adjusted net profit

At EUR 4.2 billion, net profit remained at the prior-year level. Tax expense decreased by EUR 0.1 billion to EUR 1.8 billion. Profit
attributable to non-controlling interests decreased from EUR 2.6 billion to EUR1.9 billion. This mainly relates to our United
States operating segment. Excluding special factors, which had a negative overall effect of EUR 1.7 billion on net profit, adjusted
net profit amounted to EUR 5.9 billion, up 2.6 % against the prior year.

The following table presents the reconciliation of net profit to the figures adjusted for special factors:

millions of €
Change
2021 2020 Change % 2019
Net profit (loss) 4,176 4,158 18 0.4 3,867
Special factors affecting EBITDA AL (3,437) (1,839) (1,598) (86.9) (1,589)
Staff-related measures (717) (1,268) 551 43.5 (913)
Non-staff-related restructuring (22) (32) 10 31.2 81
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals and
acquisitions (2,542) (1,655) (887) (53.6) (462)
Reversals of impairment losses 0 1,655 (1,655) (100.0) 0
Other (156) (539) 383 711 (132)
Special factors affecting net profit 1,751 283 1,468 n.a. 510
Impairment losses (258) (656) 398 60.7 (368)
Profit (loss) from financial activities (139) (25) (114) n.a. )]
Income taxes 1,064 730 334 45.8 461
Non-controlling interests 1,084 234 850 n.a. 421
Special factors (1,686) (1,557) (129) (8.3) (1,081)
Net profit (loss) (adjusted for special factors) 5,862 5,715 147 2.6 4,948

Earnings per share, adjusted earnings per share

Earnings per share is calculated as net profit divided by the adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding,
which totaled 4,813 million as of December 31, 2021. This resulted in earnings per share of EUR 0.87, compared with EUR 0.88
in the prior year. Adjusted earnings per share, adjusted for special factors affecting net profit, amounted to EUR 1.22 compared
with EUR 1.20 in the prior year.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of EBITDA AL, EBIT, and net profit to the respective figures adjusted for special
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factors:
millions of €

EBITDA AL EBIT EBITDA AL EBIT EBITDA AL EBIT

2021 2021 2020 2020 2019 2019

EBITDA AL/EBIT 33,893 13,057 33178 12,804 23143 9,457
Germany (588) (588) (752) (805) (458) (458)
Staff-related measures @7) 471 (676) (676) (423) (423)
Non-staff-related restructuring (12) (12) (18) (18) (38) (38)
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals
and acquisitions 3) 3) (18) (18) 0 0
Impairment losses 0 0 0 (52) 0 0
Other (102) (102) (40) (40) 3 3
United States (2,637) (2,692) (370) (370) (544) (544)
Staff-related measures (16) (16) (32) (32) (17) a7
Non-staff-related restructuring 0 0 0 0 0 0
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals
and acquisitions (2,621) (2,618) (1,522) (1,522) (527) (527)
Impairment losses 0 (58) 0 0 0 0
Reversals of impairment losses 0 0 1,604 1,604 0 0
Other 0 0 (420) (420) 0 0
Europe " " (188) (374) (141) (461)
Staff-related measures 83 83 (181) (181) 1) ()
Non-staff-related restructuring [©] O] 0 0 0 0
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals
and acquisitions 39) (39) ©) ©) 23) 23)
Impairment losses 0 0 0 (186) 0 (320)
Reversals of impairment losses 0 0 50 50 0 0
Other (32) (32) (€D) (51 ® ®
Systems Solutions (213) (393) (209) (582) (304) (332)
Staff-related measures (148) (148) (167) (167) (149) (149)
Non-staff-related restructuring 3) 3) 3) 3) 4) @
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals
and acquisitions 39) 39 0 0 () @
Impairment losses 0 (180) 0 (373) 0 27)
Other (24) (24) (39) (39) (141) (141)
Group Development 173 173 43) 43) 97 97
Staff-related measures 8) (8) ) ) (19) (19)
Non-staff-related restructuring 0 0 0 0 [©] O]
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals
and acquisitions 184 184 (30) (30) m m
Impairment losses 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other 3) 3) 2 @) 4 4
Group Headquarters & Group Services (182) (203) 277) (322) (237) (237)
Staff-related measures (157) (157) (201 (201 (195) (195)
Non-staff-related restructuring @ @) ) 1) (38) (38)
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals
and acquisitions 23) (23) (78) 78) (13) (13)
Impairment losses 0 21 0 (44) 0 0
Other S S 14 14 9 9
Group (3,437) (3,692) (1,839) (2,496) (1,589) (1,959)
Staff-related measures (717) (717) (1,268) (1,268) (913) (913)
Non-staff-related restructuring (22) (22) (32) (32 81 81
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals
and acquisitions (2,542) (2,538) (1,655) (1,655) (462) (462)
Impairment losses 0 (258) 0 (656) 0 (370)
Reversals of impairment losses 0 0 1,655 1,655 0 0
Other (156) (156) (539) (539) (132) (132)
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millions of €
EBITDA AL EBIT EBITDA AL EBIT EBITDA AL EBIT
2021 2020 2020 2019 2019
EBITDA AL/EBIT
(adjusted for special factors) 16,749 35,017 15,300 24,731 1,416
Profit (loss) from financial activities
(adjusted for special factors) (4,998) (4,103) (2)192)
Profit (loss) before income taxes
(adjusted for special factors) 1,752 1,197 9,223
Income taxes
(adjusted for special factors) (2,879) (2,659) (2,454)
Profit (loss) (adjusted for special factors) 8,873 8,538 6,770
Profit (loss) (adjusted for special factors)
attributable to
Owners of the parent (net profit (loss))
(adjusted for special factors) 5,862 5,715 4,948
Non-controlling interests
(adjusted for special factors) 3,01 2,823 1,822
Net assets of the Group
Condensed consolidated statement of financial position
millions of €
Share of total
assets/
liabilities and
shareholders’
equity
Dec. 31,2021 % Dec. 31,2020 Change Dec. 31,2019
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7,617 2.7 12,939 (5,322) 5,393
Trade receivables 15,299 5.4 13,523 1,776 10,846
Intangible assets 132,647 471 118,066 14,581 68,202
Property, plant and equipment 61,770 219 60,975 795 49,548
Right-of-use assets 30,777 10.9 30,302 475 17,998
Current and non-current financial assets 8,888 3.2 9,640 (752) 7,250
Deferred tax assets 7906 2.8 7972 (66) 2,704
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale 4,856 1.7 113 3,743 97
Other assets 11,867 4.2 10,387 1,480 8,634
Total assets 281,627 100.0 264,917 16,710 170,672
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current and non-current financial liabilities 111,466 39.6 107,108 4,358 66,349
Current and non-current lease liabilities 33,133 1.8 32,715 418 19,835
Trade and other payables 10,452 3.7 9,760 692 9,431
Provisions for pensions and other employee benefits 6,134 2.2 7,684 (1,550) 5,831
Current and non-current other provisions 9,463 3.4 9,033 430 6,663
Deferred tax liabilities 19,809 7.0 17,260 2,549 8,954
Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets
and disposal groups held for sale 1,365 0.5 449 916 29
Other liabilities 8,336 3.0 8,358 (22) 7,349
Shareholders’ equity 81,469 289 72,550 8,919 46,231
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 281,627 100.0 264,917 16,710 170,672

Total assets amounted to EUR 281.6 billion as of December 31,2021, up by EUR 16.7 billion against December 31, 2020. This
increase is mainly attributable to investments in intangible assets for spectrum acquisition in the United States operating
segment. Positive exchange rate effects and effects of changes in the composition of the Group, mainly from the first-time
inclusion of Shentel, acquired by T-Mobile US, also increased the carrying amount. This effect was offset in part by a decline in
cash and cash equivalents.

Cash and cash equivalents decreased by EUR 5.3 billion year-on-year to EUR 7.6 billion.

| For further information, please refer to Note 35 “Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Trade receivables increased by EUR 1.8 billion to EUR 15.3 billion. The increase was primarily driven by higher receivables under
the Equipment Installment Plan and growth in customer numbers in the United States operating segment. The carrying amount
also increased in the Germany and Europe operating segments due to the reporting date. Exchange rate effects, primarily from
the translation from U.S. dollars into euros, also increased receivables. Lower receivables in the Group Development operating
segment, primarily as a result of the reclassification of T-Mobile Netherlands’ assets to non-current assets and disposal groups
held for sale in connection with the agreed sale, had an offsetting effect.

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment increased by EUR 15.4 billion to EUR 194.4 billion in total, EUR 8.4 billion
of which resulted from the acquisition of mobile spectrum in the United States operating segment, primarily in connection with
the conclusion of the FCC C-band auction in the United States. T-Mobile US purchased 142 licenses for around EUR 7.8 billion
(USD 9.3 billion) in the auction and made initial “relocation payments” of EUR 0.2 billion to relocate incumbent licensees.
Furthermore, in the Europe operating segment, licenses were acquired for a total of EUR 0.3 billion, including in the Czech
Republic and Hungary. Capital expenditure to upgrade and build out the network and acquire mobile terminal equipment in
our United States operating segment and in connection with the broadband/fiber-optic build-out and mobile infrastructure in
the Germany and Europe operating segments also increased the carrying amount. Exchange rate effects of EUR 10.4 billion
and effects of changes in the composition of the Group of EUR 1.6 billion, mainly from the first-time inclusion of Shentel,
acquired by T-Mobile US, also increased the carrying amount. Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses reduced the
net carrying amounts by EUR 21.3 billion in total. The reclassification of assets to non-current assets and disposal groups
held for sale reduced the carrying amounts by EUR 3.1 billion. These reclassifications mainly resulted from the agreed sale
of T-Mobile Netherlands and the agreed sale of the 50 % stake in GlasfaserPlus GmbH. In addition, disposals decreased the
carrying amounts by EUR 1.7 billion.

For further information on the acquisition of Shentel and the agreed sale of T-Mobile Netherlands, please refer to the section “Changes in the composition
of the Group and other transactions” in the consolidated financial statements.

Compared with December 31, 2020, right-of-use assets increased by EUR 0.5 billion to EUR 30.8 billion. The carrying amount
was increased by additions of EUR 5.5 billion, including as a result of a sale and leaseback transaction concluded after the
combination of the cell tower business in the Netherlands and the set-up of an infrastructure fund. The carrying amount
was also increased by exchange rate effects of EUR 2.1 billion, primarily from the translation of U.S. dollars into euros, and
effects from changes in the composition of the Group of EUR 0.3 billion, mainly in connection with the acquisition of Shentel.
The carrying amount was decreased by depreciation, amortization and impairment losses of EUR 6.2 billion. This included a
EUR 0.8 billion increase in depreciation and amortization due to a reduction in the useful life of leased network technology
for cell sites in the United States operating segment following the business combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint. The
reclassification of T-Mobile Netherlands’s assets to non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale in the amount of
EUR 0.5 billion and disposals of EUR 0.4 billion also reduced the carrying amount. In addition, reclassifications of lease assets
at the end of the contractual lease term to property, plant and equipment, in the United States operating segment in particular,
reduced the carrying amount by EUR 0.2 billion.

Current and non-current financial assets decreased by EUR 0.8 billion to EUR 8.9 billion. The carrying amount of derivatives
with a hedging relationship decreased by EUR 0.5 billion to EUR 1.6 billion, mainly due to the decrease in positive fair values
from interest rate swaps in fair value hedges, which is primarily the result of a rise in the interest rate level. The carrying
amount of derivatives without a hedging relationship decreased by a net effect of EUR 0.8 billion to EUR 1.2 billion. Taking into
account the partial exercising of the stock options received from SoftBank in June 2020 to purchase shares in T-Mobile US,
as well as measurement effects, the carrying amount of these stock options decreased by EUR 0.6 billion compared with
December 31,2020. In addition, the carrying amount of the derivatives without a hedging relationship decreased by
EUR 0.4 billion in connection with embedded derivatives of T-Mobile US. This related in part to the premature repayment of
bonds. By contrast, the carrying amount was increased by positive measurement effects of EUR 0.1 billion from energy forward
agreements embedded in contracts. Receivables from grants still to be received from funding projects for the broadband build-
out in Germany increased by EUR 0.1 billion year-on-year.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale increased by EUR 3.7 billion compared with December 31,2020 to
EUR 4.9 billion. EUR 4.7 billion of the increase resulted from the reclassification of T-Mobile Netherlands’ assets in connection
with the sale agreed as of September 6,2021 and EUR 0.1 billion from the agreement concluded on November 5, 2021 on the
sale of 50 % of the shares in GlasfaserPlus. By contrast, the sale of the Dutch company T-Mobile Infra as of June 1, 2021 and of
Telekom Romania Communications as of September 30, 2021 had decreasing effects on the carrying amount of EUR 0.4 billion
and EUR 0.6 billion respectively.

| For further information on the corporate transactions, please refer to the section “Group organization.”
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The increase in other assets of EUR 1.5 billion to EUR 11.9 billion was due in part to the increase in the carrying amount of
investments accounted for using the equity method, mainly as a result of the combination of the cell tower business in
the Netherlands and the set-up of an infrastructure fund. As a result of the transaction, 37.65 % of the shares in Cellnex NL
with a carrying amount of EUR 0.4 billion were included in the Group Development operating segment in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method. Other assets increased by EUR 0.5 billion, in part in connection with an increase
in advance payments for hardware and support services in the United States operating segment. Capitalized contract costs
increased by EUR 0.4 billion due to higher levels of capitalized costs of obtaining contracts in postpaid customer business in
the United States operating segment. These mainly related to sales commissions paid to employees and third-party retailers.
Inventories increased by EUR 0.2 billion compared with December 31, 2020, primarily due to increased stockpiling of high-
priced devices for planned marketing campaigns in the United States operating segment. Exchange rate effects also increased
the carrying amount.

For further information on the combination of the cell tower business in the Netherlands and the set-up of an infrastructure fund, please refer to the section
“Group organization.”

On the liabilities and shareholders’ equity side, current and non-current financial liabilities increased by EUR 4.4 billion
compared with the end of 2020 to a total of EUR111.5 billion. Exchange rate effects, in particular from the translation of
U.S. dollars into euros, raised the carrying amount by EUR 5.0 billion. T-Mobile US issued senior notes in the 2021 financial
year with a total volume of USD 14.8 billion (EUR 12.5 billion) and made early repayments on bonds with a total volume
of USD 5.8 billion (EUR 4.8 billion). In addition, T-Mobile US repaid bonds with a volume of USD 3.3 billion (EUR 2.8 billion)
on schedule. Furthermore, AUD bonds with a volume of AUD 0.1 billion (EUR 01 billion) and euro bonds with a volume of
EUR 0 billion were issued within the Group, and euro bonds with a volume of EUR 2.3 billion and U.S. dollar bonds with a
volume of USD 0.6 billion (EUR 0.5 billion) were repaid. The carrying amount of liabilities to banks decreased by EUR 1.3 billion
compared with December 31, 2020. Financial liabilities decreased by EUR 0.1 billion in connection with collateral received for
derivative financial instruments.

Current and non-current lease liabilities increased by EUR 0.4 billion to EUR 33.1 billion compared with December 31, 2020.
Exchange rate effects, in particular from the translation of U.S. dollars into euros, raised the carrying amount by EUR 2.2 billion.
Effects of changes in the composition of the Group, mainly from the first-time inclusion of Shentel, acquired by T-Mobile US
accounting for EUR 0.3 billion, also increased the carrying amount. This was offset in particular by an advance payment for the
lease of cell sites of EUR 0.9 billion made by T-Mobile US to a U.S. cell tower company in September 2021 in connection with a
change to the existing lease agreed in the reporting period and a decline of EUR 0.6 billion, due in part to the decommissioning
of former Sprint cell sites and the closure of some former Sprint shops in the United States operating segment. The
reclassification of the liabilities of T-Mobile Netherlands to liabilities directly associated with non-current assets and disposal
groups held for sale also decreased the carrying amount.

For further information on the development of financial liabilities, please refer to Note 13 “Financial liabilities and lease liabilities” in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Trade and other payables increased by EUR 0.7 billion to EUR 10.5 billion, mainly due to higher liabilities to suppliers of mobile
terminal equipment in the United States operating segment and exchange rate effects, in particular from the translation
of U.S. dollars into euros. By contrast, liabilities in the Group Development operating segment decreased as a result of the
reclassification of T-Mobile Netherlands’ liabilities to liabilities directly associated with non-current assets and disposal groups
held for sale.

Provisions for pensions and other employee benefits decreased by EUR 1.6 billion compared with December 31,2020 to
EUR 6.1 billion, mainly due to an increase in the share prices of plan assets and interest rate adjustments. All this resulted in an
actuarial gain of EUR 1.4 billion from the remeasurement of defined benefit plans to be recognized directly in equity.

Current and non-current other provisions increased by EUR 0.4 billion compared with December 31,2020 to EUR 9.5 billion,
with other personnel provisions increasing by EUR 0.3 billion, which was attributable, in part, to short-term variable
remuneration, phased retirement, and vacation. By contrast, the provisions recognized for the Civil Service Health Insurance
Fund (Postbeamtenkrankenkasse — PBeaKK) decreased by EUR 0. billion, which is mainly attributable to the subsequent
measurement of the present value determined using actuarial principles (interest effect). The provisions for restoration
obligations increased by EUR 0.2 billion. Within provisions for termination benefits, provisions were reduced by, among other
factors, the reversal of other provisions for personnel costs of EUR 0.1 billion, which had been recognized by OTE in 2010 and
2011 for an additional payment to the Greek social insurance fund, as a result of proceedings concluded in September 2021.
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Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale increased by EUR 0.9 billion against
December 31,2020 to EUR1.4 billion. Of this increase, EUR1.4 billion resulted from the reclassification of T-Mobile
Netherlands’ liabilities in connection with the agreed sale. By contrast, the sale of the Dutch company T-Mobile Infra as of
June 1, 2021 and of Telekom Romania Communications as of September 30, 2021 in particular had decreasing effects on the
carrying amount of EUR 0.2 billion and EUR 0.3 billion respectively.

| For further information on the corporate transactions, please refer to the section “Group organization.”

Other liabilities remained at the level of December 31, 2020 of EUR 8.3 billion. Other liabilities were reduced by EUR 0.1 billion,
mainly in connection with lower liabilities from early retirement arrangements for civil servants. By contrast, existing build-
out obligations in connection with grants still to be received from funding projects for the broadband build-out in Germany
increased other liabilities by EUR 0.1 billion. Income tax liabilities decreased by EUR 0.1 billion year-on-year, whereas contract
liabilities increased by EUR 0.2 billion year-on-year.

Shareholders’ equity increased from EUR 72.6 billion as of December 31,2020 to EUR 81.5 billion. Profit of EUR 6.1 billion and
other comprehensive income of EUR 6.7 billion increased shareholders’ equity, as did the capital increase from share-based
payment of EUR 0.5 billion. By contrast, shareholders’ equity was reduced in connection with dividend payments for the 2020
financial year to Deutsche Telekom AG shareholders in the amount of EUR 2.8 billion and to other shareholders of subsidiaries
in the amount of EUR 0.3 billion. The carrying amount of shareholders’ equity also decreased by a net EUR 0.8 billion due to the
acquisition of T-Mobile US shares by way of a capital increase against contribution in kind. As a result, Deutsche Telekom AG’s
stake in T-Mobile US increased by 3.6 percentage points to 46.8 %. Taking into account a fair value of EUR 0.8 billion for the
exercised stock options, which were recognized directly in equity as part of the consideration paid to SoftBank, the issued
capital and reserves attributable to owners of the parent increased by a total of EUR 1.5 billion, while those attributable to
non-controlling interests decreased by EUR 2.4 billion. As a result, the share of profit attributable to the owners of the parent
increased, as did consequently earnings per share. Effects of changes in the composition of the Group — mainly due to the sale
of Telekom Romania Communications in the Europe operating segment — of EUR 0.2 billion and transactions with owners of
EUR 0.2 billion decreased the carrying amount.

For more information on the increase in the stake in T-Mobile US, please refer to the section “Group organization” and Note 19 “Shareholders’ equity” in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Financial position of the Group and profitability

Finance management

Our finance management ensures our Group’s ongoing solvency and hence its financial equilibrium. The fundamentals of
Deutsche Telekom’s finance policy are established each year by the Board of Management and overseen by the Supervisory
Board. Group Treasury is responsible for implementing the finance policy and for ongoing risk management. In order to ensure
we have scope for financing, we continuously monitor the development of net debt, Deutsche Telekom AG’s rating, financial
flexibility, and free cash flow AL.

Calculation of net debt

millions of €
Change

Dec. 31,20212 Dec. 31,2020 Change % Dec. 31,2019
Bonds and other securitized liabilities 93,857 87,702 6,155 7.0 51,644
Liabilities to banks 4,003 5,257 (1,254) (23.9) 6,516
Other financial liabilities 13,730 14,149 419) 3.0 8,189
Lease liabilities 33,767 32,715 1,052 3.2 19,835
Financial liabilities and lease liabilities 145,357 139,823 5,534 4.0 86,184
Accrued interest (1,012) (1,035) 23 2.2 (748)
Other (855) (703) (152) (21.6) (739)
Gross debt 143,490 138,085 5,405 3.9 84,697
Cash and cash equivalents 7,617 12,939 (5,322) @10 5,393
Derivative financial assets 2,762 4,038 (1,276) (31.6) 2,333
Other financial assets 969 881 88 10.0 940
Net debt 132,142 120,227 1,915 9.9 76,031

2 Including the net debt of T-Mobile Netherlands included under liabilities directly associated with non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale as of
December 31,2021.
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Changes in net debt

millions of €
6,869 106 132,142
1,871 582
3145
120,227 5286
8,388
= (14,332) ‘
Net debt Free cash flow Spectrum Additions Dividend Acquisition SoftBank Exchange Other Net debt
as of (before dividend  acquisition of lease payments of stock options rate effects effects as of
Dec. 31,2020 payments liabilities (incl. to Shentel Dec. 31,2021
and spectrum non-controlling
investment) interests)

Other effects of EUR 0.1 billion included a large number of smaller effects.

Other financing options

Off-balance-sheet financing instruments mainly relate to the sale of receivables by means of factoring. Total receivables sold
as of December 31,2021 amounted to EUR 3.3 billion (December 31,2020: EUR 31 billion). This mainly relates to factoring
agreements in the United States and Germany operating segments. The increase against the prior year resulted from normal
fluctuations in the contractual sales volumes executed. The agreements are used in particular for active receivables
management.

In the reporting year, we did not choose any financing options (2020: options chosen totaling EUR 0.2 billion) under which
payments for trade payables from operating and investing activities became due at a later point by involving banks in the
process and which upon payment are shown under net cash used in/from financing activities. As a result, we show these
payables under financial liabilities in the statement of financial position.

The rating of Deutsche Telekom AG

Standard & Poor’s Moody’s Fitch
Long-term rating / outlook
Dec. 31,2019 BBB+ / CreditWatch negative Baal/ negative BBB+ / stable
Dec. 31,2020 BBB / stable Baa1/ negative BBB+ / stable
Dec. 31,2021 BBB / stable Baa1/ stable BBB+ / stable
Short-term rating A-2 P-2 F2

Rating agency Standard & Poor’s downgraded Deutsche Telekom AG’s rating from BBB+ to BBB with a stable outlook on
completion of the business combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint as of April 1, 2020. In June 2021 the rating agency Moody’s
upgraded the rating outlook for Deutsche Telekom AG. The Moody’s rating is now Baal with a stable outlook. We are therefore
still a solid investment-grade company with access to the international capital markets.

Financial flexibility
2021 2020 2019
Relative debt®
Net debt 3.06x 2.78x 2.65x
EBITDA (adjusted for special factors)
Equity ratio % 28.9 27.4 271

@ Relative debt is calculated on a quarterly basis and the calculation of the figure for 2020 includes as an input for the first quarter of 2020 historic pro forma
figures for Sprint, which was included in the United States operating segment.

To ensure financial flexibility, we primarily use the KPI “relative debt.” This is a core component of our finance strategy and an
important performance indicator for investors, analysts, and rating agencies. At 3.06x, we have deviated from the target range
of 2.25x to 2.75x in the reporting year, as expected, on account of the business combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint. We
expect to be back in the target range by the end of 2024.
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Calculation of free cash flow AL

millions of €
Change

2021 2020 Change % 2019
Net cash from operating activities 32171 23,743 8,428 35.5 23,074
Interest payments for zero-coupon bonds 0 1,600 (1,600) (100.0) 0
Termination of forward-payer swaps at T-Mobile US 0 2158 (2,158) (100.0) 0
Net cash from operating activities? 32,171 27,501 4,670 17.0 23,074
Cash capex (26,366) (18,694) (7,672) 41.0) (14,357)
Spectrum investment 8,388 1,714 6,674 n.a. 1,239
Cash capex (before spectrum investment) (17,978) (16,980) (998) (5.9) (13,118)
Proceeds from the disposal of intangible assets
(excluding goodwill) and property, plant and equipment 139 236 ©97) @) 176
Free cash flow (before dividend payments and spectrum
investment)? 14,332 10,756 3,576 33.2 10,133
Principal portion of repayment of lease liabilities” (5,521) (4,468) (1,053) (23.6) (3120)
Free cash flow AL (before dividend payments and
spectrum investment)? 8,810 6,288 2,522 401 7,013

@ Before interest payments for zero-coupon bonds and before termination of forward-payer swaps at T-Mobile US (both in 2020).
b Excluding finance leases at T-Mobile US.

Free cash flow AL (before dividend payments and spectrum investment) increased by EUR 2.5 billion year-on-year to
EUR 8.8 billion. The following effects impacted on this development:

Net cash from operating activities increased by EUR 4.7 billion. The sustained strong performance of the operating segments,
especially the United States, including Sprint, had an increasing effect on net cash from operating activities. A net increase of
EUR 0.7 billion overall in interest payments, mainly as a result of the financial liabilities assumed and the restructuring carried
out in connection with the acquisition of Sprint, and the related increase in financing, decreased the carrying amount. Income
tax payments increased by EUR 0.2 billion compared with the prior year. Factoring agreements resulted in negative effects
of EUR 0.1 billion on net cash from operating activities in the reporting year. In the prior year, factoring agreements had had
negative effects of EUR 0.8 billion, mainly as a result of the contractual termination of a revolving factoring agreement in the
Germany operating segment.

Cash capex (before spectrum investment) increased by EUR 1.0 billion to EUR 18.0 billion, largely on account of the inclusion
of Sprint and the ongoing 5G network build-out in the United States. In the Germany operating segment, cash capex decreased
by EUR 0 billion. Capital expenditure in the Germany operating segment totaled around EUR 4.1 billion in 2021, in particular
for the build-out of the SG and fiber-optic networks. In the Europe operating segment, our investments were on a par with the
prior-year level at EUR 1.8 billion. Here, we also continue to invest in the provision of broadband and fiber-optic technology and
in 5G as part of our integrated network strategy.

The increase in repayments of lease liabilities was due in particular to payments for leases in the United States operating
segment. The increase resulted from the inclusion of Sprint for the full year for the first time in the reporting year and from
advance payments made by T-Mobile US for the lease of cell sites.

For further information on the statement of cash flows, please refer to Note 35 “Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows” in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Profitability
millions of €

2021 2020 2019
ROCE % 41 4.6 51
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) 13,057 12,804 9,457
Share of profit (loss) of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the
equity method (102) (12) 87
Net operating profit (NOP) 12,956 12,792 9,544
Tax (imputed tax rate 2021: 27.8 %; 2020: 27.8 %; 2019: 27.8 %) (3,602) (3,556) (2,653)
Net operating profit after taxes (NOPAT) 9,354 9,236 6,891
Cash and cash equivalents 7,617 12,939 5,393
Intangible assets 132,647 118,066 68,202
Property, plant and equipment 61,770 60,975 49,548
Right-of-use assets® 30,777 30,302 17,998
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale and liabilities® 3,491 664 68
Investments accounted for using the equity method 938 543 489
Operating working capital 7,702 6,458 2,983
Other provisions (9,463) (9,033) (6,663)
Net operating assets (NOA) 235,479 220,914 138,018
Average net operating assets (@ NOA) 229,035 201,545 135,618

@ The calculation method used to determine this financial performance indicator was adjusted in 2019 as a result of the new IFRS 16 accounting standard.
b Excluding the carrying amounts of companies accounted for using the equity method.
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ROCE decreased by 0.5 percentage points in the reporting period to 4.1 %. This was due to stronger percentage growth in
average operating assets (NOA) than in net operating profit after taxes (NOPAT). The increase in NOA is primarily due to the
acquisition of additional spectrum licenses by T-Mobile US and the associated increase in intangible assets. In addition, the
development of NOA reflects our consistently high investment volume. The year-on-year development of NOPAT is primarily
impacted by higher expenses classified as special factors, mainly in the United States operating segment. These arose in
connection with higher integration and restructuring costs to realize cost efficiencies as a result of the business combination
of T-Mobile US and Sprint and the reduction in the useful life of leased network technology for cell sites. In the prior year,
NOPAT had been positively affected by the partial reversal of impairment losses on spectrum licenses, which had increased the
carrying amount.

Overall, NOPAT amounted to EUR 9.4 billion in 2021, up from EUR 9.2 billion in the prior year. The average amount of net
operating assets (NOA) increased to EUR 229.0 billion in 2021 from EUR 201.5 billion in the prior year.

For further information on the definition of ROCE and the methods used to calculate this key performance indicator, please refer to the section
“Management of the Group.”

Development of business in the operating segments

| For further information on the development of business in the operating segments, please refer to the IR back-up on our Investor Relations website.

Effective January1,2021, Deutsche Telekom reassigned the responsibility for business and profit and loss for
Deutsche Telekom loT GmbH from the Systems Solutions operating segment to the business customer unit in the Germany
operating segment. Prior-year comparatives in both of the segments (development of operations, customer development,
headcount development, and order entry) were adjusted retrospectively.

For further information on the reassignment of the loT business, please refer to the sections “Group organization” and “Segment reporting” in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements.

Germany
Customer development
thousands
Change
Dec. 31,2021 Dec. 31,2020 Change % Dec. 31,2019
Mobile customers 53,21 48,213 4,998 10.4 46,189
Contract customers® P 23,129 25975 (2,846) (1.0) 25,291
Prepaid customers® b 30,081 22,239 7,842 35.3 20,898
Fixed-network lines 17,525 17,590 (65) (0.4) 17,824
Retail broadband lines 14,478 14,118 360 2.5 13,730
Of which: optical fiber 10,379 9,515 864 91 8,529
Television (IPTV, satellite) 4,001 3,864 137 3.5 3,618
Unbundled local loop lines (ULLs) 3,622 4,101 (479) M.7) 4,638
Wholesale broadband lines 7948 7,733 215 2.8 7,372
Of which: optical fiber 6,778 6,433 345 5.4 5,863

2 The realignment of the B2B telecommunications business in 2020 resulted in the deactivation of around 310 thousand SIM cards in the business customer
area as of January 1, 2021, which are now treated as internal cards. Prior-year figures have been adjusted with retroactive effect.

® From January 1, 2021, around 3.6 million SIM cards of a service provider that were previously reported under contract customers are now reported under
prepaid customers. Prior-year comparatives were not adjusted.

Total

In Germany we continue to be market leader both in terms of fixed-network and mobile revenues. This success is attributable
to our high-performance networks. We offer the best customer experience with award-winning network quality — in the fixed
network as in mobile communications — and with a broad product portfolio and excellent service. We want to offer our
customers a seamless and technology-neutral telecommunications experience. Hence, alongside fixed-network and mobile
communications products, we also market convergence products. At the end of May 2021, we launched MagentaEINS
Unlimited with unlimited data across Germany. Our MagentaEINS family of FMC products remains very popular among
customers, with some 5.3 million customers having opted for MagentaEINS by the end of 2021. We added 217 thousand
customers compared to the end of the prior year.

Demand remained high for our fiber-optic-based lines. The total number of these customer lines increased to around
17.2 million overall by the end of December 2021, which means a further 1.2 million customers in Germany received a fiber-
optic-based line from us in the course of 2021. With the progress made in fiber-optic rollout, we also successfully drove forward
the marketing of higher bandwidths.

al
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Mobile communications

We won a total of some 5.0 million mobile customers in 2021. Of these, 666 thousand were high-value contract customers
under our Telekom and congstar brands. Steady demand for mobile rate plans with included data volumes alongside our
multiple award-winning network quality continues to drive this trend. Since January 1, 2021, the customers of a service provider
previously reported under contract customers have been reported under prepaid customers. Allowing for this change in
disclosure, we have added around 4.2 million prepaid customers since the start of the year, largely on the back of our
automotive offerings targeted specifically at business customers.

The StreamOn option, with which customers can stream certain music, gaming, or video services without reducing their
included data allowance, remains very popular. At the end of 2021, 4.6 million customers were using this option, up by 16.0 %
year-on-year.

Fixed network

The fixed-network broadband market hosts a large number of players with differing infrastructures — from national through to
regional providers. In order to consolidate our position on the market as Germany’s leading telecommunications provider, we
continue to add new offerings to our portfolio.

The number of broadband lines increased to around 14.5 million in 2021. Demand for our retail fiber-optic-based lines was
the biggest driver here, accounting for 864 thousand lines. We recorded an increase of 137 thousand in the number of TV
customers compared with year-end 2020. In traditional fixed-network business, the number of lines declined slightly by
65 thousand. This marked a considerable reduction in line losses compared with the prior-year period. As expected, the number
of fixed-network lines was 17.5 million lines.

Wholesale

As of December 31, 2021, fiber-optic-based lines accounted for 58.6 % of all lines — 4.2 percentage points more than at the end
of 2020. This growth is a result of demand for quota-based agreements under the “contingent model,” and subsequently for
the new commitment agreements which were successfully introduced on April 1, 2021. Rising demand among consumers for
higher-bandwidth lines also contributed to the increase. The number of unbundled local loop lines decreased by 479 thousand
compared with the end of the prior year, partly as a result of the shift to higher-value fiber-optic-based lines and partly from
consumers switching to other cable providers. In addition, our wholesale customers are migrating their retail customers to their
own fiber-optic-based lines. The total number of wholesale lines at the end of 2021 was around 11.6 million.

Development of operations

millions of €
Change

2021 2020 Change % 2019
Total revenue 24164 23,790 374 1.6 23,750
Consumers 12,221 1,740 481 41 11,618
Business Customers 8,878 8,857 21 0.2 8,957
Wholesale 2,767 2,983 (216) 72) 2,944
Other 298 210 88 19 230
Service revenue® 21,298 20,993 305 1.5 n.a.
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) 4,951 3,970 981 24.7 4,238
EBIT margin % 20.5 16.7 17.8
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (4,016) (4,510) 494 11.0 (4,368)
EBITDA 8,968 8,480 488 5.8 8,606
Special factors affecting EBITDA (588) (752) 164 21.8 (458)
EBITDA (adjusted for special factors) 9,556 9,232 324 3.5 9,064
EBITDA AL 8,932 8,435 497 59 8,568
Special factors affecting EBITDA AL (588) (752) 164 21.8 (458)
EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors) 9,520 9,188 332 3.6 9,026
EBITDA AL margin (adjusted for special factors) % 39.4 38.6 38.0
Cash capex 4me) (4,191) 75 1.8 (4,447)

2 The definition of “service revenue” was not applied consistently Group-wide for the years prior to 2020.
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Total revenue, service revenue

In 2021 we generated total revenue of EUR 24.2 billion, which was up by 1.6 % year-on-year. The growth in service revenues
of 1.5 % was attributable to increased revenue in the fixed-network core business, largely broadband-driven, and to higher
mobile service revenues. Overall, revenue was affected by the effects of the coronavirus pandemic, such as temporary travel
restrictions, lockdowns, and the deteriorated economic situation. This had a negative effect on roaming and visitor revenues. It
also resulted in delays or postponements to current orders in B2B telecommunications business.

Revenue from Consumers increased by 4.1% compared with the prior year. Volume-driven declines in revenue from voice
components continued to impact on traditional fixed-network business. By contrast, revenue from broadband business grew
by 6.9 %, due in part to the positive effects from increased customer appreciation for stable data lines. Fixed-network terminal
equipment business posted growth of 9.2 % on the back of strong demand on the customer side for terminal equipment lease
models. Mobile business increased by 4.7 %, primarily due to higher revenues from mobile terminal equipment business and a
positive trend in the number of customers opting for our secondary brand, congstar.

Revenue from Business Customers was up slightly by 0.2 % year-on-year. IT revenue grew by 5.4 % against the prior year,
mainly due to concerted efforts to drive forward digitalization in the SME sector. Overall, mobile revenue was up 2.1 % year-on-
year, partly on the back of positive revenues from terminal equipment business and sustained customer additions. In organic
terms, i.e., mainly assuming constant exchange rates and adjusted for the reassignment of Deutsche Telekom IT (DT IT) Russia,
DT IT Slovakia, and DT IT Hungary to the Group Headquarters & Group Services segment, revenue increased by 2.0 % year-on-
year.

Wholesale revenue was down at the end of 2021 by 7.2 % year-on-year. The positive trend in the number of fiber-optic-based
lines continued, with an increase of 5.4 % compared with the prior year. However, this was not enough to offset the decrease
in revenues of 11.7 % from declining volumes of unbundled local loop lines. In addition, the positive contribution in the prior-
year period from the transition to the IFRS 16 Leases accounting standard, which reduced the customer retention period in
connection with the lease of unbundled local loop lines, no longer applied in the reporting period. Since April1,2021, the
transition to the new commitment agreements to replace the former quota-based agreements has led to sharper declines in
revenue in the reporting year. This is primarily due to the fact that under the new commitment model the annual payments
are initially lower compared to the up-front payments that had been made under the quota-based agreements under the
contingent model. The annual commitment payments will rise over the course of subsequent years. Voice revenue was down
against the prior year, which had contained higher, largely coronavirus-induced, revenues in this area.

| For further information on the entry into force of the commitment agreements, please refer to the section “The economic environment — Regulation.”

Adjusted EBITDA AL, EBITDA AL

EBITDA AL adjusted for special factors increased by EUR 332 million or 3.6 % year-on-year to EUR 9.5 billion. Our
adjusted EBITDA AL margin increased to 39.4 %, up from 38.6 % in the prior year. The main reasons for this increase are a
sound operational development, driven by high-value revenue growth, and enhanced cost efficiency. Lower personnel costs
resulting, among other factors, from the smaller headcount and the ongoing implementation of efficiency enhancement and
digitalization measures reduced costs.

In contrast to the effects described under EBITDA AL, lower expenses recognized as special factors for socially responsible
instruments in connection with the staff restructuring, in particular the dedicated retirement program, had an offsetting effect.
EBITDA AL increased in 2021 by 5.9 % year-on-year to EUR 8.9 billion.

EBIT

Profit from operations was up 24.7 % year-on-year to EUR 5.0 billion, driven by the positive EBITDA AL trend together with
lower depreciation, amortization, and impairment losses year-on-year, mainly on account of substantially lower amortization of
intangible assets due to the expiry of the amortization of UMTS licenses.

Cash capex

Cash capex decreased by EUR 75 million or 1.8 % compared with the prior year. Capital expenditure totaled around
EUR 4. billion in 2021, with much of this figure going towards the build-out of our 5G and fiber-optic networks. The number of
households passed by our fiber-optic network increased to around 3.4 million by the end of 2021. In mobile communications,
our customers benefit from greater LTE network coverage. As of December 31,2021, we covered 99 % of households in
Germany with LTE. Over 90 % of German households can already use 5G.
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United States
Customer development
thousands
Change
Dec. 31,2021 Dec. 31,2020 Change % Dec. 31,2019
Customers 108,719 102,064 6,655 6.5 67,895
Postpaid customers 87,663 81,350 6,313 7.8 47,034
Postpaid phone customers® b 70,262 66,618 3,644 5.5 40,346
Other postpaid customers® b 17,401 14,732 2,669 181 6,689
Prepaid customers® © 21,056 20,714 342 17 20,860
Adjustments of the customer base
thousands
Total Adjustment of
adjustments customer Adjustment of
of the definition for customer Sprint
customer Sprint’s prepaid definition at additions
base in business as of Sprint as of as of
2020 July 1,2020¢ Apr.1,20202 April1,2020
Customers 28,354 (9,393) (4,853) 42,600
Postpaid customers 28,830 0 (5,514) 34,344
Postpaid phone customers 24,055 0 (1,861) 25916
Other postpaid customers 4,775 0 (3,653) 8,428
Prepaid customers (476) (9,393) 661 8,256

2 Includes customers acquired in connection with the Sprint Merger and certain customer base adjustments on April 1, 2020.

b In the first quarter of 2021, we acquired 11,000 postpaid phone customers and 1,000 postpaid other customers through our acquisition of an affiliate. In the
third quarter of 2021, we acquired 716,000 postpaid phone customers and 90,000 postpaid other customers through the acquisition of wireless assets
from Shentel.

¢ In connection with obtaining regulatory approval for the Sprint Merger, on July 1, 2020, substantially all prepaid customers acquired were subsequently
acquired by DISH. Upon closing of the transaction with DISH, we entered into a Master Network Service Agreement to provide network services to
customers of their prepaid business for a period of up to seven years. As a result, we included a base adjustment to reduce prepaid customers by 9.4 million
in the third quarter of 2020. The prepaid customers included in our total customers as of June 30, 2020 include the customers subsequently acquired by
DISH and are expected to be different than the customers included under the Master Network Service Agreement, and classified as wholesale customers,
due to differences in customer reporting policies.

Customers

At December 31,2021, the United States operating segment (T-Mobile US) had 108.7 million customers, compared to
1021 million customers at December 31, 2020. Excluding the customers that we acquired through acquisitions during the year,
net customer additions were 5.8 million in 2021, compared to the same number of net customer additions in 2020, due to the
factors described below.

Postpaid net customer additions were 5.5 million in 2021 and exceeded the high end of the company’s annual guidance range.
Compared to the prior year postpaid net customer additions were essentially flat and primarily impacted by higher postpaid
phone net customer additions, primarily due to increased retail store traffic, compared to lower retail traffic in the prior period
due to closures arising from the coronavirus pandemic, partially offset by higher churn. This increase was offset by lower
postpaid other net customer additions, primarily due to elevated gross additions in the prior year related to the public and
educational sector resulting from the coronavirus pandemic and higher disconnects from an increased customer base, partially
offset by growth in high-speed internet. High-speed internet net customer additions were 546 thousand and 87 thousand for
the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Prepaid net customer additions were 342 thousand in 2021, compared to 331thousand prepaid net customer additions in
2020. The increase was primarily due to lower churn.
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Development of operations

millions of €
Change

2021 2020 Change % 2019
Total revenue 68,359 61,208 7931 17 40,420
Service revenue® 48,929 44,271 4,658 10.5 n.a.
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) 7,217 9187 (1,970) (21.4) 5,488
EBIT margin % 10.6 15.0 13.6
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (18,338) (15,665) (2,673) (171) (7,777)
EBITDA 25,555 24,852 703 2.8 13,265
Special factors affecting EBITDA (1,836) (270) (1,566) n.a. (544)
EBITDA (adjusted for special factors) 27,392 25122 2,270 9.0 13,809
EBITDA AL 20,060 20,628 (568) (2.8) 10,590
Special factors affecting EBITDA AL (2,637) (370) (2,267) n.a. (544)
EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors) 22,697 20,997 1,700 81 1,134
Core EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors)® 19912 17,366 2,546 14.7 n.a.
EBITDA AL margin (adjusted for special factors) % 33.2 34.3 275
Cash capex (18,594) (10,394) (8,200) (78.9) (6,369)

2 The definition of “service revenue” was not applied consistently Group-wide for the years prior to 2020.

b Adjusted core EBITDA AL is distinguished by excluding revenue from terminal equipment leases from adjusted EBITDA AL, thereby presenting operational
development undistorted by the withdrawal from the terminal equipment lease business.

Total revenue, service revenue

Total revenue for the United States operating segment of EUR 68.4 billion in 2021 increased by 11.7 %, compared to
EUR 61.2 billion in 2020. In U.S. dollars, T-Mobile US’ total revenues increased by 15.2 % year-over-year primarily due to
increased service revenues and equipment revenues. The components of these changes are described below.

Service revenues increased in 2021 by 10.5 % to EUR 48.9 billion primarily due to higher postpaid revenues primarily from
higher average postpaid accounts, including the impact of accounts acquired in the Sprint Merger, higher postpaid ARPA
(Average Revenue per Account) and higher wholesale revenues primarily from our Master Network Service Agreement with
DISH, which went into effect on July 1, 2020, and the success of our other MVNO relationships. In addition, service revenues
increased due to higher prepaid revenues primarily from higher prepaid ARPU (Average Revenue per User) and higher average
prepaid customers. Furthermore, service revenues increased due to higher other service revenues primarily from higher Lifeline
revenues, primarily associated with operations acquired in the Sprint Merger and the inclusion of wireline operations acquired
in the Sprint Merger.

Equipment revenues increased in 2021 primarily due to an increase in device sales revenue (excluding purchased leased
devices) primarily due to an increase in the number of devices sold due to a larger customer base as a result of the Merger,
switching activity returning to more normalized levels compared to the muted conditions from the coronavirus pandemic in the
prior year a higher upgrade rate and the planned shift in device financing from leasing to EIP. Device sales revenue (excluding
purchased leased devices) also increased due to higher average revenue per device sold driven by an increased mix of phone
versus other devices, partially offset by an increase in promotional activities. In addition, equipment revenues increased due
to an increase in sales of accessories, primarily from increased retail store traffic, compared to lower retail traffic in the prior
period due to closures arising from the coronavirus pandemic and a larger customer base as a result of the Sprint Merger.
Furthermore, equipment revenues increased due to an increase in liquidation revenues, primarily due to a higher volume of
returned devices and an increase in the high-end device mix. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in lease
revenues due to a lower number of customer devices under lease as a result of the planned shift in device financing from leasing
to EIP.
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Adjusted EBITDA AL, EBITDA AL

In euros, adjusted EBITDA AL increased by 8.1% to EUR 22.7 billion in 2021, compared to EUR 21.0 billion in 2019. The
adjusted EBITDA AL margin decreased to 33.2 % in 2021, compared to 34.3 % in 2020. In U.S. dollars, adjusted EBITDA AL
increased by 11.8 % during the same period. Adjusted EBITDA AL increased primarily due to higher service revenues and
equipment revenues (excluding lease revenues) as discussed above. These increases were partially offset by higher device
cost of equipment sales (excluding purchased leased devices) primarily from an increase in the number of devices sold due
to a larger customer base as a result of the Sprint Merger, switching activity returning to more normalized levels relative to
the muted conditions from the coronavirus pandemic in the prior year, a higher upgrade rate and the planned shift in device
financing from leasing to EIP. Device cost of equipment sales (excluding purchased leased devices) also increased due to higher
average costs per device sold due to an increased mix of phone versus other devices. In addition, there were higher expenses
associated with cost of accessories, due to increased retail store traffic, compared to lower retail traffic in the prior period due
to closures arising from the coronavirus pandemic and a larger customer base as result of the Sprint Merger. Furthermore, there
were higher expenses associated with leases and utilities primarily due to the Sprint Merger and the continued build-out of
our nationwide 5G network, including a new tower master lease agreement in 2020 and higher employee-related and benefit-
related costs primarily due to increased average headcount as a result of the Sprint Merger. In addition, there were higher costs
associated with advertising relative to the muted coronavirus pandemic-driven conditions in the prior period, external labor
and professional services primarily from the Sprint Merger and higher commissions primarily due to compensation structure
changes and higher customer addition volumes. These increases in costs were partially offset by higher realized Sprint Merger
synergies, including a decrease in expenses associated with backhaul agreements due to the termination of certain agreements
acquired in the Sprint Merger, and lower bad debt expense due to the release of estimated bad debt reserves established in the
prior year associated with macro-economic impacts of the coronavirus pandemic.

Adjusted core EBITDA AL increased by 14.7 % to EUR 19.9 billion in 2021, compared to EUR 17.4 billion in 2020. In U.S. dollars,
adjusted core EBITDA AL increased by 18.6 % during the same period. The change was primarily due to the fluctuation in
adjusted EBITDA AL, discussed above, excluding the change in lease revenues. In U.S. dollars, lease revenues decreased as a
result of the planned shift in device financing from leasing to EIP by 20.6 % in 2021.

EBITDA AL in 2021, included special factors of EUR -2.6 billion compared to EUR -0.4 billion in 2020. The change in special
factors was primarily due to special factors recognized in 2020 including the EUR 1.6 billion spectrum impairment reversal
and transaction fee received from SoftBank, partially offset by supplemental employee payroll, third-party commissions and
cleaning-related expenses associated with the coronavirus pandemic and a postpaid billing system disposal. In addition,
special factors increased due to higher Merger-related costs during 2021. Special factors include Merger-related costs
associated with the Merger and acquisitions of affiliates comprised of transaction costs, including legal and professional
services related to the completion of transactions; restructuring costs, including severance, store rationalization and network
decommissioning; and integration costs to achieve efficiencies in network, retail, information technology and back office
operations, migrate customers to the T-Mobile US’ network and the impact of legal matters assumed as part of the Sprint
Merger. Overall, EBITDA AL decreased by 2.8 % to EUR 20.1 billion in 2021, compared to EUR 20.6 billion in 2020, primarily due
to the factors described above, including special factors.

EBIT

EBIT decreased by 21.4 % to EUR 7.2 billion in 2021, compared to EUR 9.2 billion in 2020. In U.S. dollars, EBIT decreased by
19.0 % during the same period primarily due to higher depreciation and amortization and lower EBITDA AL. In U.S. dollars,
depreciation and amortization increased by 20.7 % primarily due to higher depreciation expense (excluding leased devices)
from the continued build-out of our nationwide SG network, accelerated depreciation expense on certain assets due to our
Sprint Merger integration, and higher amortization from intangible assets, primarily due to a full year of amortization of
intangible assets acquired in the Sprint Merger.

Cash capex

Cash capex increased to EUR 18.7 billion in 2021, compared to EUR 10.4 billion in 2020. In U.S. dollars, cash capex increased by
84.2 % primarily from an increase in spectrum purchases, primarily due to USD 8.9 billion paid for spectrum licenses won at the
conclusion of the C-band auction in March 2021, network integration related to the Sprint Merger and the continued build-out
of our nationwide 5G network.
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Europe
Customer development
thousands
Change
Dec. 31,2021 Dec. 31,2020 Change % Dec. 31,2019
Europe, total? Mobile customers 45,816 45,619 197 0.4 46,165
Contract customers 26,575 26,844 (269) (1.0) 26,245
Prepaid customers 19,241 18,775 466 2.5 19,920
Fixed-network lines? 7,802 9,084 (1,282) (14.1) 9,105
Of which: IP-based® 7,767 8,439 (672) (8.0) 8,31
Broadband customers®: ¢ 6,381 6,943 (562) (81 6,672
Television (IPTV, satellite, cable) @ 4,019 5,046 (1,027) (20.4) 4945
Unbundled local loop lines (ULLs)/
wholesale PSTN 1,932 2,246 (314) (14.0) 2,294
Wholesale broadband lines? 865 684 181 26.5 533
Greece Mobile customers 7,045 6,914 131 19 7,365
Fixed-network lines 2,624 2,589 35 1.4 2,638
Broadband customers 2,306 2,185 121 5.5 2,033
Romania® Mobile customers 3,691 4,683 (992) (21.2) 4916
Fixed-network lines 0 1,444 (1,444) (100.0) 1,560
Broadband customers 0 912 (912) (100.0) 1,014
Hungary Mobile customers 5,634 5,427 207 3.8 5,369
Fixed-network lines 1,821 1,759 62 3.5 1,703
Broadband customers® 1,417 1,321 96 7.3 1,231
Poland Mobile customers 11,542 1,198 344 34 10,954
Fixed-network lines? 29 kil 2 (6.5) 18
Broadband customers® 77 32 45 n.a. 18
Czech Republic Mobile customers 6,297 6,178 19 19 6,265
Fixed-network lines 645 606 39 6.4 533
Broadband customers 391 368 23 6.2 320
Croatia Mobile customers 2,276 2,253 23 1.0 2,274
Fixed-network lines 875 885 (10) ()] 908
Broadband customers 633 625 8 1.3 621
Slovakia Mobile customers 2,502 2,441 61 2.5 2,428
Fixed-network lines 880 865 15 17 860
Broadband customers 633 607 26 4.3 576
Austria Mobile customers 5,258 5,074 184 3.6 5,019
Fixed-network lines 593 569 24 4.2 549
Broadband customers 656 635 21 3.3 612
Other® Mobile customers 1,572 1,451 121 8.3 1,576
Fixed-network lines 336 335 1 0.3 335
Broadband customers 268 259 9 3.5 249

@ The number of lines and customers in Romania decreased in the fourth quarter of 2021 due to the sale of Telekom Romania Communications, which
operates the Romanian fixed-network business, effective September 30, 2021.

b The comparatives for fixed-network lines, broadband and TV customers in Poland were adjusted retrospectively as part of the standardization of the
underlying customer definition.

¢ The prior-year comparatives for broadband customers in Hungary were adjusted retrospectively as part of the standardization of the underlying customer
definition.

d The comparatives for TV customers in Croatia were adjusted retrospectively as part of the standardization of the underlying customer definition.
€ “Other”: national companies in North Macedonia, Montenegro, and the lines of the GTS Central Europe group in Romania.

Total

Excluding the effect from the sale of Telekom Romania Communications, the number of customers in our Europe operating
segment grew once again year-on-year, exceeding our expectations to some extent. For example, we recorded fixed-network
net customer additions on an organic basis. Our MagentaOne convergent product portfolio, in particular, generated growth
compared with year-end 2020 of 15.5 % in FMC customers thanks to ongoing demand. We are working flat out to build out
our fixed-network infrastructure with state-of-the-art optical fiber. The number of broadband customers likewise increased by
5.8 % in organic terms. On the same basis, the mobile business also recorded an increase of 2.8 % in customer numbers, with
increases in both the number of high-value contract customers and the number of prepaid customers. Our build-out of the 5G
network is making good progress: most of our national companies have already launched the commercial sale of 5G products
and services.
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Mobile communications

Our Europe operating segment had a total of 45.8 million mobile customers as of December 31, 2021, marking a stable trend
compared with the end of 2020. The number of high-value contract customers decreased slightly by 1.0 %, largely as a
result of the effect from the sale of Telekom Romania Communications on September 30, 2021: Romanian FMC customers,
i.e., customers who use both a fixed-network line and a mobile communications service were assigned to the fixed-network
business in line with our steering definition. As a result, the corresponding SIM cards were no longer included as of the end of
2021. Without this effect, the number of contract customers increased by 3.0 %. By contrast, the contract customer base grew
at our other national companies, especially in Poland, Hungary, and the Czech Republic. Overall, contract customers accounted
for 58.0 % of the total customer base. In parallel with pure customer development, we have successfully pursued the more-for-
more principle in our product portfolio, so as to sustainably increase value per customer. In addition, thanks to our integrated
network strategy our customers benefited from greater coverage with fast mobile broadband. As of December 31, 2021, we
covered 98.2 % of the population in the countries of our operating segment with LTE, reaching around 109 million people in
total. The footprint countries of our operating segment are also making excellent headway with SG. As of the end of 2021, our
national companies covered 28.9 % of the population (in particular in Greece, Croatia, and Austria) with 5G.

The prepaid customer base recorded growth of 2.5 % compared with the end of 2020. Growth in countries including Poland and
Austria more than offset the declines reported especially in Romania. In addition, we offer our prepaid customers high-value
contract plans with the resulting number of contract conversions also contributing positively to contract customer business.

Fixed network

The broadband business declined by 8.1 % compared with the end of the prior year to total 6.4 million customers. Excluding the
effect from the sale of the Romanian fixed-network business, the number of customers grew by 5.8 %. This increase was mainly
driven by the national companies in Greece, Hungary, and Poland. By continuing to invest in innovative fiber-optic technologies,
we are systematically building out our fixed-network infrastructure. At the end of the fourth quarter of 2021, a total of around
7.0 million households (coverage of 27.9 %) were provided with the option by our national companies to subscribe to a direct
connection to our high-speed fiber-optic network with speeds reaching up to 1 Gbit/s. The number of IP-based lines increased
to account for 99.6 % of all fixed-network lines in the same period. The number of fixed-network lines in our Europe operating
segment declined by 141 % overall to 7.8 million. Excluding the effect from the sale of the Romanian fixed-network business,
the number of lines grew by 2.1 % year-on-year.

The TV and entertainment business had a total of 4.0 million customers as of December 31,2021, down by 20.4 % compared
with the end of the prior year. Excluding the effect from the sale of the Romanian fixed-network business, the customer
base grew by 5.5 %. With both telecommunications providers and OTT players offering TV services, the TV market is already
saturated in many countries of our segment.

FMC - fixed-mobile convergence

Our portfolio of convergent products, MagentaOne, was highly popular with consumers across all of our national companies.
As of December 31, 2021, we had 6.3 million FMC customers; this corresponds to growth of 1.0 % compared with the end of the
prior year. Excluding the effect from the sale of the Romanian fixed-network business, the customer base grew by 15.5 %. Our
national companies, in particular in Greece, Hungary, Poland, the Czech Republic, and Austria, contributed to this growth. We
have also seen accelerated growth in the marketing of our MagentaOne Business product to business customers.
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Development of operations

millions of €
Change

2021 2020 Change % 2019
Total revenue 1,384 1,335 49 0.4 1,587
Greece 3,078 2,940 138 47 2,943
Romania 709 951 (242) (25.4) 980
Hungary 1,769 1,734 35 2.0 1,872
Poland 1,427 1,453 (2¢) (1.8) 1,486
Czech Republic 1146 1,072 74 69 1,088
Croatia 908 917 9 (1.0) 960
Slovakia 790 773 17 2.2 785
Austria 1,351 1,302 49 3.8 1,276
Other? 301 283 18 6.4 298
Service revenue® 9,638 9,630 8 041 n.a.
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) 1,814 1,278 536 M9 1,09
EBIT margin % 15.9 13 9.6
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (2,576) (2,875) 299 10.4 (314)
EBITDA 4,390 4153 237 5.7 4,223
Special factors affecting EBITDA Kl (188) 199 n.a. (141
EBITDA (adjusted for special factors) 4,380 4,34 39 0.9 4,364
EBITDA AL 4,018 3,722 296 8.0 3,769
Special factors affecting EBITDA AL Kl (188) 199 n.a. (141
EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors) 4,007 3,910 97 25 3,910
Greece 1,265 1199 66 55 1,212
Romania 147 153 ©) (39 M
Hungary 536 520 16 34 551
Poland 385 378 7 19 383
Czech Republic 471 430 41 9.5 448
Croatia 355 337 18 5.3 360
Slovakia 327 335 8) (2.9 327
Austria® 487 496 9 (1.8) 467
Other? 34 63 29 (46.0) 20
EBITDA AL margin (adjusted for special factors) % 35.2 34.5 33.7
Cash capex (1,905) (2,216) 3N 14.0 (1,816)

The contributions of the national companies correspond to their respective unconsolidated financial statements and do not take consolidation effects at
operating segment level into account.

a “Other”: national companies in North Macedonia, Montenegro, and the GTS Central Europe group in Romania, as well as the Europe Headquarters.
b The definition of “service revenue” was not applied consistently Group-wide for the years prior to 2020.

¢ As of January 1, 2021, the Austrian cell tower business was transferred from the Europe operating segment to the Group Development operating segment.
Prior-year comparatives were not adjusted.

Total revenue, service revenue

Total revenue generated in our Europe operating segment by the end of the reporting year was EUR 11.4 billion, a year-on-
year increase of 0.4 %. In organic terms — i.e., adjusted for the sale of Telekom Romania Communications, which operates the
Romanian fixed-network business, on September 30, 2021, and assuming constant exchange rate effects — revenue increased
by 2.4 % year-on-year. Service revenue remained stable year-on-year, growing by 2.0 % in organic terms. Regulatory
intervention, in addition to the consequences of the coronavirus pandemic, continued to have a negative effect on the organic
development of revenue in the reporting year.

Organic revenue growth was mainly driven by the strong performance of the mobile business, especially the increase in
mobile service revenues with higher margins, slight increases in roaming and visitor revenues, and higher revenues from
terminal equipment sales. Fixed-network service revenues, by contrast, developed slightly better. The strong performance
of the broadband business in particular helped to offset the declines in voice telephony revenues, which were in line with
expectations. Systems solutions business declined overall.

Looking at the development by country, our national companies in Greece, Hungary, Austria, and the Czech Republic recorded
the best organic development of revenue.
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Revenue from Consumers increased in organic terms by 2.5 % year-on-year, due mainly to higher mobile revenue: both service
revenues and sales of mobile terminal equipment increased. In the fixed network, revenue from broadband/TV business
increased thanks to our innovative TV and entertainment offerings as well as the continuous rollout of fiber-optic technology.
This more than offset the decline in revenue from voice telephony. In addition, the higher number of FMC customers had a
positive impact on revenue.

Revenue from Business Customers remained stable year-on-year in organic terms. The stable upward trend in mobile business
over the course of the year offset the slight decline in demand in the fixed-network business. The number of SIM cards
increased by 3 % year-on-year on the back of the development of business in Poland, Hungary, and Austria. This was a
consequence of the widespread utilization of mobile working in our European companies. The strong IT revenues of the previous
year could not be replicated in 2021 due to the sale of the Romanian fixed-network business and the new licensing rules in
Croatia. Nevertheless, we reported sustained growth in demand and revenues in our productivity, cloud computing, smart
cities, and security solution portfolios.

Adjusted EBITDA AL, EBITDA AL

Our Europe operating segment generated adjusted EBITDA AL of EUR 4.0 billion in the reporting year, up 2.5 % year-on-year.
In organic terms, i.e., adjusted for the sale of the Romanian fixed-network business and the transfer of the Austrian cell tower
business to the Group Development operating segment, and assuming constant exchange rates, adjusted EBITDA AL increased
by 5.4 %, thus continuing to make a positive contribution to earnings. In addition to the positive revenue effects, savings in
indirect costs, including due to lower personnel costs, contributed to this development.

Looking at the development by country, the increase in adjusted organic EBITDA AL was largely attributable to the positive
trend at virtually all of our national companies, but in particular in Greece, Austria, Romania, Croatia, and Hungary.

EBITDA AL increased by 8.0 % year-on-year to EUR 4.0 billion. Special factors improved from EUR -188 million to EUR 11 million.
The reason for this change was the reversal of other provisions for personnel costs recognized by OTE in 2010 and 2011
in connection with an additional payment of EUR 134 million to the Greek social insurance fund IKA-ETAM as a result of
corresponding proceedings concluded in September 2021. The sale of Telekom Romania Communications resulted in a loss on
deconsolidation of EUR 29 million, which was recognized as a special factor. In organic terms, EBITDA AL grew by 111 %.

Development of operations in selected countries

Greece. In Greece, revenue increased by 4.7 % year-on-year to EUR 3.1 billion. The encouraging development in mobile business
is mainly attributable to the addition of new contract customers, with associated increases in both terminal equipment sales
and service revenues. As travel activity increasingly returns to more normal levels, there was also a positive trend in visitor
revenues. The intensive fiber-optic and vectoring build-out, together with the resulting higher numbers of customers, had an
increasingly positive impact on the fixed-network business. Fixed-network revenues increased in the reporting year, mainly
driven by strong growth in the broadband business. The systems solutions business also contributed to revenue growth.

In 2021, adjusted EBITDA AL in Greece stood at EUR 1.3 billion, a significant increase of 5.5 % against the prior year. This is
attributable to a revenue-related increase in the net margin. Savings in indirect costs had a positive effect.

Hungary. Revenue in Hungary totaled EUR 1.8 billion in the 2021 financial year, an increase of 2.0 % despite negative exchange
rate effects. In organic terms, revenue was up 4.1% against the prior-year level. The biggest driver of this increase was
mobile communications business, mainly on account of higher service revenues. In addition, growth in the number of contract
customers had positive effects on terminal equipment business. Fixed-network operations also increased slightly year-on-year,
with rising TV and broadband service revenues, both driven once again by larger customer bases. Systems solutions business
posted a slight decline in revenue. Our MagentaOne convergence products continued to perform well, with further customer
additions and corresponding revenue.

Adjusted EBITDA AL stood at EUR 536 million, up 3.1 % year-on-year. In organic terms, adjusted EBITDA AL grew by 5.1 %. This
growth is attributable in particular to higher revenues, which more than offset the rise in costs.
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Poland. Our revenue in Poland decreased by 1.8 % in the reporting year to EUR 1.4 billion. This decline was due to negative
exchange rate effects. In organic terms, revenue increased slightly by 0.9 %, with the mobile business posting the largest
increase. Growth in the number of contract customers had a positive effect on terminal equipment business. Higher roaming
and visitor revenues were also recorded. Systems solutions business grew markedly in 2021. The number of FTTH customers
in the fixed-network business also increased significantly, creating the basis for further broadband growth. This is reflected
in higher broadband and TV service revenues, and is also thanks to our successful partnership agreements on network
infrastructure.

Adjusted EBITDA AL stood at EUR 385 million in 2021, up 1.9 % year-on-year. In organic terms, adjusted EBITDA AL increased
by 4.6 %, mainly on the back of the increase in revenue.

Czech Republic. In the reporting period, revenue in the Czech Republic stood at EUR 1.1 billion, up 6.9 % on the prior-year
level. Organic growth was 3.6 % on account of positive exchange rate effects. Mobile revenues were a major driver of this
trend, mainly on the back of increased service revenues (excluding visitor revenues) with higher margins, and higher terminal
equipment revenues. In addition, broadband and TV business in the fixed network were yet again the key driver of growth
in service revenues, thus bearing out our fiber-optic investment strategy. The number of broadband customers increased
substantially year-on-year. We also generated additional revenue in the area of systems solutions.

Adjusted EBITDA AL increased by 9.5 % year-on-year to EUR 471 million. In organic terms, earnings grew by 6.2 % year-on-year,
driven mainly by revenue.

Austria. Revenue in Austria totaled EUR 1.4 billion in the 2021 financial year. This increase of 3.8 % was mainly attributable
to growth in mobile revenues, driven above all by an increase in higher-margin service revenues. The sale of mobile terminal
equipment also made a positive contribution to revenue. Visitor revenues also had a modest positive effect. Service revenues
in the fixed-network business also developed encouragingly. The broadband business generated substantial growth rates, due
among other factors to a larger customer base and higher-value rate plans.

Adjusted EBITDA AL decreased as of December 31,2021 by 1.8 % year-on-year to EUR 487 million. In organic terms, i.e.,
excluding the transfer of the Austrian cell tower business to the Group Development operating segment, adjusted EBITDA AL
increased substantially by 9.7 % due to the positive revenue effect. A key contribution comes from the realization of synergies
and from the expansion of convergent product offerings.

EBIT

Our Europe operating segment recorded an increase in EBIT of EUR 536 million in the reporting year. In addition to an increase
in EBITDA of EUR 237 million, depreciation, amortization and impairment losses decreased by EUR 299 million, with
depreciation and amortization down year-on-year. This was mainly a result of the suspension of depreciation and amortization
in connection with Telekom Romania Communications due to the fact that it was held for sale until September 30, 2021. In
addition, depreciation and amortization was lower on account of the transfer of the Austrian cell tower business to the Group
Development operating segment. In the third quarter of the prior year, ad hoc impairment losses totaling EUR 160 million had
been recognized on non-current assets of the Romanian mobile business, which is to remain in the Group. This impairment
was triggered by the discontinuance of the previously existing MVNO agreements in connection with the sale of the Romanian
fixed-network business, which was still being planned at that time.

Cash capex

In the 2021 financial year, the Europe operating segment reported cash capex of EUR 1.9 billion, down 14.0 % year-on-year. This
decrease is due to a decline in cash outflows for the acquisition of spectrum licenses, primarily in Hungary and Greece. We
continue to invest in the provision of broadband and fiber-optic technology and in SG as part of our integrated network strategy.

Systems Solutions

Order entry
millions of €
Change
2021 2020 Change % 2019
Order entry 4174 4,564 (390) (8.5) 4,740
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Development of business

The 2021 financial year continued to be dominated by the focusing of our systems solutions business on growth and future
viability and the continuation of our transformation program. Under the transformation program, we continued to drive forward
the alignment of our organization, workflows, and capacities, and the fine-tuning of the strategy for our portfolio. Stand-alone
portfolio units assume responsibility not only for our growth areas (e.g., public cloud and security) but also for our traditional IT
business.

We have defined selected industries (automotive, healthcare, public sector, and public transport), for which we have increased
our offer of vertical solutions based on our expertise. In addition, we have agreed partnerships with leading cloud service
providers (e.g., Amazon, Google, Microsoft), so as to be able to offer our customers an even broader and more flexible range
of cloud solutions. Consistent with our efforts to implement the Group’s strategy pillar “Lead in business productivity,” we
transferred our loT (Internet of Things) portfolio unit to the Germany operating segment effective January 1, 2021.

Order entry in our Systems Solutions operating segment decreased year-on-year by 8.5 % in the 2021 financial year, putting it
below our expectations. This development was mainly due to a decline in both traditional IT infrastructure business and SAP
business, which was only partially offset by the strong upward trends in our growth areas. In addition, the prior-year figure
included two major deals signed with important existing customers in late 2020.

Development of operations

millions of €
Change

2021 2020 Change % 2019
Total revenue 4,019 4,159 (140) 3.4) 4,41
Of which: external revenue 3171 3,237 (66) (2.0) 3,418
Service revenue? 3,893 3,903 (10) (0.3) n.a.
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) (242) (534) 292 54.7 (336)
Special factors affecting EBIT (393) (582) 189 325 (332)
EBIT (adjusted for special factors) 151 48 103 n.a. 4
EBIT margin (adjusted for special factors) % 3.8 1.2 (X))
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (425) (720) 295 1.0 (452)
EBITDA 183 185 © a1 16
Special factors affecting EBITDA (213) (209) 4) (1.9) (304)
EBITDA (adjusted for special factors) 396 394 2 0.5 421
EBITDA AL 73 70 3 4.3 2
Special factors affecting EBITDA AL (213) (209) 4) (1.9 (304)
EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors) 286 279 7 2.5 307
EBITDA AL margin (adjusted for special factors) % 71 6.7 7.0
Cash capex (237) (235) ) 0.9) (324)

@ The definition of “service revenue” was not applied consistently Group-wide for the years prior to 2020.

Total revenue, service revenue

Total revenue in our Systems Solutions operating segment in the 2021 financial year amounted to EUR 4.0 billion, down 3.4 %
year-on-year. Service revenue remained more or less stable year-on-year. The decrease in total revenue was mainly driven
by the expected decline in traditional IT infrastructure business, due in part to deliberate business decisions such as the
reduction in end-user services. Inorganic effects, including the sale of a business operation, further contributed to the decrease
in revenue. By contrast, our growth areas grew significantly, especially public cloud (+19.2 %), digital solutions (+13.5 %), and
road charging (+13.4 %).

Adjusted EBITDA AL, EBITDA AL

In the 2021 financial year, adjusted EBITDA AL at our Systems Solutions operating segment increased by 2.5 % year-on-year to
EUR 286 million. Efficiency effects from our transformation program and effects from increased revenue in our growth areas
exceeded the decline in earnings in the traditional IT infrastructure business. EBITDA AL increased by EUR 3 million compared
with the prior year to EUR 73 million. Negative special factors were up EUR 4 million on the prior year at EUR 213 million,
mainly due to a loss on deconsolidation in connection with the sale of a business operation and a contrasting effect of lower
restructuring costs.
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Adjusted EBIT, EBIT

Adjusted EBIT in our Systems Solutions operating segment in the 2021 financial year improved by EUR 103 million year-on-year,
coming in at EUR 151 million, mainly as a result of declines in depreciation and amortization. EBIT increased by EUR 292 million
compared with the prior year to EUR -242 million. The expense arising from special factors decreased by EUR 189 million year-
on-year, to EUR 393 million. In the prior year, a non-cash impairment loss on non-current assets reduced EBIT by EUR 0.4 billion,
which resulted in a reduction in the depreciation and amortization base. In the reporting year, non-cash impairment losses
on non-current assets totaling EUR 0.2 billion were recorded as special factors. This was a consequence of several factors,
including the ad hoc impairment testing carried out in the Systems Solutions cash-generating unit in the prior year. In addition,
despite the marginal improvement in the business outlook, the increase in the cost of capital in the reporting year prompted
further impairment losses to be recognized on non-current assets at the end of 2021.

Cash capex
Cash capex in the Systems Solutions operating segment stood at EUR 237 million in the 2021 financial year, which was on a par

with the prior year. Going forward, we will continue to focus our investments on developing our growth business.

Group Development

Customer development
thousands
Change
Dec. 31,2021 Dec. 31,2020 Change % Dec. 31,2019
T-Mobile Netherlands Mobile customers 6,939 6,803 136 2.0 5,610
Fixed-network lines 739 682 57 8.4 619
Broadband customers 728 668 60 9.0 605

In the Netherlands, the number of mobile customers increased slightly. The number of fixed-network lines in the Netherlands
contributed to the positive development of operational business and profited from the reopening of the T-Mobile shops at the
end of April 2021 after the coronavirus-related lockdown, as well as from successful advertising.

Development of operations

millions of €
Change

2021 2020 Change % 2019
Total revenue 3,165 2,883 282 9.8 2,797
Of which: T-Mobile Netherlands 2,071 1,946 125 6.4 1,910
Of which: GD Towers® P 1,112 989 123 124 945
Service revenue® 1,621 1,468 153 10.4 n.a.
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) 1,084 562 522 929 615
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (706) (780) 74 9.5 (812)
EBITDA 1,790 1,343 447 33.3 1,427
Special factors affecting EBITDA 173 43) 216 n.a. 97
EBITDA (adjusted for special factors) 1,618 1,386 232 16.7 1,330
Of which: T-Mobile Netherlands 757 639 18 18.5 591
Of which: GD Towers® P 894 786 108 13.7 771
EBITDA AL 1,479 1,058 4 39.8 1130
Special factors affecting EBITDA AL 173 43) 216 n.a. 97
EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors) 1,307 1,101 206 18.7 1,033
Of which: T-Mobile Netherlands 668 554 14 20.6 502
Of which: GD Towers® ? 669 587 82 14.0 563
EBITDA AL margin (adjusted for special factors) % 1.3 38.2 369
Cash capex (572) (699) 127 18.2 (452)

The contributions of T-Mobile Netherlands and GD Towers are shown excluding consolidation effects at operating segment level.

2 As of January 1, 2021, the Austrian cell tower business was transferred from the Europe operating segment to the Group Development operating segment.
Prior-year comparatives were not adjusted.

b As of June 1, 2021, the Dutch cell tower business was sold to DIV and subsequently contributed into Cellnex Netherlands.

¢ The definition of “service revenue” was not applied consistently Group-wide for the years prior to 2020.
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Total revenue, service revenue

Total revenue in our Group Development operating segment increased in the 2021 financial year by 9.8 % year-on-year to
EUR 3.2 billion. In organic terms, i.e., adjusted for the sale of the Dutch cell tower business as of June 1, 2021, the transfer
of the Austrian cell tower business as of January 1,2021, as well as the acquisition of the Dutch MVNO and SIM provider
Simpel as of December 1, 2020, revenue increased by 4.6 %. This revenue increase resulted from the operational and structural
growth of our two business units T-Mobile Netherlands and GD Towers, which includes DFMG and the Austrian cell tower
business. In the Netherlands, mobile operations in particular contributed to this revenue growth on the back of higher out-of-
bundle revenues and higher terminal equipment sales. GD Towers also recorded an increase in revenue, driven by growth in
the number of cell sites at DFMG and the transfer of the Austrian cell tower business. Service revenue rose by 10.4 % year-on-
year to EUR 1.6 billion, primarily as a result of the operational growth of our T-Mobile Netherlands business unit, as well as the
acquisition of the Dutch MVNO and SIM provider Simpel.

Adjusted EBITDA AL, EBITDA AL

Adjusted EBITDA AL increased by 18.7 % year-on-year to EUR 1.3 billion. This growth was attributable to the aforementioned
positive revenue trend at T-Mobile Netherlands, the acquisition of Simpel, and efficient cost management at T-Mobile
Netherlands. The GD Towers business posted consistent growth on the back of rising volumes and was further strengthened
by the transfer of the Austrian cell tower business. An operational increase in adjusted EBITDA AL was also achieved through
revenue growth and cost transformation. In organic terms, adjusted EBITDA AL grew by 13.5 %. EBITDA AL was positively
influenced by net special factors of EUR 173 million, which mainly related to the gain on deconsolidation due to the sale of the
Dutch cell tower business. EBITDA AL increased by EUR 421 million compared with the prior-year period to EUR 1.5 billion.

EBIT

EBIT increased by EUR 522 million year-on-year to EUR 1.1 billion, mainly as a result of the development described under
EBITDA AL. Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses were down year-on-year, primarily due to lower depreciation
and amortization in connection with the fact that T-Mobile Netherlands has been held for sale since September 6, 2021, and,
accordingly, the related depreciation and amortization has been suspended.

Cash capex

Cash capex stood at EUR 572 million and thus below the prior-year level. The decrease is mainly due to the acquisition of mobile
spectrum licenses by T-Mobile Netherlands in 2020. We continue to focus our investments on the accelerated SG build-out and
the build-out of mobile infrastructure in Germany.

Group Headquarters & Group Services
Development of operations

millions of €
Change

2021 2020 Change % 2019
Total revenue 2,515 2,556 (CY) (1.6) 2,627
Service revenue?® 984 970 14 1.4 n.a.
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) (1,764) (1,655) (109) 6.6) (1,631)
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (1,463) (1,304) (159) (12.2) (1,143)
EBITDA (300) (350) 50 143 (488)
Special factors affecting EBITDA (182) (277) 95 34.3 (237)
EBITDA (adjusted for special factors) (118) (73) (45) (61.6) (251
EBITDA AL (622) (707) 85 120 (887)
Special factors affecting EBITDA AL (182) (277) 95 34.3 (237)
EBITDA AL (adjusted for special factors) (440) (429) ()] (2.6) (650)
Cash capex (1,007) (990) 17) 1.7) (1,010)

@ The definition of “service revenue” was not applied consistently Group-wide for the years prior to 2020.

Total revenue, service revenue

Total revenue in our Group Headquarters & Group Services segment decreased in 2021 by 1.6 % year-on-year, mainly as a result
of lower revenue from land and buildings due to the ongoing optimization of space. Higher intragroup service revenues at
Deutsche Telekom IT from the licensing of the ERP system had an offsetting effect.
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Adjusted EBITDA AL, EBITDA AL

Adjusted EBITDA AL at Group Headquarters & Group Services decreased by EUR 11 million year-on-year to EUR -440 million,
largely as a result of falling revenue from land and buildings, and lower income from real estate sales. Increased service
revenues at Deutsche Telekom IT from the licensing of the ERP system and from lower operating expenses at our Group
Services had a positive effect.

Overall, EBITDA AL was negatively impacted in the reporting year by special factors amounting to EUR 182 million, especially
for staff-related measures. This contrasts with special factors of EUR 277 million in the prior-year period, also in particular for
staff-related measures.

EBIT

The year-on-year decline in EBIT of EUR109 million to EUR -1.8 billion was largely a result of two contrasting effects: the
significant increase in depreciation and amortization on the one hand, and the positive development of EBITDA AL on the
other. The increase in depreciation, amortization and impairment losses is mainly attributable to the increased volume of
output in connection with the introduction of agile processes and shorter project runtimes at Deutsche Telekom IT. In addition,
depreciation, amortization and impairment losses increased due to higher capitalization in connection with the licensing of the
ERP system. By contrast, depreciation, amortization and impairment losses from land and buildings decreased as a result of our
continued optimization of the real estate portfolio. Impairment losses were also recognized by the Group Headquarters & Group
Services segment in the reporting year totaling EUR 21 million on software used by the Systems Solutions operating segment.
In the prior year, EUR 44 million had related to the Group Headquarters & Group Services segment in this connection.

Cash capex
Cash capex increased year-on-year by EUR 17 million. Increased investment at Group Headquarters contrasted with lower cash
capex for vehicles and lower investment in technology and innovation, mainly for development activities.

Development of business at Deutsche Telekom AG

Deutsche Telekom AG prepares its annual financial statements in accordance with the principles of German GAAP, as specified
in the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch — HGB) and the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz — AktG).

As the Headquarters of the Deutsche Telekom Group, we perform strategic and cross-segment management functions and
provide services for other Group companies. The profits and losses of our subsidiaries and Group financing measures have
a material effect on our financial position and results of operations. Total revenue in the United States operating segment
increased by 11.7 % year-on-year. This increase was mainly attributable to higher service and terminal equipment revenues.
In the Germany operating segment, total revenue was up 1.6 % against the prior year. This increase was primarily driven by
service revenues in the fixed network and mobile business. Total revenue rose by 0.4 % compared with the previous year
in the Europe operating segment. In organic terms, i.e., adjusted for the sale of the Romanian fixed-network business as of
September 30, 2021 and assuming constant exchange rates, revenue increased by 2.4 % against the prior-year level. Organic
growth was mainly driven by the strong performance of the mobile business. Total revenue in our Systems Solutions operating
segment was down 3.4 % year-on-year. This decrease was mainly driven by the expected decline in traditional IT infrastructure
business, due in part to deliberate business decisions such as the reduction in end-user services. By contrast, our growth areas
grew significantly, especially Public Cloud (+19.2 %), Digital Solutions (+13.5 %), and Road Charging (+13.4 %). Total revenue in
our Group Development operating segment increased by 9.8 % year-on-year. In organic terms, i.e., adjusted for the sale of the
Dutch cell tower business as of June 1, 2021, the transfer of the Austrian cell tower business as of January 1, 2021, as well as
the acquisition of the Dutch MVNO and SIM provider Simpel as of December 1, 2020, revenue increased by 4.6 %.

Deutsche Telekom AG reported income after taxes for the 2021 financial year of EUR 3.6 billion. Alongside the operating
business, the development of business in the reporting year was affected by a large number of other factors, including a capital
repayment based on fair values by T-Mobile Global Holding GmbH, Bonn, to T-Mobile Global Zwischenholding GmbH, Bonn.
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Results of operations of Deutsche Telekom AG

Statement of income of Deutsche Telekom AG under German GAAP (total cost method)

millions of €
Change

2021 2020 Change % 2019
Net revenue 2,538 2,740 (202) (7.4) 3,423
Other own capitalized costs 9 9 0 0.0 7
Total operating performance 2,547 2,749 (202) (2.3) 3,430
Other operating income 1177 4,725 (3,548) (754) 2,387
Goods and services purchased (481) 471) (10) (X)) (1,037)
Personnel costs (2,176) (2,291) 115 5.0 (2,326)
Depreciation, amortization and write-downs (288) M) 77) (36.5) (254)
Other operating expenses (2,485) (2,834) 349 12.3 (3,081)
Operating results (1,706) 1,667 (3,373) n.a. (881)
Net financial income (expense) 5,606 1,245 4,361 n.a. 3131
Income taxes (278) (380) 102 26.8 (484)
Income after income taxes 3,622 2,532 1,090 43.0 1,766
Other taxes (17) (17) 0 0.0 (A7)
Income after taxes 3,605 2,515 1,090 43.3 1,749

The negative operating results worsened by approximately EUR 3.4 billion year-on-year, due mainly to a year-on-year decrease
in other operating income of EUR 3.5 billion and a EUR 0.2 billion decline in net revenue. A decrease in other operating expenses
of EUR 0.3 billion in particular had an offsetting effect.

Lower intragroup cost transfers from hiring out employees and from renting and leasing out property were the main factors
contributing to the reduction in net revenue of EUR 0.2 billion.

Other operating income in the previous year had been positively impacted by several factors, including income of
EUR 1.5 billion in connection with a capital repayment based on fair values, the write-up on an equity investment of
EUR 0.9 billion, and the realization of hidden reserves in connection with a spin-off in the amount of EUR 0.8 billion. The
decrease of EUR 3.5 billion in the reporting year was also attributable to a EUR 0.2 billion decline in income from derivatives,
mainly in connection with U.S. dollar contracts, and to a EUR 0.1 billion decline in foreign currency translation gains on loans
denominated in foreign currencies.

The decrease of EUR 0.3 billion in other operating expenses compared with the previous year was mainly attributable to a
reduction of EUR 0.1 billion in foreign currency translation losses and a EUR 0.1 billion decline in expenses from derivatives,
in particular in connection with U.S. dollar contracts. Another contributory factor was the EUR 0.1 billion decrease in other
employee-related costs.

Net financial income increased by EUR 4.4 billion to EUR 5.6 billion, due primarily to an increase of EUR 2.5 billion in income
related to subsidiaries, associated, and related companies and a EUR 0.5 billion decrease in net interest expense. Furthermore,
net financial income in the previous year had been negatively impacted by a write-down in the amount of EUR 1.4 billion on
CTA Holding GmbH, Bonn.

Income related to subsidiaries, associated, and related companies was positively affected in the reporting year in particular
by profits transferred by Telekom Deutschland GmbH, Bonn, of EUR 4.3 billion (2020: EUR 3.6 billion), by T-Mobile Global
Zwischenholding GmbH, Bonn, of EUR 2.1 billion (2020: EUR 0.6 thousand), by GMG Generalmietgesellschaft mbH, Cologne,
of EUR 0.3 billion (2020: EUR 0.2 billion), and by DFMG Holding GmbH, Bonn, of EUR 0.1 billion (2020: EUR 0.2 billion). The
transfer of the losses from Deutsche Telekom IT GmbH, Bonn, of EUR 0.7 billion (2020: EUR 0.8 billion), from T-Systems
International GmbH, Frankfurt/Main, of EUR 0.2 billion (2020: EUR 0.7 billion), and from Telekom Innovation Pool GmbH, Bonn,
of EUR 0.1 billion (2020: EUR 6 million) had an offsetting effect.

Income related to subsidiaries, associated and related companies was impacted in particular by the operating business of the
consolidated subsidiaries. The figure for the reporting year also included the effect of a capital repayment based on fair values
by T-Mobile Global Holding GmbH, Bonn, to T-Mobile Global Zwischenholding GmbH, Bonn, in the amount of EUR 2.1 billion.

The decrease in net interest expense of EUR 0.5 billion compared with the prior year was primarily the result of higher income
from plan assets for pension obligations in the amount of EUR 0.2 billion and lower interest expense resulting from the decrease
in long-term loans from Group companies, accounting for EUR 0.1 billion. In addition, a EUR 0.1 billion decline in expenses from
interest added back to noncurrent other accruals had a positive effect on net interest expense.

Income after income taxes was particularly impacted by the aforementioned effects and increased by EUR 1.1 billion year-on-
year in 2021.
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Other tax expense of EUR17 million combined with the aforementioned factors resulted in income after taxes of
EUR 3,605 million in the 2021 financial year. Taking into account EUR 2,283 million in unappropriated net income carried
forward, unappropriated net income totaled EUR 5,888 million.

Financial position of Deutsche Telekom AG

Balance sheet of Deutsche Telekom AG under German GAAP

millions of €
Dec. 31,2021

Dec. 31,2021 % Dec. 31,2020 Change Dec. 31,2019
Assets
Intangible assets 301 0.3 216 85 217
Property, plant and equipment 2,337 2.0 2,388 51 2,313
Financial assets 106,615 91.2 101,41 5,204 111,020
Noncurrent assets 109,253 93.5 104,015 5,238 113,550
Receivables 5186 44 8,180 (2,994) 6,695
Other assets 1,556 13 964 592 1,313
Cash and cash equivalents 454 0.4 3,201 (2,747) 2,076
Current assets 7196 6.2 12,345 (5,149) 10,084
Prepaid expenses and deferred charges 455 04 437 18 463
Difference between plan assets and corresponding liabilities 0 0 9 9 13
Total assets 116,904 100.0 116,806 98 124,110
Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Capital stock and reserves 53,662 459 53,028 634 53,021
Unappropriated net income 5,888 5.0 5129 759 5,460
Shareholders’ equity 59,550 50.9 58,157 1,393 58,481
Accruals for pensions and similar obligations 3,898 3.3 3,960 (62) 3,780
Tax accruals 252 0.2 412 (160) M
Other accruals 3,034 2.6 2,591 443 2,602
Accruals 7,184 6.1 6,963 221 6,793
Debt 10,175 8.7 10,952 777) 10,928
Remaining liabilities 39,859 341 40,594 (735) 47,776
Liabilities 50,034 42.8 51,546 (1,512) 58,704
Deferred income 136 01 140 4) 132
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 116,904 100.0 116,806 98 124,110

In addition to shareholders’ equity, our financial position is mainly determined by noncurrent assets as well as by receivables
from and payables to Group companies. Loans recognized under financial assets as well as receivables from and payables to
affiliated companies primarily resulted from financing relationships between Deutsche Telekom AG and its subsidiaries.

The balance sheet total increased by EUR 0.1 billion year-on-year to EUR 116.9 billion.

The development of total assets was attributable in particular to the increase of EUR 5.2 billion in financial assets and the
increase of EUR 0.6 billion in other assets. By contrast, receivables decreased by EUR 3.0 billion and cash and cash equivalents
by EUR 2.7 billion.

Financial assets increased year-on-year by EUR 5.2 billion, due primarily to an intragroup restructuring of current receivables
from cash management from Telekom Deutschland GmbH, Bonn, in the amount of EUR 5.0 billion to noncurrent loans. Other
factors contributing to the increase were the acquisition of shares in T-Mobile US, Inc, Bellevue (EUR 0.6 billion), a capital
increase at Digital Infrastructure Vehicle Il SCSp SICAV-RAIF, Senningerberg, a fund company established in the reporting year
(EUR 0.3 billion), and an increase in loans to OTE Plc, London (EUR 0.2 billion). In particular a loan repayment by T-Mobile USA,
Inc., Bellevue, in the amount of EUR 0.8 billion had an offsetting effect.

The decrease in receivables of EUR 3.0 billion resulted primarily from EUR 1.8 billion lower receivables from cash management,
mainly due to an intragroup restructuring of current receivables from cash management from Telekom Deutschland GmbH,
Bonn, to noncurrent loan receivables. The capital repayment by T-Mobile Global Holding GmbH, Bonn, had an offsetting effect
on receivables from cash management. The decrease of EUR 1.1 billion in financial receivables from affiliated companies, mainly
from the repayment of short-term loans by Deutsche Telekom Europe B.V., Maastricht, further reduced receivables.

The increase of EUR 0.6 billion in other assets is primarily due to higher receivables from collateral. The change in receivables
from collateral is attributable to regular fluctuation in market values.
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The development of total shareholders’ equity and liabilities was mainly influenced by the increase of EUR 1.4 billion in
shareholders’ equity. By contrast, financial liabilities decreased by EUR 0.8 billion and other liabilities by EUR 0.7 billion.

The increase in shareholders’ equity of EUR 1.4 billion was primarily attributable to income after taxes of EUR 3.6 billion in the
2021 financial year as well as a capital increase of EUR 0.6 billion. The dividend payment of EUR 2.8 billion for the previous year
had an offsetting effect.

Financial liabilities decreased to EUR10.2 billion, down by EUR 0.8 billion compared to the prior year. The EUR 1.0 billion
decline in liabilities to banks accounted for a large share of this decrease. Bonds issued in the reporting year had an offsetting
effect of EUR 0.2 billion.

Remaining liabilities decreased by a total of EUR 0.7 billion year-on-year, due mainly to the decrease of EUR 3.7 billion in
financial liabilities to affiliated companies, particularly as a result of loan repayments of EUR 2.6 billion to Deutsche Telekom
International Finance B.V., Maastricht, and of EUR 1.2 billion to T-Mobile Austria Holding GmbH, Vienna. Furthermore, other
liabilities decreased by EUR 0.4 billion, EUR 0.3 billion of which were attributable to liabilities from early retirement
arrangements for civil servants. By contrast, current liabilities from cash management increased by EUR 3.3 billion as a result
of payments received by subsidiaries that were transferred to Deutsche Telekom AG in connection with the intragroup cash
management system.

Statement of cash flows of Deutsche Telekom AG under German GAAP
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millions of €

2021 2020 Change 2019
Income after taxes 3,605 2,515 1,090 1,749
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities 8,673 (1,808) 10,481 17,760
Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities (2,980) 11,587 (14,567) (14,536)
Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities (8,440) (8,654) 214 (1,828)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (2,747) 1,125 (3,872) 1,396
Cash and cash equivalents, at the beginning of the year 3,201 2,076 1,125 680
Cash and cash equivalents, at the end of the year 454 3,201 (2,747) 2,076

Net cash provided by/used for operating activities changed year-on-year by EUR 10.5 billion, resulting in net cash provided
by operating activities of EUR 8.7 billion. This was attributable to income after taxes of EUR 3.6 billion plus a EUR 51 billion
increase in net debt in connection with the intragroup cash management system. The increase compared with the previous
year is attributable in particular to the conversion of current receivables from cash management into long-term loans at
Telekom Deutschland GmbH, Bonn, which was completed in the reporting year. In addition, the year-on-year increase was
attributable in part to a repayment of liabilities from cash management in connection with a capital repayment by T-Mobile
Global Zwischenholding GmbH, Bonn, in the previous year.

Net cash used for/provided by investing activities changed year-on-year by EUR14.6 billion, resulting in net cash used for
investing activities of EUR 3.0 billion. This change was primarily attributable to cash outflows of EUR 5.2 billion in the reporting
period as a result of loans granted to subsidiaries, mainly due to intragroup debt restructuring measures at
Telekom Deutschland GmbH, Bonn. Corporate actions at subsidiaries resulted in further cash outflows in the amount of
EUR 0.4 billion. Repayments of loans by Deutsche Telekom Europe B.V., Maastricht, in the amount of EUR 1.0 billion, and by
T-Mobile USA, Inc., Bellevue, in the amount of EUR 0.8 billion in partcular had an offsetting effect. Net cash used for/provided
by investing activities also included interest received of EUR 0.8 billion. In the previous year, the Company’s investing activities
had been impacted by capital and loan repayments by subsidiaries totaling EUR 11.7 billion, in particular by T-Mobile USA, Inc.,
Bellevue, and T-Mobile Global Zwischenholding GmbH, Bonn, as well as by cash outflows to subsidiaries in connection with
loans granted and the acquisition of property totaling EUR 1.3 billion. The prior-year figure had also included interest received
of EUR 1.2 billion.

Net cash used for financing activities decreased only marginally by EUR 0.2 billion year-on-year to EUR 8.4 billion. Net cash
used for financing activities in the reporting year resulted primarily from net repayments of current financial liabilities of
EUR 4.5 billion, the payment of the dividend for the 2020 financial year of EUR 2.8 billion, and interest paid of EUR 1.3 billion.

In all, this resulted in a decrease in cash and cash equivalents of EUR 2,747 million in the reporting year.
Risk management in hedge accounting

We use derivatives to hedge interest rate and currency exposures; i.e., exclusively for hedging purposes, not for speculative
gains. In the process, we monitor the effectiveness of the hedges on a regular basis.
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Corporate responsibility and non-financial statement

[+ spe0 ] [ reLaTionsHiPs | Deutsche Telekom again contributed to the response to the coronavirus pandemic in 2021. In times of
physical distancing, we made it possible for people to stay in contact, to obtain information, and to work or learn from home.
Our multi-billion investments in the network infrastructure have paid off: our networks ran stably, even under high loads. We
also implemented a range of other measures to help mitigate the effects of the coronavirus crisis on society. For example, in
Europe we provided our customers, medical facilities, and care homes for the elderly with free internet connections and data
volume. We also provided school and university students with access to technical equipment that would support them during
distance learning. The Corona-Warn-App, which traces contacts between users of the app and which we developed jointly with
SAP, has become one of the most important tools for individual protection during the pandemic both in Germany and abroad,
with more than 34 million users. [ 7 0G5 | [ RELATIONSHIPS ]

We often do not realize just how much we rely on mobile network and internet access in our day-to-day lives until there is a
network outage. The catastrophic flooding in summer 2021 caused devastation in central Europe, including to our networks.
Our employees made exceptional efforts again in this trying situation: The mobile network was restored extremely quickly,
with a return to full coverage in the affected areas by the end of July 2021. We quickly came to the aid of those living in the
area, distributing some 5,000 cell phones, including SIM cards, power banks, and quick-start packages, and increasing the
data volume available to those affected. We are also working to rebuild the fixed network as quickly as possible. Over 96 %
of the 103,000 fixed-network lines damaged in the flood disaster in Rhineland-Palatinate and North Rhine-Westphalia were
fully operational again by the end of 2021. In particularly hard-hit regions, we are rebuilding telecommunications infrastructure
from scratch in close cooperation with the municipalities and other utility providers. This new infrastructure comprises an
FTTH network that connects some 40,000 homes and businesses directly to our network via optical fiber. To keep everyone
connected during the work to rebuild the network, our technicians arranged interim solutions. For example, in Eschweiler
and Stolberg, street cabinets were fitted with free Wi-Fi. We also supported our employees who live in the areas affected by
flooding, for example by providing paid leave from work and emergency financial aid. [_% 5069 | [&& STRUCTURE |

| For further information, please refer to the section “Employees.”

An international study by the World Weather Attribution initiative in cooperation with Germany’s National Meteorological
Service, the Deutscher Wetterdienst, indicates the strong likelihood that climate change played a role in the torrential rainfall.
To mitigate climate change, in 2021 we again stepped up our climate goals considerably: We want to achieve climate neutrality
for our direct and indirect emissions by 2025, and for all emissions throughout the value chain by 2040 at the latest.
Deutsche Telekom has been powered exclusively by electricity from renewable energy sources since 2021 — across the entire
Group. Direct procurement, guarantees of origin, and own energy production are included in this calculation. In the United
States, we achieved this by means, among other things, of power purchase agreements (PPAs) with two additional wind farms
that were commissioned during the reporting year. The importance of our climate goals to us is also demonstrated by our
performance management and incentive system using variable remuneration for members of the Board of Management of
Deutsche Telekom AG, introduced in 20271, [€» s0613] [ ENVIRONMENT ]

| For further information, please refer to the section “Management of the Group.”

We can do even more to protect our climate by helping our customers reduce their carbon footprint. In 2021, the positive CO5
effects facilitated for our customers in Germany were 380 % higher than our own CO, emissions (enablement factor of 4.8 to 1).
(@ 50613 [ FINANCE ] \WWe made major progress in other areas besides climate protection in the reporting year: All T-branded
devices launched in Germany since 2021 have come in sustainable packaging, for example recycled cardboard boxes. We will
expand this to the whole of Europe in 2022. [CO 06 12| [ % ENVIRONMENT |

Another key priority for us in 2021 was our commitment to digital participation. We continued our #TAKEPART - No Hate
Speech campaign in 2021, and also launched a new priority focus with Gaming — Where the Fun Ends. We are working with
the #equalesports initiative to foster greater diversity in esports and gaming, among other things, and we support increased
participation by women in professional and recreational esports. [ #5065 | [ RELATIONSHIPS |

Creating transparency

We have been transparently reporting on our corporate responsibility (CR) activities for more than 20 years: on our website, in
the We Care magazine, in our CR report, and in our Annual Report. Since the 2016 financial year, we have also explained how
our core business contributes to achieving the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), which have been set as part of the
2030 Agenda.

| For further information, please refer to the section “Sustainable Development Goals.”
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Since the 2017 reporting year, we have published a non-financial statement (NFS) as part of the management report pursuant
to the CSR Directive Implementation Act and in accordance with § 315c¢ in conjunction with § 289c to 289e HGB. In selecting
the content for the 2021 NFS, we took both the statutory requirements and the results of our materiality analysis into account.
(@ soe7 | [ ReLaTioNsHIPS | The concepts in this NFS are described on the basis of our long-standing CR reporting and in line with
the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) standards. In addition, as of the 2021 reporting year, we fulfill the obligatory reporting
requirements for environmentally sustainable economic activities in accordance with Regulation (EU) 2020/852 of the
European Parliament and of the Council of June 18,2020 on the establishment of a framework to facilitate sustainable
investment, and amending Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 (hereinafter EU taxonomy): In the section “Aspect 1: Environmental
concerns” we provide a breakdown of what percentage of our turnover and also of our capital expenditure and operating
expenditure for climate-related environmental objectives is taxonomy-eligible (where criteria already exist in our industry for
this). The requirements for transparency in corporate sustainability are constantly increasing. To meet these requirements, we
have followed the GRI standards for the concepts and the materiality analysis in this NFS, and our CR reporting additionally
reflects other voluntary frameworks such as those of the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB) and the Task Force
for Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD).

| Detailed information on this will be published in our 2021 CR report.

The Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG is responsible for the review of the content of the NFS. In the reporting year, it
did this with the support of PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft (external auditor) in the form of a
limited assurance engagement. The two non-financial performance indicators “energy consumption” and “CO, emissions” are
included as management-related performance indicators in the reasonable assurance engagement on Deutsche Telekom’s
consolidated financial statements and the combined management report. The NFS engagement was based on the International
Standard on Assurance Engagements ISAE 3000 (revised). Unless otherwise stated, all disclosures in this NFS apply in equal
measure to the Group and the parent company (combined non-financial statement). To avoid repetition within the management
report, we refer to further information provided in other sections wherever relevant. References to disclosures not contained in
the combined management report are provided as background information; these disclosures are not part of the NFS and thus
are not covered by the engagement.

Our annual CR report supplements this NFS, meeting in full the requirements from a range of different stakeholders for
substantiated accountability. CR experts will find everything in the report that they need to analyze Deutsche Telekom’s
sustainability performance. At the same time, the report aims to engage stakeholders in our sustainability topics. We therefore
expanded the CR report in the reporting year to include interactive sustainability stories, serving the growing interest among
the general public in sustainability issues. Some of the stories are also available in simplified German. (& 50677 ] [ RELATIONSHIPS |

We were ranked best in class for sustainability communication in the NetFederation’s CSR Benchmark in the reporting year.
We also achieved first place in the ESG Reporting Awards 2021 in the category Best Sustainability Reporting: Technology &
Telecoms. Our 2020 CR report received gold both at the German Online Communications Award in the CSR & Annual Report
category, and at the 2021 PR Report Award in the category Sustainability and CSR.

Explanation of the business model

We are one of the leading telecommunications companies worldwide. We offer our consumers fixed-network/broadband,
mobile, internet, and internet-based TV products and services, as well as ICT solutions for our business and corporate
customers.

| For further information on our business model, please refer to the sections “Group organization” and “Group strategy.”

Strategic and organizational approach to sustainability

We see ourselves as a responsible company and have made that a core element of our Group strategy. We are committed to
implementing sustainability along our entire value chain — and to playing an important role in meeting today’s environmental,
economic, and social challenges. We are expressly committed to the principles of the United Nations Global Compact, the
German Sustainability Code, and the Code of Responsible Conduct for Business. Furthermore, we support the Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs) of the United Nations (UN), in particular contributing to the following goals: 3. Good health
and well-being, 4. Quality education, 5. Gender equality, 8. Decent work and economic growth, 9. Industry, innovation and
infrastructure, 11. Sustainable cities and communities, 12. Responsible consumption and production, 13. Climate action, and
16. Peace, justice and strong institutions.
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The defining priorities of our CR strategy remain the same. However, our experience has shown that the three action areas of our
CR strategy: “Connected life and work — enabling a sustainable lifestyle in a digital world,” “Connecting the unconnected,” and
“Low-carbon and circular society” overlap in places. “Enabling a sustainable lifestyle in a digital world” in particular cannot be
considered in isolation from the other two action areas. In addition, the issue of corporate digital responsibility has grown more
important in recent years. We have therefore adjusted and expanded the wording of our action areas: “Climate protection &
resource efficiency,” “Digital responsibility,” and “Digital participation.” Underpinned by clear governance, all three action areas
help enable sustainable digitalization. The other key areas of our sustainability management remain unchanged: data security
and data privacy, human rights and sustainable supply chains, sustainable finance, social commitment, and being a responsible
employer. In addition, the principle of responsible corporate governance remains an important component of our sustainability
activities.

During the reporting year, we brought many of our CR topics together under the headings #GreenMagenta and
#GoodMagenta. Our aim is to position our commitment to sustainability more strongly in our communication with stakeholder
groups such as employees and customers. We also use these two categories to label those of our products and initiatives
that bring sustainability benefits. #GreenMagenta encompasses Deutsche Telekom products, services, projects, actions, and
initiatives that make a positive contribution to climate protection and the more responsible use of resources. #GoodMagenta
describes projects, actions, and initiatives that make a positive contribution to overcoming social challenges in the digital
world. These labels help us increase the transparency of our CR communication. We also aim to increase transparency for CR
experts by bringing our CR strategy in line with the ESG perspectives.

Our Board of Management bears overall responsibility for our CR goals, discussing and making decisions on key CR-related
issues. The Group Corporate Responsibility (GCR) unit develops Group-wide policies and guidelines. Its aim is to further develop
our corporate culture, particularly in terms of sustainable innovation and social responsibility. The increasing importance of
sustainability for Deutsche Telekom led to the decision to transfer the GCR unit from the Human Resources and Legal Affairs
Board of Management department to the department of the Chairman of the Board of Management as of January 1, 2022. By
taking this decision, the Supervisory Board and the Board of Management are emphasizing how seriously we take our social
and environmental responsibility. The CR managers from the different business units and national companies are responsible
for implementing our CR strategy and work together in the international CR Manager Network. GCR is also advised by the CR
Board, which is composed of the heads of the Group’s key areas.

Our values and basic principles are anchored in our Guiding Principles, the Code of Conduct, the Code of Human Rights &
Social Principles, and other subject-specific policies. The cornerstones of our sustainability management activities are formally
set out in our CR Policy, which is binding for all Group units. As part of our CR controlling activities, we record environmental,
social, and governance (ESG) data and performance indicators. We use this data primarily to calculate our Group-wide ESG KPIs
(key performance indicators), which we use to measure and manage our CR performance. Alongside the ESG KPlIs, we also
report other metrics and quantitative disclosures with the aim of meeting all internal and external transparency requirements.
In some cases, the KPIs and other metrics can also be linked to the SDGs to show the progress we are making in the SDG focus
areas. CR controlling was included in Deutsche Telekom’s internal control system (ICS) as a strategically relevant process in the
reporting year for the first time. With this in mind, specific ICS principles for CR controlling have already been drawn up and
approved by those business units subject to reporting requirements. The ICS principles apply to all indicators that are currently
systematically recorded locally and consolidated at Group level. Their aim is to ensure that the process delivers high-quality
data, on time and transparently.

Growing numbers of investors take sustainability aspects into account in their investment decisions (Socially Responsible
Investments, SRI). SRI investment products consist of securities from companies that have been reviewed based on
environmental, social, and governance (ESG) criteria. The development of demand from socially responsible investors for the
T-Share is an indicator we can use to assess our sustainability performance. The Socially Responsible Investment ESG KPI
indicates the percentage of Deutsche Telekom AG shares held by such investors. Our commitment to greater sustainability is
paying off: As of September 30, 2021, around 12 % of all T-Shares were held by investors who show at least a partial concern
for environmental, social, and governance criteria, and 10 % were held by investors who manage their funds primarily in
accordance with aspects of socially responsible investment (SRI). [aisbGs ] [ EIFNANCE ]

Deutsche Telekom. The 2021 financial year.
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Listing of the T-Share in sustainability indexes/ratings

Rating agency Indexes/ratings/ranking 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
S&P CSA DJSI World v v v v v
DJSI Europe v v v v v
S&P ESG Index Series v v v - -
CDP STOXX Global Climate Change Leaders v v v v v
Supplier Engagement A-List v v v v x
MSCI ESG Universal Indexes v v v v v
1SS-oekom “Prime” (Sector Leader) v v v v v
Bloomberg Gender Equality Index v v v v x
Sustainalytics STOXX Global ESG Leaders? v v v v v
UN Global Compact 100 v v v v v
FTSE Financial Times Stock Exchange FTSE4Good v v v v v
V.E. Euronext V.E. indexes v v v 3 x
v Listed successfully % Not listed —Index did not exist in the relevant year

2 Listed in other indexes in the relevant universe.

We are making our contributions towards solving social challenges measurable. To this end, we have developed a process and
methodology to evaluate the external impact of selected products, solutions, and measures. This helps us to keep our key
sustainability activities results-oriented and to make our contribution to achieving the SDGs visible. [aisdcs ] [_EIFNANCE ]

| Detailed information on this will be published in our 2021 CR report.

Process for determining significant topics

We use a comprehensive materiality process to determine the topics that are relevant both for the direction of our sustainability
strategy and for our reporting. To this end, we perform an annual document analysis in order to analyze aspects such as existing
legislation and the expectations of our stakeholders, for example, the capital markets. In the reporting year, we focused in
particular on the risks and opportunities associated with sustainability. To validate the results, we held a workshop with internal
experts to look closely at the risk outcomes. No major topics emerged from the 2021 materiality analysis that needed to be
added to those of the previous year. Consequently, there is no need to include further matters in the NFS for 2021.

| Detailed information on our approach will be published in our 2021 CR report.

As part of our comprehensive risk and opportunity management system, we determine existing and potential risks and
opportunities arising from environmental, economic, or social aspects, and from how our Company is managed. Topics such as
climate protection, suppliers, and reputation involve potential risks, which we have outlined in the section “Risk and opportunity
management.” We maintain this practice to provide the transparency our stakeholders expect, even if the risk assessment
has found that these topics have a “low” risk significance and therefore do not need to be rated as “very likely severe” in the
meaning of the CSR Directive Implementation Act. The present NFS focuses on these risks and opportunities in relation to the
relevant aspects.

For further information, please refer to the section “Risk and opportunity management.”

Aspect 1: Environmental concerns

We are committed not only to minimizing the impact our business activities may have on the climate, but also to tapping
into the opportunities for sustainable development offered by digitalization. When used properly, it can also make a valuable
contribution to saving energy and thus slowing down climate 